

Fakultät für Mathematik

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematik (Dr. math.)

A combinatorial classification of thick subcategories of derived and stable categories

Claudia Köhler

Oktober 2011

Gedruckt auf alterungsbeständigem Papier nach ISO 9706.

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Henning Krause
Gutachter: PD Dr. Dirk Kussin
Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 19. Dezember 2011

Abstract. In this thesis, we investigate thick subcategories for stable categories of certain Frobenius categories and for derived categories of hereditary abelian categories. Both types of categories arise in the representation theory of finite-dimensional algebras. There is a close relation between such stable categories and the derived categories of hereditary abelian categories. We show that this relation is well-behaved concerning thick subcategories.

Then, we give a classification of the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ where A is a finite-dimensional hereditary algebra of finite or tame representation type.

This enables us to classify the thick subcategories of algebraic triangulated categories with finitely many indecomposable objects and the thick subcategories of the stable module categories of an important class of selfinjective algebras of tame representation type.

The classification is of a combinatorial nature and we emphasise combinatorial aspects such as counting and the lattice structure.

**Zusammenfassung.** In dieser Doktorarbeit untersuchen wir die dicken Unterkategorien für stabile Kategorien von gewissen Frobenius Kategorien und für derivierte Kategorien von erblichen abelschen Kategorien. Beide Arten von Kategorien kommen in der Darstellungstheorie von endlich-dimensionalen Algebren vor. Es gibt einen engen Zusammenhang zwischen solchen stabilen Kategorien und den derivierten Kategorien von erblichen abelschen Kategorien. Wir zeigen, dass diese Beziehung verträglich ist mit den dicken Unterkategorien.

Dann klassifizieren wir die dicken Unterkategorien von  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ , wobei A eine endlich-dimensionale erbliche Algebra vom endlichen oder vom zahmen Darstellungstyp ist.

Dies versetzt uns in die Lage, die dicken Unterkategorien von algebraischen triangulierten Kategorien mit endlich vielen unzerlegbaren Objekten zu klassifizieren. Ebenso klassifizieren wir die dicken Unterkategorien einer wichtigen Klasse von selbst-injektiven Algebren vom zahmen Darstellungstyp.

Die Klassifikation ist kombinatorischer Natur und wir legen besonderen Wert auf kombinatorische Aspekte wie Zählen und die Verbandsstruktur. Acknowledgements. First and foremost I wish to express my thanks to my supervisor, Professor Henning Krause. I thank him for his support, for helpful discussions and for coming up with the interesting topic of this thesis.

I have created important parts of the thesis during my research stay in Paris with Professor Bernhard Keller in spring 2010. I sincerely thank him for giving me this opportunity, and for his very profitable assistance during this time.

I would also like to thank the members and the visitors of the Paderborn Representation Theory Group and the Bielefeld Representation Theory Group for helpful discussions. I am particularly grateful to Professor Hideto Asashiba, Estanislao Herscovich, Dirk Kussin, Adam-Christiaan van Roosmalen, Greg Stevenson, Jan Stovicek and Dieter Vossieck. Moreover, I thank Philipp Lampe and Greg Stevenson for proofreading parts of the thesis.

I would like to thank Martin Rubey for helpful references.

Finally, I am indebted to the IRTG 'Geometry and Analysis of Symmetries' in Paderborn for the financial support in form of a scholarship. I am also grateful to the CRC 701 'Spectral Structures and Topological Methods in Mathematics' in Bielefeld for the financial support during the final period of my PhD studies.

# Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	5
1. The main results	5
2. Outline	8
3. Basic assumptions and conventions	9
Chapter 2. Preliminaries	11
1. Additive and abelian categories	11
2. Triangulated categories	12
3. Auslander-Reiten theory	15
4. Derived categories	18
Chapter 3. Orbit categories	23
Chapter 4. Hereditary algebras	29
1. Diagrams, dimension vectors and quadratic forms	29
2. The Weyl group and roots	32
3. Preprojective, regular and preinjective modules	34
4. Representations of valued graphs and quivers	36
Chapter 5. Noncrossing partitions	39
1. The $A_n$ -type	40
2. The $D_n$ -type	42
3. The $B_n$ -type	43
4. The lattice structure and the Kreweras complement	44
5. Counting noncrossing partitions and the cyclic sieving	
phenomenon	45
Chapter 6. Thick subcategories for tame hereditary algebras	49
1. Thick subcategories and noncrossing partitions	50
2. Thick subcategories of the regular part	52
3. Thick subcategories of $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$	56
Chapter 7. Finite algebraic triangulated categories	61
Chapter 8. Self-injective algebras	65
1. Group algebras	66
2. Finite representation type	67
3. Repetitive algebras and covering theory	68
Chapter 9. Thick subcategories of finite algebraic triangulated	
categories	73
1. The classification	73
2. The $A_n$ -case	76

# CONTENTS

3.	The $D_n$ -case	77
4.	The number of thick subcategories	80
5.	Overview	85
6.	The cyclic sieving phenomenon for thick subcategories	87
7.	The lattice structure	87
Chap	ter 10. Thick subcategories for orbit algebras of repetitive	
	algebras	89
1.	The classification	89
2.	Thick subcategories for trivial extension algebras of tame	
	hereditary algebras	91
3.	Thick subcategories for $k\langle X,Y\rangle/(X^2,Y^2,XY-qYX)$	93
Chap	ter 11. Other classification methods - history and comparison	97
Chap	ter 12. Hom-Vanishing	101
Chap	ter 13. Cluster categories, thick subcategories and noncrossing	
	partitions	103
1.	Cluster tilting objects and noncrossing partitions	103
2.	Thick subcategories of the cluster category	104
Biblic	graphy	107

4

# CHAPTER 1

# Introduction

A full subcategory S of a triangulated category T is called *thick* if it is a triangulated subcategory of T which is in addition closed under taking direct summands.

The study of thick subcategories is a way to extract a mathematical structure from the triangulated category. More precisely, the set of all thick subcategories of a triangulated category forms a lattice. This yields an invariant of the category which can help to understand the category itself.

The structure can be used to gain information about the objects of the ambient triangulated category. For example one can make a statement about the vanishing of morphisms between two given objects of the category. (We will present this as an application of our classification at the end of this thesis.)

The classification problem was approached in various mathematical fields as in stable homotopy theory, in commutative algebra and in the representation theory of finite groups. The first work was done by Hopkins and Smith concerning the *p*-local finite stable homotopy category [48]. Hopkins [47] and Neeman [66] studied the concept for the category of perfect complexes  $\mathcal{D}^{\text{per}}(R)$  of a noetherian ring R. They showed that the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^{\text{per}}(R)$  correspond to specialisation closed subsets of the prime ideal spectrum of R. Benson, Carlson and Rickard [14] classified the thick subcategories of the stable module category of the group algebra kGfor a *p*-group G in terms of closed subvarietes of the maximal ideal spectrum of the group cohomology ring.

The existing classifications which have been mentioned all depend on some tensor structure. In this thesis, we consider triangulated categories where such additional structure is not available. Thus, we need to develop techniques which are completely different from the existing ones. An alternative approach towards triangulated categories without tensor structure can be found in the recent thesis of Stevenson (see [82] and [83]); he exploits the external action of another tensor triangulated category.

#### 1. The main results

The triangulated categories of our interest are the stable categories of certain Frobenius categories and the derived categories of abelian hereditary categories. Both types of categories arise in the representation theory of finite-dimensional algebras. Actually, these two kinds of triangulated categories and their thick subcategories are strongly related.

Namely, we consider algebraic triangulated categories, that is, triangulated k-categories  $\mathcal{T}$  which are triangle equivalent to the stable category of

a Frobenius category. If  $\mathcal{T}$  has only finitely many indecomposable objects and if it is connected and standard and if the field k is algebraically closed, then by a Theorem of Amiot [1],  $\mathcal{T}$  is triangle equivalent to an orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle\Phi\rangle$  where  $\vec{\Delta}$  is a quiver of Dynkin type and  $\Phi$  is an admissible automorphism on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ . An example of such a category is the stable module category  $\operatorname{mod}(\Lambda)$  of a self-injective algebra  $\Lambda$  of finite representation type.

If the self-injective algebra  $\Lambda$  is not of finite, but of tame representation type, then there is no comparable classification for  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda)$  so far. But important examples for these algebras are algebras which are isomorphic to orbit algebras  $\hat{A}/G$  where A is a tame hereditary algebra and G is an admissible group of automorphisms on  $\hat{A}$ . The stable module category of  $\hat{A}$ in turn is triangle equivalent to  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$ . This is due to Happel [46].

Hence, in both cases the stable category is related to the derived category of the module category of a hereditary algebra. Thus, the first step in the classification is a comparison of the thick subcategories of the stable category to those of the derived category.

We can formulate this comparison in a more general setting (not only for finite or tame representation type). Namely, we consider orbit categories  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))/\langle\Phi\rangle$  where A is any hereditary algebra and  $\Phi$  is an automorphism on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$ . Now for an arbitrary automorphism  $\Phi$  it is not clear whether the orbit category is triangulated. Keller proves in [56] that it is triangulated making certain assumptions on  $\Phi$  and we formulate our theorem in this setting.

THEOREM 1.1. Let A be a hereditary k-algebra. Let  $\Phi: \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A)) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  be an automorphism such that  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\langle \Phi \rangle$  is triangulated. Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\langle\Phi\rangle$ , and
- the set of thick  $\langle \Phi \rangle$ -invariant subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$ .

For self-injective algebras of the form  $\hat{A}/G$  which are not necessarily triangle equivalent to such an orbit category, this comparison comes along as follows. We need to assume here that the associated push-down functor  $F_{\lambda} \colon \operatorname{mod}(\hat{A}) \to \operatorname{mod}(\hat{A}/G)$  is dense and that the automorphism group G'on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  induced by G (via the equivalence  $\operatorname{mod}(\hat{A}) \cong \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ ) fulfils the assumptions (of Keller's Theorem) such that the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/G'$  is triangulated.

THEOREM 1.2. Let A be a hereditary algebra and let G be a cyclic admissible group of automorphisms on its repetitive category  $\hat{A}$ . Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$ , and
- the set of G'-invariant thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

Being aware of this, the next step in the classification of thick subcategories of a stable category is a classification of the thick subcategories of the derived category of a hereditary algebra. Also this is an interesting task on its own, of course. There is already a classification of the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  which are generated by an exceptional sequence. We call this set  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$ . This classification is due to Ingalls and Thomas [53] if A is the path algebra of a quiver of Dynkin or extended Dynkin type and it is generalised by Igusa, Schiffler and Thomas [52] to arbitrary path algebras over an algebraically closed field. The statement also holds without the assumption that the field is algebraically closed (see Krause [59]). The classification of  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$  is in terms of the poset of noncrossing partitions  $\operatorname{NC}(W, c)$  of the Weyl group W associated to A with  $c \in W$  being the Coxeter transformation.

As soon as A is not of finite representation type, there are thick subcategories which are not generated by an exceptional sequence. We complete the classification in case that A is a hereditary k-algebra of tame representation type and k is an arbitrary field. Parts of this are based on Dichev's classification [**34**] for tame path algebras over algebraically closed fields.

For a tame hereditary algebra it is known (see for instance [75]) that the subcategory of regular modules decomposes into uniserial categories  $\coprod_{j\in J} \mathcal{H}_j \times \coprod_{i=1}^s \mathcal{U}_{n_i}$  of which at most three factors  $\mathcal{U}_{n_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{U}_{n_s}$  are of rank > 1. The classification depends on this decomposition. Namely, we introduce the set of noncrossing arcs NA(n) on a circle with n points. Fixing the above notation for the decomposition of the regular part we get the following classification.

THEOREM 1.3. Let A be a tame hereditary k-algebra. The set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\text{mod}(A))$  is given by the union of sets

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A) \cup \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$$

where  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$  corresponds bijectively to  $\operatorname{NC}(W, c)$ ,  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$  corresponds bijectively to a set of tuples

$$\{(p, x_1, \dots, x_s) \mid p \in 2^J, x_i \in NA(n_i)\}.$$

Moreover, the intersection of  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$  and  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$  equals the set of such tuples with an additional assumption on the elements of  $\operatorname{NA}(n)$ .

Now we can combine the Theorems 1.1 or 1.2 with the last Theorem 1.3 in order to get a classification for thick subcategories of algebraic triangulated categories. First to the algebraic triangulated categories  $\mathcal{T}$  with finitely many indecomposable objects. As said these are always of the form  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle\Phi\rangle$ . From this we define the type of  $\mathcal{T}$  to be  $(\Delta, r, t)$  where r and t depend on  $\Phi$ . Moreover, there is a list of all possible automorphisms  $\Phi$  due to Xiao and Zhu [85].

THEOREM 1.4. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a triangulated category with finitely many indecomposable objects which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(\Delta, r, t)$ excluding the cases  $(D_n, r, 2)$  for n even and  $(D_4, r, 3)$ . Put  $s = \gcd(p, h_{\Delta})$ where p is a natural number depending on the type of  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $h_{\Delta}$  is the Coxeter number of  $\Delta$ . Let  $W_{\Delta}$  be the associated Weyl group and let  $c \in W_{\Delta}$ be the Coxeter transformation. Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

• the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ , and

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

 the set (NC(W<sub>Δ</sub>, c))<sup>c<sup>s</sup></sup> of noncrossing partitions which are invariant under s-fold conjugation by c.

We have to exclude the two mentioned types in this theorem since in these cases it is not possible to transfer the action of  $\Phi$  to the noncrossing partitions. Therefore, we classify the thick subcategories for the type  $(D_4, r, 3)$  by hand. The missing type  $(D_n, r, 2)$  for an even n is covered by an alternative formulation of the above theorem for Dynkin types A und D. Namely, for these types there is an alternative description of NC $(W_{\Delta}, c)$ motivated by the the poset of intersection subspaces of the hyperplanes of the root system of W. For  $\Delta = A_n$  this is the original poset of noncrossing partitions invented by Kreweras [**61**]. Altogether, this gives a complete classification of thick subcategories for these algebraic triangulated categories of finite type.

An important class of self-injective algebras of tame representation type are the *r*-fold trivial extension algebras  $(r \in \mathbb{N})$  of tame hereditary algebras A, i.e. orbit algebras of the form  $\hat{A}/\langle \nu_{\hat{A}}^r \rangle$  where  $\nu_{\hat{A}}$  is the Nakayama automorphism. In this case it is possible to combine Theorem 1.2 with Theorem 1.3 to get the following classification. Again we fix the notation for the decomposition of the regular part of  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$  described above.

THEOREM 1.5. Let A be a tame hereditary algebra. The set of thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/\langle \nu_{\hat{A}}^r \rangle)$  corresponds bijectively to

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}} \cup \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}}.$$

Here  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}}$  corresponds bijectively to

$$NC(W,c))^{c^r} = \{ w \in NC(W,c) \mid c^r w c^{-r} = w \}$$

and  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}}$  corresponds bijectively to

$$\{(p, x_1, \dots, x_s) \mid p \in 2^J, x_i \in (\mathrm{NA}(n_i))^r\}$$

where  $(NA(n_i))^r$  denotes the set of noncrossing arcs on a circle which are invariant under rotation by  $r\frac{2\pi}{n_i}$  of the circle.

Again we also describe the intersection of the two sets.

In general, the whole machinery is applicable to a variety of triangulated categories. Explicitly, we also execute it for  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$  where  $\Lambda_q$  is the tame self-injective algebra  $k\langle X, Y \rangle / (X^2, Y^2, XY - qYX)$  for  $q \in k^*$ , and for the cluster category  $\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Lambda}}$  where  $\Delta$  is of Dynkin or extended Dynkin type.

In all the cases we emphasise combinatorial aspects and questions such as the poset or the lattice structure and the number of thick subcategories.

#### 2. Outline

The thesis is organised as follows. In Chapter 2 we present the category theoretical background of the thesis. We introduce the different notions of categories and relate them to each other. After this we are able to introduce orbit categories and we do this in Chapter 3. This chapter is also already concerned with the thick subcategories of orbit categories in general, that is, Theorem 1.1 is discussed here. In the sequel the general structure is the following. First we present and discuss the necessary background on the relevant categories and then we classify the thick subcategories of those categories.

According to this, Chapter 4 is about hereditary algebras A and their module categories mod(A), Chapter 5 introduces noncrossing partitions (which are needed for the upcoming classification and related to hereditary algebras via roots and Weyl groups) and finally, in Chapter 6 we present the classification of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ .

Analogously, we proceed concerning algebraic triangulated categories. In the Chapters 7 and 8 we present everything which is relevant for these categories, and the Chapters 9 and 10 contain the classification of their thick subcategories.

The final three chapters are devoted to related topics which are interesting in the whole context.

In Chapter 11 we briefly present other classification approaches for thick subcategories (as mentioned in the very beginning of this chapter) and compare them to the approach of this thesis.

Chapter 12 is called Hom-Vanishing and contains an application (already mentioned above) of our classification. Namely, we show how the classification provides information about the question whether or not there are non-zero morphism between two objects of the triangulated category.

At last, in Chapter 13 we give the classification of the thick subcategories for the cluster category.

#### 3. Basic assumptions and conventions

Throughout, k denotes a field. We say explicitly if we need k to be algebraically closed.

Every category in this thesis is k-linear, small, i.e. its objects form a set, and Hom-finite which means that the morphism spaces are finitedimensional.

Moreover, all considered categories are supposed to be idempotent complete, i.e. each idempotent in the category splits. In particular, this implies that the categories are Krull-Remak-Schmidt.

Concerning (valued) diagrams we make the following convention. If  $\Delta$  is an oriented (valued) diagram, we denote by  $\Delta$  its underlying diagram. If the respective object does not depend on the orientation, we will just write  $\Delta$ .

## CHAPTER 2

# **Preliminaries**

Throughout this thesis, the subject of study will always be some category and in particular its subcategories. There will appear different concepts and kinds of categories and this chapter intends to distinguish and connect the several notions.

## 1. Additive and abelian categories

In principle all our categories  $\mathcal{A}$  are *additive*, i.e. every finite family of objects has a product, each set of morphisms  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(A, B)$  is an abelian group and the composition of morphisms is bilinear.

DEFINITION 2.1. An additive category  $\mathcal{A}$  is said to be *abelian* if every morphism has a kernel and a cokernel and if every monomorphism is the kernel and every epimorphism is the cokernel of some morphism.

As said in the introduction, all considered categories are idempotent complete and hence Krull-Remak-Schmidt.

DEFINITION 2.2. An additive category is called *Krull-Remak-Schmidt* category if every object decomposes into a finite direct sum of objects having local endomorphism ring.

This property is very important, in particular for the classification of subcategories. It turns out that for the sort of subcategories we are considering, it suffices then to name the indecomposable objects of the subcategory. Actually, a decomposition into indecomposable direct summands is unique.

THEOREM 2.3 (Krull-Remak-Schmidt). Let  $X = X_1^{a_1} \oplus \ldots \oplus X_r^{a_r}$  be a decomposition of an object in a Krull-Remak-Schmidt category such that the  $X_i$  are pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable objects with  $a_i \ge 1$ . If  $X = Y_1^{b_1} \oplus \ldots \oplus Y_s^{b_s}$  is another decomposition of this form, then r = s and, up to reordering,  $X_i \cong Y_i$  and  $a_i = b_i$ .  $\Box$ 

Moreover, all appearing abelian categories  $\mathcal{A}$  will be *finite length categories*, i.e. each object X in  $\mathcal{A}$  has a finite *composition series* 

$$0 = X_0 \subseteq X_1 \subseteq \ldots \subseteq X_{n-1} \subseteq X_n = X$$

with composition factors  $X_i/X_{i-1}$  being simple objects. Actually, for an abelian category the finite length property implies that the category is Krull-Remak-Schmidt. Also, for a finite length object, being indecomposable and having a local endomorphism ring are equivalent.

The property of a category being abelian yields an additional structure on it given by *exact sequences* which are sequences of objects in the category and morphisms between them such that the image of one morphism equals the kernel of the following morphism. In particular, there are the *short exact* sequences

$$0 \to A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \to 0$$

where f is a monomorphism, g is an epimorphism and Im(f) = Ker(g). That is, A is essentially a subobject of B and C is isomorphic to the corresponding quotient. Also, short exact sequences define *extensions* of objects in the abelian category. Moreover, these short exact sequences make abelian categories into *exact categories* in the sense of Quillen [67]. An *exact category* is an additive category together with a class of sequences  $A \to B \to C$ fulfilling certain axioms.

DEFINITION 2.4. A full subcategory  $\mathcal{W}$  of an abelian category  $\mathcal{A}$  is called a *wide subcategory* (after Hovey [49]) if it is abelian and closed under extensions. For a full subcategory  $\mathcal{W}$  being *abelian* means that if there is a morphism  $f: A \to B$  in  $\mathcal{W}$ , then  $\operatorname{Ker}(f), \operatorname{Coker}(f) \in \mathcal{W}$ .

This definition of a wide subcategory makes sure that the category itself is an abelian category whereas the kernel and the cokernel are the same as in the ambient abelian category.

Note that a wide subcategory is automatically closed under direct summands. Moreover, for a wide subcategory the so-called 2-*out-of-3-property* holds, that is whenever two objects of a short exact sequence are contained in  $\mathcal{W}$ , then so is the third. For arbitrary abelian categories it is not true that the 2-out-of-3-property implies wideness. But it is true if we assume the following property.

DEFINITION 2.5. An abelian category  $\mathcal{H}$  is called *hereditary* if

 $\operatorname{Ext}^n_{\mathcal{H}}(A,B) = 0$ 

for all  $n \geq 2$  and all  $A, B \in \mathcal{H}$ .

In case of an hereditary category  $\mathcal{H}$ , Dichev [**34**, Theorem 3.3.1] points out that a subcategory  $\mathcal{W}$  is wide if and only if it is closed under direct summands and if it fulfils the 2-out-of-3-property. Thus, one has to look at short exact sequences when it comes to the classification of wide subcategories.

EXAMPLE 2.6. Let A be an algebra over a field. Then, the category Mod(A) of all left (or right) modules over A is an abelian category. The same holds for the category mod(A) of all finite-dimensional modules over A.

This leads us to a comment on notation and convention. If not stated otherwise, we will always consider finite-dimensional left modules and denote the category by mod(A).

This is our main example of an abelian category. Precisely, we are going to consider algebras whose module category is equivalent to the category of representations of certain diagrams. These categories are also hereditary. More on that topic in Chapter 4.

# 2. Triangulated categories

There are important categories which do not admit an exact structure as described above. Therefore, one tries to endow them with another comparable structure, in this case a triangulated structure. An example of such a category is the derived category of an abelian category which we will define further down.

We take the formulations and notations for the definition of derived and triangulated categories from [58]. Originally, these concepts were invented by Verdier in [84].

DEFINITION 2.7. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be an additive category with an equivalence  $\Sigma: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$ . A triangle in  $\mathcal{T}$  is a sequence  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$  of maps

$$X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Sigma X.$$

A morphism between two triangles  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$  and  $(\alpha', \beta', \gamma')$  is a triple

$$(\phi_1,\phi_2,\phi_3)$$

of morphisms in  $\mathcal{T}$  making the following diagram commutative.

$$\begin{array}{c} X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Sigma X \\ \downarrow \phi_1 \qquad \downarrow \phi_2 \qquad \downarrow \phi_3 \qquad \downarrow \Sigma \phi_1 \\ X' \xrightarrow{\alpha'} Y' \xrightarrow{\beta'} Z' \xrightarrow{\gamma'} \Sigma X' \end{array}$$

The category  $\mathcal{T}$  is called *triangulated* if it is equipped with a class of distinguished triangles (called *exact triangles*) satisfying the following axioms.

- (TR1) A triangle isomorphic to an exact triangle is exact. For each object X, the triangle  $0 \to X \xrightarrow{\text{id}} X \to 0$  is exact. Each map  $\alpha$  fits into an exact triangle  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ .
- (TR2) A triangle  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$  is exact if and only if  $(\beta, \gamma, -\Sigma\alpha)$  is exact.
- (TR3) Given two exact triangles  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$  and  $(\alpha', \beta', \gamma')$ , each pair of maps  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  satisfying  $\phi_2 \circ \alpha = \alpha' \circ \phi_1$  can be completed to a morphism

$$\begin{array}{c} X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Sigma X \\ \downarrow \phi_1 \qquad \downarrow \phi_2 \qquad \downarrow \phi_3 \qquad \downarrow \Sigma \phi_1 \\ X' \xrightarrow{\alpha'} Y' \xrightarrow{\beta'} Z' \xrightarrow{\gamma'} \Sigma X' \end{array}$$

of triangles.

(TR4) Given exact triangles  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ ,  $(\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3)$  and  $(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3)$  with  $\gamma_1 = \beta_1 \circ \alpha_1$ , there exists an exact triangle  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3)$  making the following diagram commutative.

$$\begin{array}{c} X \xrightarrow{\alpha_{1}} Y \xrightarrow{\alpha_{2}} U \xrightarrow{\alpha_{3}} \Sigma X \\ \parallel & \downarrow^{\beta_{1}} & \downarrow^{\delta_{1}} & \parallel \\ X \xrightarrow{\gamma_{1}} Z \xrightarrow{\gamma_{2}} V \xrightarrow{\gamma_{3}} \Sigma X \\ \downarrow^{\beta_{2}} & \downarrow^{\delta_{2}} & \downarrow^{\Sigma\alpha_{1}} \\ W \xrightarrow{W} \xrightarrow{\beta_{3}} \Sigma Y \\ \downarrow^{\beta_{3}} & \downarrow^{\delta_{3}} \\ \Sigma Y \xrightarrow{\Sigma\alpha_{2}} \Sigma U \end{array}$$

EXAMPLE 2.8. Let A be a finite-dimensional self-injective algebra, i.e. projective and injective A-modules coincide. Let  $\underline{mod}(A)$  be the stable module category of A which is given as follows. The objects of  $\underline{mod}(A)$  are the

same as in mod(A) and morphisms are by definition

 $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{A}(X,Y) := \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(X,Y) / \{X \to P \to Y \mid P \text{ projective}\}.$ 

Then,  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(A)$  is triangulated. The equivalence  $\Sigma$  is given by

$$X \mapsto \operatorname{Coker}(X \mapsto E(X))$$

where E(X) denotes the injective hull of X. Exact triangles in  $\underline{mod}(A)$  arise from short exact sequences in mod(A). Namely, given a short exact sequence  $0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$ , the fact that E(X) is injective and the universal property of the cokernel yield morphisms in mod(A) making the diagram

commutative. This defines an exact triangle  $X \to Y \to Z \to \Sigma X$ . Now one can check the axioms (TR1) to (TR4) for  $\underline{\text{mod}}(A)$ . This turns out to be possible since the algebra is self-injective.

More generally, this holds for arbitrary Frobenius categories. In the context of an exact category with a set E of exact sequences we may introduce the notion of projective and injective objects (for example Happel calls this E-projective or E-injective in [46]) such that it coincides with the notion of projectivity or injectivity if the category is abelian. Hence, it makes sense to define the following for an exact category.

DEFINITION 2.9. An exact category is called *Frobenius* if it has enough projective and injective objects and if moreover, projective and injective objects coincide.

A triangulated category is called *algebraic* if it is triangle equivalent to the stable category of a Frobenius category.

THEOREM 2.10 (Happel [46]). Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a Frobenius category. Then, its stable category  $\underline{\mathcal{F}}$  is triangulated.

The idea of the triangulated structure of  $\underline{\mathcal{F}}$  is as described above for the stable module category of a self-injective algebra.

By the way these are our main examples for a triangulated category. More on algebraic triangulated categories in Chapter 7 and on self-injective algebras in Chapter 8.

The lattice of thick subcategories. The *correspondent* of a wide subcategory of an abelian category in the triangulated world is the following. (For hereditary abelian categories it will literally turn out to be a correspondent).

DEFINITION 2.11. A full subcategory S of a triangulated category T is called *thick* if the following conditions hold.

- Let  $X \to Y \to Z \to \Sigma X$  be an exact triangle. If two of  $\{X, Y, Z\}$  are contained in  $\mathcal{S}$ , then so is the third.
- $X \in \mathcal{S}$  implies  $\Sigma^n X \in \mathcal{S}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ .
- S is closed under direct summands.

This definition ensures that a thick subcategory is a triangulated category itself. Note that we also have a 2-out-of-3-property here.

The following concept will help us to describe thick subcategories

DEFINITION 2.12. We say that a thick subcategory S of a triangulated category T is generated by a set of objects E in T if S = Thick(E) where Thick(E) denotes the smallest thick subcategory of T containing the objects in E.

The set  $T(\mathcal{T})$  of all thick subcategories of a triangulated category has an interesting combinatorial property.

DEFINITION 2.13. A *lattice* is a partially ordered set in which any two elements have a unique supremum called the *join*  $\lor$  and an infimum called the *meet*  $\land$ .

The set  $T(\mathcal{T})$  forms a lattice. The partial order is given by inclusion, the join of two thick subcategories  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  is its intersection which is thick again. The meet of  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  is Thick $(\mathcal{S} \cup \mathcal{R})$ .

Moreover, in certain situations there is a *lattice complement*.

DEFINITION 2.14. Let S be a thick subcategory of a triangulated category  $\mathcal{T}$ . Then we call

$$\mathcal{S}^{\perp} = \{ Y \in \mathcal{T} \mid \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X, Y) = 0 \ \forall \ X \in \mathcal{S} \}$$

and

$${}^{\perp}\mathcal{S} = \{ X \in \mathcal{T} \mid \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X, Y) = 0 \,\,\forall \,\, Y \in \mathcal{S} \}$$

the right respectively left perpendicular categories with respect to  $\mathcal{S}$ .

One can check that the perpendicular categories are thick subcategories again.

Now we need the assumption that our triangulated category is *locally* finite, that is for each indecomposable object  $X \in \mathcal{T}$  there are at most finitely many isomorphism classes of indecomposable objects  $Y \in \mathcal{T}$  such that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X, Y) \neq 0$ .

PROPOSITION 2.15 (Krause [59], Proposition 4.4). Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a locally finite triangulated category. Let  $\mathcal{S}$  be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Then,

$$\mathcal{S} \lor \mathcal{S}^{\perp} = \mathcal{T} \text{ and } \mathcal{S} \land \mathcal{S}^{\perp} = 0.$$

#### 3. Auslander-Reiten theory

One of the most important tools used in this thesis is Auslander-Reiten theory. Namely, it is essential for the classification of the categories we work with. Moreover, we are going to use it all the time in order to picture categories and highlight subcategories within these categories.

Originally, Auslander-Reiten theory was defined for abelian categories in [9]. Happel introduced Auslander-Reiten triangles for triangulated categories in [45]. In [59] and [64] the theory is explained in the setting of a Krull-Remak-Schmidt category which covers both concepts. We keep with this general setting without going too much into details, i.e. there will be no proofs. Hence, throughout this section, let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a Krull-Remak-Schmidt category.

The idea of Auslander-Reiten theory is to illustrate the category by its smallest building blocks. For objects these are the indecomposable objects. To get something appropriate for morphisms we need some preparation.

DEFINITION 2.16. The *radical* of C is by definition the collection of subgroups

$$\operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y)$$

for each pair X, Y of objects in  $\mathcal{C}$  where

 $\operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y) = \{ \phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y) \mid \operatorname{id}_X - \phi'\phi \text{ is invertible } \forall \phi' \colon Y \to X \}.$ 

DEFINITION 2.17. A morphism  $\phi$  is called *irreducible* if  $\phi$  is neither a section nor a retraction, and if  $\phi = \phi'' \phi'$  is a factorisation, then  $\phi'$  is a section or  $\phi''$  is a retraction.

For each n > 1 and each pair X, Y define recursively  $\operatorname{Rad}^n_{\mathcal{C}}(X, Y)$  to be the set of morphisms  $\phi$  that admit a factorisation  $\phi = \phi'' \phi'$  with  $\phi' \in \operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}(X, Z)$  and  $\phi'' \in \operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}^{n-1}(Z, Y)$  for some object Z. Then we set

$$\operatorname{Irr}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y) = \operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y) / \operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}^{2}(X,Y).$$

This is a bimodule over the division rings  $\Delta(X)$  and  $\Delta(Y)$  where

 $\Delta(X) = \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) / \operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}(X, X).$ 

Note that a morphism  $X \to Y$  is irreducible if and only if it belongs to

$$\operatorname{Rad}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y) \setminus \operatorname{Rad}^{2}_{\mathcal{C}}(X,Y).$$

DEFINITION 2.18. A morphism  $\phi: X \to Y$  is called *right almost split* if  $\phi$  is not a retraction and if every morphism  $X' \to Y$  that is not a retraction factors through  $\phi$ . The morphism  $\phi$  is *right minimal* if every endomorphism  $\alpha: X \to X$  with  $\phi \alpha = \phi$  is invertible. Dually, we define *left almost split* and *left minimal*.

DEFINITION 2.19 (Liu [64]). A sequence of morphisms  $X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z$  in  $\mathcal{C}$  is called *Auslander-Reiten sequence* if

- $\alpha$  is minimal left almost split and a weak kernel of  $\beta$ ,
- $\beta$  is minimal right almost split and a weak cokernel of  $\alpha$ , and
- $Y \neq 0$ .

THEOREM 2.20 (Liu [64]). Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a Krull-Remak-Schmidt category and let  $X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z$  be an Auslander-Reiten sequence.

- Up to isomorphism, the sequence is the unique Auslander-Reiten sequence starting with X and ending with Z.
- Each irreducible morphism  $f_1: X \to Y_1$  or  $g_1: Y_1 \to Z$  fits into an Auslander-Reiten sequence

$$X \xrightarrow{(f_1 \quad f_2)} Y_1 \amalg Y_2 \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} g_1 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix}} Z$$

This theorem justifies to define the Auslander-Reiten translation  $\tau(Z)$  of an object Z in C to be the unique object X whenever there is an Auslander-Reiten sequence ending in Z. Analogously,  $\tau^{-1}(X) = Z$ . Moreover, it makes sense to define the Auslander-Reiten quiver  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  of C in the following manner. The vertex set consists of isomorphism classes of indecomposable objects of C. For vertices X, Y there is a unique arrow  $X \to Y$  with valuation  $(\dim_{\Delta(X)} \operatorname{Irr}(X, Y), \dim_{\Delta(Y)} \operatorname{Irr}(X, Y))$  if and only if  $\operatorname{Irr}(X, Y) \neq 0$ . Since the irreducible morphism fit into Auslander-Reiten sequences, the Auslander-Reiten quiver consists of meshes like



representing an Auslander-Reiten sequence  $\tau(Z) \to Y_1 \amalg \ldots \amalg Y_n \to Z$ .

Throughout this thesis, we will mostly not distinguish between the vertices and arrows of the Auslander-Reiten quiver and the indecomposable objects and morphisms they stand for.

For the existence of Auslander-Reiten sequences we need to get more concrete now. Thus, for the rest of this section consider the abelian category mod(A) of a finite-dimensional algebra A over a field k. We keep with [7] for the theory in this context. Here, we can define the Auslander-Reiten translate  $\tau$  of a module M concretely. Namely, take a minimal projective resolution

$$P_1 \xrightarrow{p_1} P_0 \xrightarrow{p_0} M \to 0$$

of M. Apply the functor  $\operatorname{Hom}_A(-, A)$  to this sequence and define  $\operatorname{Tr}(M) := \operatorname{Coker}(\operatorname{Hom}_A(p_1, A))$ . This gives a module over the opposite algebra of A. Hence, applying the standard duality  $D = \operatorname{Hom}_k(-, k)$  on this brings us back to  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$ . Then, define the Auslander-Reiten translation to be

$$\tau = D \operatorname{Tr} \text{ and } \tau^{-1} = \operatorname{Tr} D.$$

This is the appropriate definition for  $\tau$  which is compatible with the above general definition of it as the unique object an Auslander-Reiten sequence starts in. Indeed, in this context we can make a statement on the existence of Auslander-Reiten sequences.

THEOREM 2.21. For any indecomposable non-projective A-module M there exists an Auslander-Reiten sequence  $0 \to \tau M \to E \to M \to 0$  in mod(A).

For any indecomposable non-injective A-module N there exists an Auslander-Reiten sequence  $0 \to N \to F \to \tau^{-1}N \to 0$ .

One can prove this using the following Auslander-Reiten formulas which are anyway very useful. THEOREM 2.22. Let M and N be indecomposable A-modules. Then, there exist isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{A}(M,N) \cong D \operatorname{\underline{Hom}}_{A}(\tau^{-1}N,M) \cong D \operatorname{\overline{Hom}}_{A}(N,\tau M).$$

Here  $\overline{\text{Hom}}$  is the analogue of  $\underline{\text{Hom}}$  defined in Section 2 in the sense that one factors out morphisms which factor through an injective module (instead of projective).

Note that in case the algebra is hereditary, the above formulas appear as (see [2, Corollary 5.1.2])

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{A}(M, N) \cong D \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\tau^{-1}N, M) \cong D \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(N, \tau M).$$

As said Auslander-Reiten theory of a category is an important tool to encode information about it. This works out to a certain extend. Ideally, the Auslander-Reiten quiver tells us everything about the category as in the following case. A category C is said to be *standard* if  $\operatorname{ind}(C)$  is equivalent to the *mesh category* of its Auslander-Reiten quiver. The mesh category  $k(\Gamma)$ of an Auslander-Reiten quiver  $\Gamma$  is defined as follows. The *path category* of  $\Gamma$  is by definition the category whose objects are the vertices of  $\Gamma$  and given two vertices x, y, the k-space of morphisms from x to y is given by the k-vectorspace with basis the set of all paths from x to y. The composition of morphisms is induced from the usual composition of paths. The *mesh ideal* of a path category is the ideal generated by the elements  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \beta_i$  for all meshes



in  $\Gamma$ . Finally the mesh category  $k(\Gamma)$  is the quotient category of the path category of  $\Gamma$  by the mesh ideal.

#### 4. Derived categories

Following up the previous sections, we now start with an abelian category and define its derived category which turns out to be triangulated. The definition of a derived category is not particularly catchy, thus we will recall the definition briefly and focus on important notions, properties and examples we will need in this thesis.

Again, originally the concept was invented by Verdier [84]. Our reference here is [58].

4.1. The formal definition. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an abelian category. A *complex* in  $\mathcal{A}$  is a sequence of maps

$$X \colon \dots \to X^{n-1} \xrightarrow{d^{n-1}} X^n \xrightarrow{d^n} X^{n+1} \to \dots$$

such that  $d^n \circ d^{n-1} = 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . A map  $\phi \colon X \to Y$  between complexes consists of maps  $\phi^n \colon X^n \to Y^n$  with  $d_Y^n \circ \phi^n = \phi^{n+1} \circ d_X^n$ . Then, denote by  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  the category of complexes.

For a complex X denote by  $\Sigma X$  or X[1] the shifted complex with  $(\Sigma X)^n = X^{n+1}$  and  $d_{\Sigma X}^n = -d_X^{n+1}$ .

A map  $\phi: X \to Y$  is *null-homotopic* if there are maps  $\rho^n: X^n \to Y^{n-1}$ such that  $\phi^n = d_Y^{n-1} \circ \rho^n + \rho^{n+1} \circ d_X^n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The null-homotopic maps form an ideal in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  and the *homotopy category*  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  is the quotient of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  with respect to this ideal.

Let X be a complex. For each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  the *cohomology* is defined as

$$H^n X = \operatorname{Ker} d^n / \operatorname{Im} d^{n-1}.$$

A map  $\phi: X \to Y$  between complexes induces a map  $H^n \phi: H^n X \to H^n Y$  in each degree, and  $\phi$  is called a *quasi-isomorphism* if  $H^n \phi$  is an isomorphism in each degree.

Finally, the *derived category*  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  is obtained from  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  by formally inverting all quasi-isomorphisms, that is

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})[S^{-1}]$$

the localisation of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  with respect to the class S of all quasi-isomorphisms.

Mostly in this thesis we will be concerned with the so-called *bounded* derived category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{A})$  which is the derived category as constructed above but this time we only consider bounded complexes, i.e. complexes in

$$\mathcal{C}^{b}(\mathcal{A}) = \{ X \in \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}) \mid X^{n} = 0 \text{ for } |n| \gg 0 \}.$$

**4.2. The derived category of a hereditary category.** If the category  $\mathcal{A}$  is hereditary, there is an explicit description of the objects and the morphisms of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ . Namely, we have the following for objects caused by the vanishing of  $\operatorname{Ext}^2(-,-)$ .

LEMMA 2.23. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an abelian hereditary category and let X be a complex in  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ . Then, X is isomorphic to the complex

$$\cdots \to H^{n-1}X \xrightarrow{0} H^n X \xrightarrow{0} H^{n+1}X \to \cdots.$$

Hence, indecomposable objects of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  are given by complexes

 $\dots \to 0 \to A \to 0 \to \dots$ 

concentrated in degree n where A is indecomposable in  $\mathcal{A}$ . For an object A in  $\mathcal{A}$  we denote its associated complex concentrated in degree 0 also by A. Note that there is a canonical embedding  $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  sending an object  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  to this particular complex.

The description of morphisms in case of  $\mathcal{A}$  hereditary goes back to the following observation.

LEMMA 2.24. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an abelian category. Let  $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}$  objects in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ext}^n_{\mathcal{A}}(A,B) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})}(A,\Sigma^n B).$$

Since this is zero for  $n \geq 2$ , morphisms in  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  reduce to morphisms and extensions in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Precisely,

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Sigma^n \mathcal{A}$$

with non-zero maps  $\Sigma^i \mathcal{A} \to \Sigma^j \mathcal{A}$  only if  $j - i \in \{0, 1\}$ . This structure is visualised in the following figure.



In particular, this picture appears if  $\mathcal{A}$  is equal to  $\operatorname{mod}(k\overline{\Delta})$  where  $\Delta$  is a Dynkin diagram or an extended Dynkin diagram and  $k\overline{\Delta}$  is its associated path algebra (for background on representations of diagrams see Chapter 4). Namely, in this case the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{A})$  has a particular shape.

DEFINITION 2.25. Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be a quiver. The *repetition* of  $\vec{\Delta}$  [70] is the translation quiver  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta = \mathbb{Z}\vec{\Delta}$  defined as follows. The vertices of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  are the pairs (i, x) with  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $x \in \vec{\Delta}_0$ . To each arrow  $\alpha \colon x \to y$  in  $\vec{\Delta}$  and each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  there is an arrow  $(i, \alpha) \colon (i, x) \to (i, y)$  and an arrow  $\sigma(i, \alpha) \colon (i-1, y) \to (i, x)$ . The translation  $\tau$  is defined on  $(\mathbb{Z}\Delta)_0$  via  $\tau(i, x) = (i - 1, x)$ . The repetitive quiver does not depend on the orientation of  $\vec{\Delta}$ .

Given a translation quiver  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  with translation  $\tau$ , we define  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta/\langle \tau^r \rangle$  for  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  to be the quiver which is obtained from  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  by identifying any vertex x of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  with  $\tau^r(x)$  and proceeding compatibly with the arrows.

PROPOSITION 2.26 (Happel [46], Section 5.6). Let  $A = k\vec{\Delta}$  be a finitedimensional hereditary k-algebra.

- (1) If  $\Delta$  is a Dynkin diagram, then the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  is of the form  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ .
- (2) If  $\Delta$  is an extended Dynkin diagram, then the connected components of the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  are of the form  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ and  $\mathbb{Z}A_{\infty}/\langle \tau^{r} \rangle$  for some  $r \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Here  $A_{\infty}$  denotes the infinite Dynkin diagram of type A which is infinite in one direction. That is,  $\mathbb{Z}A_{\infty}/\langle \tau^r \rangle$  is nothing else than a stable tube of rank r.

EXAMPLE 2.27. Let  $\vec{A}_3$  be the quiver  $1 \to 2 \to 3$ . Then the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{A}_3))$  is of this form.



Dotted arrows stand for morphisms in the derived category coming from extensions in the module category.

In fact, this encodes all the information about  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{A}_3))$  as we deduce from the following statement.

PROPOSITION 2.28 (Happel [46], Proposition 5.6). Let  $\Delta$  be a Dynkin diagram. Then,

$$\operatorname{ind}(\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})))$$

is equivalent to the mesh category  $k(\mathbb{Z}\Delta)$ .

As the translation quiver suggests, the Auslander-Reiten translation  $\tau$ on the module category may be extended to the derived category. For the module category of a finite-dimensional k-algebra A of finite global dimension we can do this explicitly. Namely, by understanding each object of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  as its projective resolution  $P^{\bullet}$  we identify  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  with  $\mathcal{K}^b(\text{proj}(A))$  where proj(A) denotes the full subcategory of mod(A) consisting of projective modules. Then,

$$\tau(P^{\bullet}) = \Sigma^{-1} \nu_A(P^{\bullet})$$

does the job (see Happel [46, Section 4.9]). Here  $\nu_A = D \operatorname{Hom}_A(-, A)$  is the Nakayama functor which sends projective to injective modules and vice versa. Note that for a non-projective A-module understood as an object of the derived category this definition of  $\tau$  coincides with the definition of  $\tau$  for modules. Moreover, an indecomposable projective module is mapped to the  $\Sigma^{-1}$ -shift of the corresponding indecomposable injective module. Actually,  $\tau$  gives an auto-equivalence on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

**4.3. The triangulated structure.** As announced  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is a triangulated category. To be correct we remark that one has to define the triangulated structure firstly for  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  and note then that it carries over to  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ . Anyhow, we formulate it directly for  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ . The equivalence  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is given by the shift  $\Sigma = [1]$  defined above. Concerning triangles we state exemplarily how we extend a morphism  $\alpha \colon X \to Y$  of complexes to a triangle

$$X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Sigma X.$$

In fact, the exact triangles are just the triangles which are isomorphic to triangles of this particular shape. Namely, let Z be the complex with  $Z^n = X^{n+1} \amalg Y^n$  and  $d_Z^n = \begin{pmatrix} -d_X^{n+1} & 0 \\ \alpha^{n+1} & d_Y^n \end{pmatrix}$ . Then, the triangle  $X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Sigma X$  is degreewise defined by

$$X^n \xrightarrow{\alpha^n} Y^n \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \mathrm{id} \end{pmatrix}} X^{n+1} \amalg Y^n \xrightarrow{(-\mathrm{id} \quad 0)} X^{n+1}.$$

To verify the axioms (TR1) to (TR4) see [84, II.1.3.2].

The same construction turns the bounded derived category  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\mathcal{A})$  into a triangulated category.

Finally, it is important to emphasise that the triangulated structure of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is again related to the exact structure of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Namely, the canonical embedding  $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  sends every short exact sequence

$$E \colon 0 \to A \xrightarrow{\alpha} B \xrightarrow{\beta} C \to 0$$

in  $\mathcal{A}$  to an exact triangle  $A \xrightarrow{\alpha} B \xrightarrow{\beta} C \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Sigma A$  in  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  where  $\gamma$  is the morphism induced by E under  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{A}}(C, A) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})}(C, \Sigma A)$ . By the way, this also induces a *long exact sequence in cohomology* 

$$\dots \to H^n(A) \to H^n(B) \to H^n(C) \to H^{n+1}(A) \to H^{n+1}(B) \to \dots$$

in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

For this reason we can compare thick subcategories of the triangulated category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{A})$  to wide subcategories of the abelian category  $\mathcal{A}$ .

THEOREM 2.29 (Brüning [27]). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a hereditary abelian category. The assignments  $\mathcal{S} \mapsto \{H^0C \mid C \in \mathcal{S}\}$  and  $\mathcal{W} \mapsto \{C \in \mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{A}) \mid H^nC \in \mathcal{W} \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  induce a bijective correspondence between

- the class of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{A})$ , and
- the class of wide subcategories of A.

EXAMPLE 2.30. Let  $\vec{A}_3$  be as above. The following figure pictures a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{A}_3))$  (black and white dots indicating the indecomposable objects of the subcategory) together with its corresponding wide subcategory of  $\text{mod}(k\vec{A}_3)$  (only white dots).

## CHAPTER 3

# Orbit categories

Many of the categories we are interested in are equivalent to orbit categories of triangulated categories. Therefore, we discuss them in this chapter, in particular the question under which circumstances they are triangulated and if they are, their triangulated structure. The general reference for all this is [56].

If there is a triangulated structure on the orbit category, it makes sense to ask for thick subcategories. Hence, at the end of this chapter we state one of the main theorems of this thesis which explains the thick subcategories of the orbit category in terms of the original triangulated category. This is essential for the later classification.

DEFINITION 3.1. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be an additive category, let  $F: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$  be an automorphism and let  $\langle F \rangle$  be the group of automorphisms generated by F. The orbit category  $\mathcal{T}/F = \mathcal{T}/\langle F \rangle$  has the same objects as  $\mathcal{T}$  and the morphisms  $X \to Y$  are in bijection to

$$\bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X,F^nY).$$

The composition of morphisms is defined in a natural way (compare [31]).

To illustrate this definition we consider an example already known from above.

EXAMPLE 3.2. Let  $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A_3}))$  with  $\vec{A_3}$  as above. Let F be  $\tau^2 \colon \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A_3})) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A_3}))$ . The definition of morphisms in the orbit category makes objects lying in the same orbit under F isomorphic. Therefore, we identify each object X in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A_3}))$  with  $\tau^2(X)$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A_3}))/\tau^2$  would look like



where we understand vertices on the dotted lines as identified. By the way, this is the translation quiver  $\mathbb{Z}A_3/\langle \tau^2 \rangle$  where  $\tau$  denotes also the translation on the repetition  $\mathbb{Z}A_3$ .

Now let  $\mathcal{T}$  be triangulated. Is  $\mathcal{T}/F$  then triangulated, too? This is not at all obvious and not true in all cases. We would like to endow the orbit category with a triangulated structure such that the projection  $\pi: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/F$ 

is a triangle functor, that is a functor preserving exact triangles. Here is the problem with the triangulated structure of  $\mathcal{T}/F$ . Let  $u: X \to Y$  be a morphism in  $\mathcal{T}/F$ . This is usually a sum of morphisms  $u_1, \ldots, u_N$  in  $\mathcal{T}$  with  $u_i: X \to F^{n_i}Y$ . We would like to extend this to a triangle in the orbit in such way that it is compatible with how we would do it in  $\mathcal{T}$ . But u does not just *lift* to a morphism in  $\mathcal{T}$  and hence it is not obvious how we can use the triangulated structure of  $\mathcal{T}$  to define one in the orbit category.

In his article on triangulated orbit categories [56] Keller introduces a framework, assuming some conditions on  $\mathcal{T}$  and F, in which we get that  $\mathcal{T}/F$  is triangulated. In fact, all the categories we study do fulfil these conditions.

Next to those, a prominent example of an orbit category which is triangulated is the cluster category

$$\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Delta}} = \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\tau^{-1} \circ \Sigma$$

associated to a quiver  $\vec{\Delta}$  without oriented cycles. We will discuss this in Chapter 13.

THEOREM 3.3 (Keller [56]). Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a connected hereditary abelian category admitting a tilting object. Let  $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{H})$ , let  $F: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$  be an automorphism, and let  $\Sigma: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$  be the shift. Assume that the following hypotheses hold:

- For each indecomposable U of H there are only finitely many integers i such that  $F^iU$  lies in H.
- There is an integer N ≥ 0 such that the ⟨F⟩-orbit of each indecomposable of T contains an object Σ<sup>n</sup>U for some 0 ≤ n ≤ N and some indecomposable object U of H.

Then, the orbit category  $\mathcal{T}/F$  admits a triangulated structure such that the projection  $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/F$  is triangulated.

We recall the idea of Keller's proof since we will need some aspects of it further down.

PROOF. The idea is that we embed the orbit category into a bigger category which is triangulated. Then, we extend a morphism in the orbit category to a triangle in the ambient category and show that the extension also lies in the orbit category.

The ambient triangulated category is given by the derived category of a differential graded (dg) category. For the basics about dg categories we refer to [57].

Fix a tilting object T of  $\mathcal{H}$  and let  $A = \operatorname{End}(T)$  be the endomorphism algebra. Then  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  is triangle equivalent to  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathcal{H})$ . Let  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{C}^b_{dg}(\operatorname{proj}(A))$  be the dg category of bounded complexes of finitely generated projective A-modules. We assume that F is a standard equivalence, i.e. it is isomorphic to the derived tensor product by a complex of A-A-bimodules and this defines a dg functor F as well. Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be the dg orbit category of  $\mathcal{A}$  with respect to F. This yields

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Mod}(A)) \cong \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$$
 and  $H^0\mathcal{B} \cong \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))/F.$ 

Now let  $\mathcal{M}$  be the triangulated subcategory of  $\mathcal{DB}$  generated by the representable functors  $\mathcal{B}(-, X) =: \hat{X}$  for  $X \in \mathcal{B}$ . Embed the orbit category

$$\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))/F \cong H^0\mathcal{B} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{DB}, \ X \mapsto \hat{X}.$$

Consider the projection  $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ , the restriction

$$\pi_* \colon \mathcal{DB} \to \mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Mod}(A))$$

along  $\pi$  and the left adjoint  $\pi^* \colon \mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Mod}(A)) \to \mathcal{DB}$  to  $\pi_*$ .

Then,  $\pi^*$  restricts to the canonical projection

$$\mathcal{D}^{b}(\mathrm{mod}(A)) \to \mathcal{D}^{b}(\mathrm{mod}(A))/F.$$

Hence, a morphism in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))/F$  is of the form  $\pi^*\hat{X} \to \pi^*\hat{Y}$  where  $X, Y \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $\hat{X} = \mathcal{A}(-, X)$ . Extend this to a triangle in  $\mathcal{M}$  and apply  $\pi_*$  to this triangle. We get a triangle

$$\pi_*\pi^*(\hat{X}) \to \pi_*\pi^*(\hat{Y}) \to \pi_*(E) \to \Sigma\pi_*\pi^*(\hat{X})$$

in  $\mathcal{D}(Mod(A))$ . For the elements of the triangle we have

$$\pi_*\pi^*(\hat{X}) \cong \pi_*(\mathcal{B}(-,\pi(X))) = \mathcal{B}(\pi(-),\pi(X))$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\mathcal{A}(F^n-,X) = \bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}F^n(\hat{X}).$$

By the first assumption of the theorem these objects lie in  $\mathcal{D}(\text{mod}(A))$ and so does  $\pi_*(E)$ . Using this finiteness property together with the second assumption of the theorem, we can show that  $\pi_*(E)$  is a sum of finitely many  $\langle F \rangle$ -orbits of shifted indecomposables  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_m$  of  $\mathcal{H}$ . The adjoint of the inclusion  $Z := \bigoplus_{i=1}^m Z_i \hookrightarrow \pi_*(E)$  yields an isomorphism  $\pi^*(Z) \cong E$ where  $Z \in \mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ .

Given such a triangulated orbit category of the above form, it is evident that the thick subcategories of the orbit category  $\mathcal{T}/F$  are somehow related to the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$  and since the projection  $\pi: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/F$  is a triangle functor and also crucial for the definition of the orbit category, it is a good guess to use this functor for a correspondence. Clearly, if  $\mathcal{S}$  is a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{T}/F$ , then the preimage  $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  is immediately seen to be thick in  $\mathcal{T}$  since  $\pi$  is a triangle functor. What we can also say about  $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$ is that it is invariant under  $\langle F \rangle$ . This shows that not all thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$  appear.

But, given a thick subcategory S of T which is invariant under  $\langle F \rangle$ , it is not that easy to show that  $\pi(S)$  is thick in T/F. Here the same problems show up as discussed above for the triangulated structure. Nevertheless, it is possible and stated and proven in the sequel.

THEOREM 3.4. Let A be a hereditary k-algebra. Let  $\Phi: \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A)) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  be an automorphism such that the hypotheses of Keller's Theorem hold. Then, the canonical projection  $\pi: \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A)) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\Phi$ induces a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick  $\langle \Phi \rangle$ -invariant subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ , and
- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\Phi$ .

PROOF. Let S be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\Phi$ . Then, as seen in the preparation of this theorem,  $\pi^{-1}(S)$  is thick and  $\langle \Phi \rangle$ -invariant.

Now let S be a thick  $\langle \Phi \rangle$ -invariant subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ . We want to show that  $\pi(S)$  is thick in the orbit category. As seen above it is not obvious how to lift a given triangle

$$\pi(X) \to \pi(Y) \to \pi(Z) \to \Sigma \pi(X)$$

with  $\pi(X), \pi(Y) \in \pi(S)$  in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\Phi$  to a triangle  $X \to Y \to Z \to \Sigma X$ in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ . But as in the proof of Keller's Theorem we may apply  $\pi_*$ and obtain a triangle

$$\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n(X) \to \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n(Y) \to \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n(Z) \to \Sigma \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n(X)$$

in  $\mathcal{D}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ . This yields a long exact sequence

$$\dots \to H^{p}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(X)) \to H^{p}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(Y)) \to H^{p}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(Z))$$
$$\to H^{p+1}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(X)) \to H^{p+1}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(Y)) \to \dots$$

in mod(A). Consider the terms of this sequence.

$$H^{p}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(X)) = H^{0}(\Sigma^{p}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(X))) = H^{0}(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{n}(\Sigma^{p}X))$$
$$= H^{0}(\bigoplus_{|n| < r} \Phi^{n}(\Sigma^{p}X))$$

for some  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  large enough. We find this r because of the first assumption of Keller's Theorem. Since S is thick and  $\langle \Phi \rangle$ -invariant and  $X \in S$ ,  $\bigoplus_{|n| < r} \Phi^n(\Sigma^p X)$  lies in S for each  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$  and therefore,  $H^p(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n(X))$  lies in  $H^0(S)$  for each  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

By Brüning's Theorem 2.29,  $H^0(\mathcal{S})$  is a wide subcategory of mod(A). Hence, the cokernel of

$$H^p(\bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\Phi^n(X))\to H^p(\bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\Phi^n(Y))$$

as well as the kernel of

$$H^{p+1}(\bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\Phi^n(X))\to H^{p+1}(\bigoplus_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\Phi^n(Y))$$

are contained in  $H^0(\mathcal{S})$  for each  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Moreover,  $H^p(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n(Z))$  is an extension of these two objects and therefore, it is also an object of  $H^0(\mathcal{S})$  for each  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Z is a direct summand of  $\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n Z$  and hence,  $H^p(Z)$  is a direct summand of  $H^p(\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^n Z)$  for each p. Since  $H^0(\mathcal{S})$  is closed under direct summands, we have that  $H^p(Z) \in H^0(\mathcal{S}) \forall p$ . Applying Brüning's correspondence again, we conclude that  $Z \in \mathcal{S}$  and thus  $\pi(Z) \in \pi(\mathcal{S})$ .

EXAMPLE 3.5. Consider again  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{A}_3))$  and  $F = \tau^2$ . Here is an example of a  $\langle \tau^2 \rangle$ -invariant thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{A}_3))$ .



It corresponds to its projection into the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{A_3}))/\langle \tau^2 \rangle$ .



# CHAPTER 4

# Hereditary algebras

An algebra A is called *hereditary* if all submodules of projective A-modules are projective again. Equivalently, mod(A) is an hereditary category.

Later we want to classify the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  for a tame hereditary algebra A. This chapter collects all the needed properties of mod(A).

The main reference for the following definitions and facts is the preliminary chapter of [75].

For the time being, let A be a finite-dimensional hereditary algebra over an arbitrary field k. Let  $1_A = e_1 + \ldots + e_s$  be a decomposition of the identity into pairwise orthogonal idempotents. We assume that A is basic, i.e.  $Ae_i \ncong Ae_j$  for all  $i \neq j$ . Denote the indecomposable projective modules  $Ae_i$  by  $P_i$ . Hence,  $A \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{s} P_i$ . Note that this means that we also have scorresponding simple modules denoted by  $S_1, \ldots, S_s$  and injective modules denoted by  $I_1, \ldots, I_s$ .

#### 1. Diagrams, dimension vectors and quadratic forms

We assign to A an oriented diagram in the following manner. Decompose  $A/\operatorname{rad}(A)$  into a product  $\prod_{i=1}^{s} F_i$  of division rings  $F_i$ . Concretely,  $F_i \cong \operatorname{End}(P_i)$ . This is possible since A is basic. Consider  $\operatorname{rad}(A)/\operatorname{rad}^2(A)$  as  $A/\operatorname{rad}(A)-A/\operatorname{rad}(A)$ -bimodule and decompose it as the direct sum of  $F_i$ - $F_j$ -bimodules  ${}_iM_j$ . The oriented diagram of A is given by s vertices and an arrow from a vertex i to a vertex j provided  ${}_iM_j \neq 0$ . Moreover, we add to such an arrow a valuation  $(\dim_{F_i}({}_iM_j), \dim_{F_j}({}_iM_j))$ . Denote the associated valued diagram (forgetting the orientation of the edges) by  $(\Gamma_A, d_A) = (\Gamma, d)$ .

This defines a bilinear form associated to A. Denote  $f_i = \dim_k(F_i)$  and  $d_{ij} = \dim_{F_i}(M_j)$ . Define a bilinear form  $B = B_A$  on  $\mathbb{R}^s$  as follows. For  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^s$ ,

$$B(x,y) = \sum_{i} f_{i} x_{i} y_{i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} d_{ij} f_{i} x_{i} y_{j}.$$

This also gives a quadratic form on  $\mathbb{R}^s$  defined as

$$q(x) = B(x, x)$$

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$ .

Both forms are of great importance for the representation theory of A. The *Grothendieck group*  $K_0(A)$  of an algebra A makes A-modules approachable for q and B. Namely, let G be the free abelian group generated by the isomorphism classes [X] for  $X \in \text{mod}(A)$ . Then, the Grothendieck group is the factor group G/H where H is generated by the elements [X] - [Y] + [Z] for all short exact sequences  $0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$ . Now we have a bijection

$$\underline{\dim}: K_0(A) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Z}^s, [M] \mapsto (m_1, \dots, m_s)$$

where  $m_j$  is the multiplicity of the simple module  $S_j$  as a composition factor of M.

We call  $\underline{\dim}([M]) = \underline{\dim}(M)$  the dimension vector or the dimension type of M. There is another way to express  $\underline{\dim}(M)$  and we will use this later in this thesis, namely

$$(\underline{\dim}(M))_i = \dim_{\operatorname{End}(P_i)} \operatorname{Hom}(P_i, M)$$

for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ . See for instance [12, Lemma 1.7.6].

It is very convenient that in this homological context and if A is hereditary, the bilinear form B simplifies to

 $B(\underline{\dim}(M),\underline{\dim}(N)) = \underline{\dim}_k \operatorname{Hom}_A(M,N) - \underline{\dim}_k \operatorname{Ext}_A^1(M,N)$ 

for A-modules M, N.

Having this connection in mind, we can state how the quadratic form q determines the representation type of A.

THEOREM 4.1. Let A be a finite-dimensional hereditary algebra, let  $(\Gamma, d)$ be the associated valued diagram and let  $q: \mathbb{R}^s \to \mathbb{R}$  be the associated quadratic form. Then,

- (1) A is of finite representation type  $\Leftrightarrow q$  is positive definite  $\Leftrightarrow (\Gamma, d)$  is a Dynkin diagram,
- (2) A is of tame representation type  $\Leftrightarrow$  q is positive semidefinite but not definite  $\Leftrightarrow$  ( $\Gamma$ , d) is an extended Dynkin diagram.

PROOF. The relation between the quadratic form and the diagram in both cases can be derived from Theorems 1 and 4 of [22, Chapter VI].

The other equivalence is for finite representation type well-known as Gabriel's Theorem. One finds a proof in [10, Theorem 3.6].

Concerning tame representation type, we may leave the property of having a semidefinite but not definite quadratic form as a definition of tame type as Ringel does in [75].

Here is a complete list of Dynkin and extended Dynkin diagrams.

Dynkin diagrams.





Extended Dynkin diagrams.





REMARK 4.2. If we assume the field k to be perfect, then Gabriel points out in [42, Section 8] that mod(A) is Morita equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional representations of the valued graph  $(\Gamma, d)$ . We will talk about these representations further down.

Moreover, it is well-known that if the field is algebraically closed, then we may associate an actual quiver to the algebra instead of a valued oriented graph. In fact, each finite-dimensional hereditary basic algebra over an algebraically closed field is isomorphic to the path algebra of a finite acyclic quiver. For algebras of finite or tame representation type these quivers have underlying diagrams  $A_n, D_n, E_6, E_7, E_8$  or  $\tilde{A}_n, \tilde{D}_n, \tilde{E}_6, \tilde{E}_7, \tilde{E}_8$ , respectively.

#### 2. The Weyl group and roots

In the cases described in the remark above the indecomposable modules can by completely described by their dimension type. This is done by the root system of the corresponding diagram. The definition of this needs some preparation. Note that all the definitions apply to an arbitrary hereditary algebra using its associated diagram. This is going to be important for the introduction of noncrossing partitions.

Let  $(\Gamma, d)$  be a valued graph and B(-, -) its associated bilinear form. For every vertex  $i \in \Gamma$  we define a *simple reflection*  $s_i \colon \mathbb{R}^s \to \mathbb{R}^s$  by

$$s_i(x) = x - 2\frac{B(x, e_i)}{B(e_i, e_i)}e_i$$

where  $e_i$  is the vector with *i*th entry 1 and 0 elsewhere.

DEFINITION 4.3. The Weyl group  $W = W_{\Gamma}$  associated to  $\Gamma$  is the group of linear transformations of  $\mathbb{R}^s$  generated by the simple reflections  $s_i, i \in \Gamma$ .

An important element of the Weyl group is the following. A product of all simple reflections of W is called a *Coxeter element* of W. Two different Coxeter elements (coming from a different order of the simple reflections) are conjugate to each other (see [4, Lemma 2.6.2]). If we fix the following regulation for the order, the Coxeter element is uniquely determined. Namely, we call a numbering of the vertex set of  $\vec{\Gamma}$  admissible if the following rule holds. If there is an arrow  $j \to i$ , then j > i. We may reorder our vertex set  $\{1, \ldots, s\}$  to an admissible one if necessary. Indeed, this is always possible if there are no oriented cycles. The Coxeter elements coming from two different admissible numberings are equal. See for instance [7, VII.4]. DEFINITION 4.4. Let  $\{1, \ldots, s\}$  be an admissible numbering of  $\vec{\Gamma}$ . Then, we call

 $c = s_1 \cdots s_s$ 

the Coxeter transformation.

This has an important homological meaning. As in [36] one could define the Auslander-Reiten translation  $\tau$  via a product of *Coxeter functors* according to an admissible numbering. This explains the idea of the fact that

 $\underline{\dim}(\tau(M)) = c \underline{\dim}(M)$  and  $\underline{\dim}(\tau^{-1}(N)) = c^{-1}(\underline{\dim}(N))$ 

for all  $M \in \text{mod}(A)$  not projective and  $N \in \text{mod}(A)$  not injective. For the indecomposable projectives one gets  $c \underline{\dim}(P_i) = -\underline{\dim}(I_i)$ . This fits together with the picture that  $\tau(P_i) = \Sigma^{-1}(I_i)$  in the derived category.

DEFINITION 4.5. A vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$  is called *positive* if  $x_i \ge 0$  for all *i*. It is called *sincere* if all its components are non-zero.

A vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$  is called a *real root* if it is of the form  $w(e_i)$  for some  $w \in W$  and some  $i \in \Gamma$ .

An important class of indecomposable modules whose dimension vector is a real root is given by the exceptional ones.

THEOREM 4.6 (Ringel [76], Corollary 2). Let X be an indecomposable A-module with  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(X, X) = 0$ , then  $\underline{\dim}(X)$  is a real root.

THEOREM 4.7 (Ringel [75]). Let q be a quadratic form associated to a tame hereditary algebra. Then, q vanishes precisely on a one-dimensional subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^s$  generated by a sincere vector h.

DEFINITION 4.8. We call an indecomposable module X homogeneous if  $\underline{\dim}(X)$  is a multiple of h.

In [75] one finds the precise values for h but this is not relevant for us. It is only important that h is sincere.

If the module category of the algebra is equivalent to the category of representations of its associated graph, then we can even make the following statement. For the moment denote the category of finite-dimensional representations of the valued graph  $\Gamma = (\Gamma, d)$  by  $\mathcal{L}(\Gamma)$ . For the precise definition of this see Section 4 below in this chapter.

THEOREM 4.9 (Dlab, Ringel [36]). Let A be an algebra such that mod(A) is equivalent to  $\mathcal{L}(\Gamma)$  for a valued graph  $\Gamma$ .

If  $\Gamma$  is Dynkin, then <u>dim</u> induces a bijective correspondence between the positive real roots of  $\Gamma$  and the indecomposable A-modules.

If  $\Gamma$  is extended Dynkin, then, <u>dim</u> induces a bijective correspondence between the positive real roots of  $\Gamma$  and the indecomposable non-homogeneous A-modules.

REMARK 4.10. In the context of the theorem we also have that a positive vector v is a real root if and only if q(v) = 1 which is maybe the more famous definition of a real root. See for instance [55, Lemma 2.1].
#### 3. Preprojective, regular and preinjective modules

The structure of the module category of a hereditary algebra A is very well understood in terms of its Auslander-Reiten quiver. This holds in particular if A is of finite or tame representation type. Recall from Chapter 2.3 the basics about Auslander-Reiten theory.

DEFINITION 4.11. An indecomposable module X of finite length is called preprojective if  $X \cong \tau^{-n}(P)$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and some indecomposable projective P. Analogously, X is called *preinjective* if  $X \cong \tau^n(I)$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and some indecomposable injective module I.

Finally, X is called *regular* if it is neither preprojective nor preinjective. We call an arbitrary module regular if it does not have preprojective or preinjective direct summands.

In any case, the preprojective and the preinjective modules are classified by a countable series of modules  $\tau^{-n}(P_i)$  and  $\tau^n(I_i)$  where  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ .

If the algebra is of finite representation type, then there are no regular modules and the preprojective and the preinjective modules coincide.

If the algebra is of tame representation type, then one knows the structure of its regular part completely.

THEOREM 4.12 (Ringel [75]). Let A be a tame hereditary algebra. The regular A-modules of finite length form an exact abelian extension-closed subcategory  $\mathcal{R}$  of mod(A).

Since  $\mathcal{R}$  is abelian, we can consider simple objects and composition series within  $\mathcal{R}$ . We call a module *simple regular* if it is regular and simple in  $\mathcal{R}$ . Analogously, we define the *regular socle* and the *regular length* of an object in  $\mathcal{R}$ .

THEOREM 4.13 (Ringel [75]). Let T be the set of orbits of simple regular modules under the action of  $\tau$ . All these orbits are finite and all but at most three of them are one element sets.

The regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  decomposes as the direct sum of uniserial categories  $\mathcal{R}_t$  where t runs through T.

We call the smallest natural number r such that  $\tau^r(R) \cong R$  for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}_i$  the rank of the factor  $\mathcal{R}_i$ . For later considerations we specify the notation of the above decomposition to

$$\mathcal{R} = \prod_{j \in J} \mathcal{H}_j imes \prod_{i=1}^s \mathcal{U}_{n_i}.$$

Here  $\mathcal{H}_j$  are the factors of rank 1 and  $\mathcal{U}_{n_i}$  are the *s* (at most three) factors of rank  $n_i$  greater than 1. Hence, the index set *J* arises from *T*. In general, *J* is not easy to describe. But if the field *k* is algebraically closed, then it can be identified with the points of the projective line  $P_1(k)$  over k.

Since  $\mathcal{R}$  is uniserial, its indecomposable modules are up to isomorphism uniquely determined by its regular socle S and its regular length n. Denote such a module by  $S_{[n]}$ . Analogously,  $S^{[n]}$  denotes the module with regular top S and regular length n. With this notation in hand, we can state some facts about the structure of  $\mathcal{R}$ . We do this in the general setting of a uniserial category.

PROPOSITION 4.14 (Chen-Krause [30]). Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be a uniserial category. For a morphism  $\phi: A \to B$  between indecomposable objects, the following are equivalent:

- (1) The morphism  $\phi$  is irreducible.
- (2) There exists a simple object S and an integer n such that  $\phi$  is, up to isomorphism, of the form  $S_{[n]} \rightarrow S_{[n+1]}$  or  $S^{[n+1]} \rightarrow S^{[n]}$ .  $\Box$

PROPOSITION 4.15 (Chen-Krause [30]). Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be a connected Hom-finite k-linear uniserial length category admitting a Serre-functor  $\tau$ . Suppose that  $\mathcal{U}$  has  $m < \infty$  simple objects. Then, the Ext-quiver of  $\mathcal{U}$  is of type  $\tilde{A}_m$  (with cyclic orientation).

This means that we may enumerate the simple objects of a connected component of our category by  $R_1, \ldots, R_m$  where  $\tau(R_i) = R_{i+1}$  for  $1 \le i < m$ and  $\tau(R_m) = R_1$ , and for these simples we have

 $\dim_{\operatorname{End}(R_i)}\operatorname{Ext}^1(R_i, R_{i+1}) = 1$  for  $1 \le i < m$ ,  $\dim_{\operatorname{End}(R_m)}\operatorname{Ext}^1(R_m, R_1) = 1$ , and there are no non-trivial extensions between simple objects in all other constellations.

Together with the above properties this shows that the Auslander-Reiten quiver of a connected component of  $\mathcal{R}$  with m simple objects is a tube  $\mathbb{Z}A_{\infty}/\langle \tau^m \rangle$ .

Finally, we should think about the position of the elements in the regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  within the root system. Let  $S_{[j]}$  be an indecomposable element in a uniserial connected component of  $\mathcal{R}$  of rank n. Then, again by [75] this is homogeneous if and only if j is an integer multiple of the rank n.

Above we already established the name  $\mathcal{R}$  for the regular part of the category mod(A). In the same manner, we denote by  $\mathcal{P}$  the preprojective and by  $\mathcal{Q}$  the preinjective part. To complete the picture, the next proposition explains the vanishing or not vanishing of morphisms and extensions between the different parts.

PROPOSITION 4.16. Let A be a tame hereditary algebra with  $\mathcal{P}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}$ ,  $\mathcal{Q}$  the preprojective, regular and preinjective part of mod(A). Then,

$$Hom(\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{P}) = 0 = Ext^{1}(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}),$$
$$Hom(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{P}) = 0 = Ext^{1}(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{R}),$$
$$Hom(\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}) = 0 = Ext^{1}(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{Q}).$$

PROOF. We only prove the first assertion, the rest is dual. The proof is taken from [**32**, Section 7] for path algebras but as we will see now there are no difficulties to adapt it. Let  $X \in \mathcal{Q}$  and  $Y \in \mathcal{P}$  indecomposable. Since X is not projective we have  $X \cong \tau^{-i}\tau^i(X)$  for  $i \ge 0$ . Thus,

$$\operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\tau^{-i}\tau^{i}(X),Y) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\tau^{i}(X),\tau^{i}(Y))$$

for a suitable  $i \ge 0$  such that  $\tau^i(Y)$  is projective. If  $\phi: \tau^i(X) \to \tau^i(Y)$  was a non-zero morphism, then  $\operatorname{Im}(\phi)$  would be non-zero projective since the category is hereditary, but then  $\operatorname{Im}(\phi)$  would be a direct summand of  $\tau^i(X)$ . This would imply  $\tau^i(X) \cong \operatorname{Im}(\phi)$  since  $\tau^i(X)$  is indecomposable. This is a contradiction since  $\tau^i(X)$  is not projective. Hence,  $\operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) = 0$ .

Also 
$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(Y, X) \cong D \operatorname{Hom}(\tau^{-}(X), Y) = 0.$$

Altogether this leads to the following picture of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

$$\cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[-1]} \cdots \underbrace{\mathcal{Q}_{[-1]}}_{\mathcal{P}[0]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[0]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[0]} \cdots \underbrace{\mathcal{Q}_{[0]}}_{\mathcal{R}[0]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[1]} \cdots$$

The order of the parts in this picture comes from the existence of non-zero morphisms between the parts. The picture is supposed to suggest that the only non-zero morphisms are from left to right.

Also the picture gives an idea of what we mean by a regular object of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  from now on.

# 4. Representations of valued graphs and quivers

As mentioned above, in certain situations all modules of a hereditary algebra correspond to representations of valued graphs or quivers. Here is briefly the definition of the category of representations. A reference for this is [**36**].

DEFINITION 4.17. A valued graph  $(\Gamma, d)$  is a finite set of vertices together with non-negative integers  $d_{ij}$  for all pairs  $i, j \in \Gamma$  such that  $d_{ii} = 0$  and subject to the condition that there exist non-zero natural numbers  $f_i$  satisfying  $d_{ij}f_j = d_{ji}f_i \ \forall i, j \in \Gamma$ . We call pairs i, j with  $d_{ij} \neq 0$  edges.

An orientation  $\Omega$  of a valued graph  $(\Gamma, d)$  is given by prescribing, for each edge i, j an order (indicated by an arrow  $i \to j$ ).

A k-modulation  $\mathcal{M}$  of a valued graph  $(\Gamma, d)$  is a set of division rings  $F_i$ ,  $i \in \Gamma$ , together with an  $F_i$ - $F_j$ -bimodule  ${}_iM_j$  and an  $F_j$ - $F_i$ -bimodule  ${}_jM_i$  for all edges i, j of  $(\Gamma, d)$  such that

(1) each  $F_i$  contains k in its center and  $[F_i:k] < \infty$  for all i,

- (2) k operates centrally on each  $_iM_j$ ,
- (3) there are  $F_j$ - $F_i$ -bimodule isomorphisms

 $_{j}M_{i} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{F_{i}}(_{i}M_{j}, F_{i}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{F_{j}}(_{i}M_{j}, F_{j}),$ 

(4)  $\dim_{F_i}({}_iM_j) = d_{ij}.$ 

A k-species  $(\mathcal{M}, \Omega)$  of a valued graph  $(\Gamma, d)$  is a k-modulation  $\mathcal{M}$  of  $(\Gamma, d)$  together with an admissible orientation.

DEFINITION 4.18. A representation  $X = (X_i, j\varphi_i)$  of a k-species  $(\mathcal{M}, \Omega)$  of  $(\Gamma, d)$  is a set of finite-dimensional right  $F_i$ -spaces  $X_i, i \in \Gamma$ , together with  $F_i$ -linear mappings

$$_j\varphi_i\colon X_i\otimes_{F_i} {}_iM_j\to X_j$$

for all oriented edges  $i \to j$ .

A morphism  $\alpha \colon X \to X', X = (X_i, j\varphi_i), X' = (X'_i, j\varphi'_i)$ , of representations is defined as a set  $\alpha = (\alpha_i)$  of  $F_i$ -linear mappings  $\alpha_i \colon X_i \to X'_i, i \in \Gamma$ , satisfying

$$_{j}\varphi_{i}^{\prime}(\alpha_{i}\otimes 1)=\alpha_{j}(_{j}\varphi_{i})$$

for all  $i \to j$ .

The representations of a k-species  $(\mathcal{M}, \Omega)$  form an abelian category which we denote by  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{M}, \Omega) =: \mathcal{L}$ . In  $\mathcal{L}$  each object has finite length and admits a decomposition into indecomposable objects.

Clearly, if we have an algebra A such that  $\text{mod}(A) \cong \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{M}, \Omega)$  for some oriented graph and some modulation, then the graph is the one we get out of the algebra as described in Section 1 at the head of this chapter.

REMARK 4.19. A quiver and its representations is a particular case of the definition above. A quiver is an oriented graph without the valuation and a representation of a quiver is a tuple of finite-dimensional vector spaces corresponding to the vertices and linear maps between these vector spaces corresponding to arrows of the quiver. The category of finite-dimensional representations of a quiver is equivalent to mod(A) where A is the path algebra of the quiver.

# CHAPTER 5

# Noncrossing partitions

The purpose of this chapter is to introduce the relevant background about noncrossing partitions and their combinatorics. Noncrossing partitions are the tool to classify thick subcategories in this thesis.

We start with an arbitrary Coxeter group W, i.e. a group with presentation

$$\langle s_1, \ldots, s_n \mid (s_i s_j)^{m_{ij}} = 1 \rangle$$

where  $m_{ii} = 1$ ,  $m_{ij} \ge 2$  for  $i \ne j$  and  $m_{ij} = \infty$  if there is no such relation. We call the generating set  $S := \{s_1, \ldots, s_n\}$  the set of *simple reflections*. Next, let  $R := \{wsw^{-1} \mid w \in W, s \in S\}$  be the set of *reflections*. For  $w \in W$ we define the *absolute length* l(w) to be the shortest expression of w as a product of elements in R. This differs from the usual notion of length in Wwhich is the shortest expression of W as a product of elements in S. With respect to the absolute length we define a partial order  $\le$  on W via the rule

$$v \le w \Leftrightarrow l(v) + l(v^{-1}w) = l(w)$$

for  $v, w \in W$ . We call this order the *absolute order*.

A Coxeter element c is a product of the simple reflections in some order. The Coxeter number h is the order of an Coxeter element. Since different Coxeter elements are conjugate to each other, the Coxeter number does not depend on the chosen Coxeter element.

The following definition is due to Brady/Watt [24] and Bessis [16].

DEFINITION 5.1. For a Coxeter group W and a Coxeter element c the set of *noncrossing partitions* with respect to W and c is defined as

$$NC(W,c) := \{ w \in W \mid id \le w \le c \}$$

In the context of this thesis, W is given by a Weyl group  $W_{\Gamma}$  associated with a graph  $\Gamma$  which is in turn associated with a finite-dimensional k-algebra. We discussed this in Chapter 4. Recall that here the simple reflections are given by  $s_i(x) = x - 2 \frac{B(x,e_i)}{B(e_i,e_i)} e_i$  for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$  according to the vertices i of  $\Gamma$ . For such a reflection group we can name the reflections in R explicitly. Namely, there is a bijective correspondence between the positive real roots and the reflections. The Bijection sends a positive real root  $\beta = w(e_i)$  to  $s_\beta$  where

$$s_{\beta}(x) = x - 2 \frac{B(x,\beta)}{B(\beta,\beta)} \beta$$

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$ . Of course, for simple roots this yields  $s_{e_i} = s_i$ . The correspondence works out since by [51, Section 1.2] for a non-zero vector  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^s$  and  $w \in W$  we have

$$s_{w(\alpha)} = w s_{\alpha} w^{-}$$

and hence  $s_{\beta} = s_{w(e_i)} = w s_i w^{-1} \in R$ .

For  $\Gamma = A_{s-1}$  together with a certain orientation the above definition of noncrossing partitions coincides with the original definition of noncrossing partitions of the set  $\{1, \ldots, s\}$  due to Kreweras [61] which also motivates the name. In fact, this is a very useful intuitive description of the elements in NC( $W_{\Gamma}, c$ ). Next to  $A_n$ , one has something similar for  $\Gamma$  of type  $B_n$  and  $D_n$ . The next three sections are devoted to these cases.

# **1.** The $A_n$ -type

In order to motivate this description, we need to slightly change the context to actual *real reflection groups*. This is the original geometric approach to reflection groups motivated by the classification of semisimple Lie algebras.

For the definitions concerning reflection groups we keep with [51].

Let  $\Phi$  be a finite generating set in the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with inner product  $(x, y) = \sum_{i=1}^n x_i y_i$  for  $x = (x_i), y = (y_i) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . For  $\alpha \in \Phi$  define

$$s_{\alpha}(x) = x - 2 \frac{(x,\alpha)}{(\alpha,\alpha)} \alpha$$

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . This is the reflection in the hyperplane

$$H_{\alpha} := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid (x, \alpha) = 0 \}$$

orthogonal to  $\alpha$ . Then,  $\Phi$  is called a *root system* if

- $\Phi \cap \mathbb{R}\alpha = \{\alpha, -\alpha\}$  for all  $\alpha \in \Phi$ , and
- $s_{\alpha}(\Phi) = \Phi$  for all  $\alpha \in \Phi$ ,
- $2\frac{(\alpha,\beta)}{(\alpha,\alpha)} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \Phi$ .

Then,  $W = W(\Phi)$  is the subgroup of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  generated by the reflections  $s_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha \in \Phi$ .

The connection from reflection groups to Coxeter groups is the following. To a Coxeter group  $W = \langle s_1, \ldots, s_n \mid (s_i s_j)^{m_{ij}} = 1 \rangle$  one defines a Coxeter diagram with vertices corresponding to the simple reflections and edges depending on the numbers  $m_{ij}$  in a certain way (see [51, Chapter 2.1]). Then, the finite irreducible Coxeter groups are precisely those with Coxeter diagram of *Coxeter-Dynkin type*. These are precisely the Dynkin diagrams listed above plus the exceptional diagrams

$$H_3 \quad \bullet \underbrace{-5}_{5} \bullet,$$

$$H_4 \quad \bullet \underbrace{-5}_{2} \bullet,$$

$$I_2(m) \quad \bullet \underbrace{-m}_{m} \bullet.$$

To a Coxeter diagram  $\Gamma$  in turn, one can define a root system  $\Phi$  such that  $W(\Phi)$  is isomorphic to the original Coxeter group W. Also, this is isomorphic to the Weyl group  $W_{\Gamma}$  associated with a Dynkin diagram  $\Gamma$ . Note that in this geometrical context here the roots and reflections are not necessarily precisely the same as defined in Chapter 4, but the two concepts correspond to each other.

For a Coxeter group of type  $A_n$  this means concretely the following. A reference for this is [51, Chapter 2.10]. Let V be the subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  for

which the coordinates sum to zero. Let  $\Phi$  be the set of vectors of squared length 2. Then,  $\Phi$  consists of the vectors

$$e_i - e_j$$
 for  $1 \le i \ne j \le n+1$ 

and  $\Phi$  forms a root system. For a root  $\alpha = e_i - e_j \in \Phi$  the reflection  $s_\alpha$ is the reflection in the hyperplane  $H_\alpha = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \mid x_i = x_j\}$  or shortly  $H_\alpha = \{x_i = x_j\}$ . For two roots  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , the product  $s_\alpha s_\beta$  is a rotation fixing the intersection  $H_\alpha \cap H_\beta$ .

Let  $\Pi^A(n+1)$  be the poset of intersection subspaces of the hyperplanes of the root system  $\Phi$ . By the particular shape of the hyperplanes we can view these intersection subspaces as partitions w of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n+1\}$  into disjoint blocks. For example for n+1 = 6 the intersection  $\{x_1 = x_4\} \cap \{x_4 = x_5\} \cap \{x_2 = x_6\} = \{x_1 = x_4 = x_5\} \cap \{x_2 = x_6\}$  corresponds to the partition  $\{1, 4, 5\} \cup \{2, 6\} \cup \{3\}$ .

Up to now, everything we defined in this section was supposed to give an understanding for the following connection. The following is actually relevant for later calculations.

We place the numbers 1, 2, ..., n + 1 clockwise around a circle in order (n + 1 adjacent to 1) and we draw a chord of the circle between i and j if they are in the same block of w and no other elements strictly between them when going clockwise from i to j around the circle are also in this block. Then, NC<sup>A</sup>(n + 1) consists of the elements of  $\Pi^A(n + 1)$  in which all these chords may be drawn without crossing each other.



FIGURE 1. A noncrossing and a crossing partition of  $\{1, \ldots, 6\}$ .

From now on we fix the following numbering of  $A_n$ 

 $1 - 2 - \cdots - n - 1 - n$ 

and according to this a Coxeter element  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$ .

Let  $W = W_{A_n}$  be the corresponding Weyl group. Identify the simple reflection  $s_i \in W$  with the transposition (i, i + 1) for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  in the symmetric group  $S_{n+1}$ . This yields an isomorphism  $W_{A_n} \cong S_{n+1}$ . One can easily check the relations for  $W_{A_n}$ .

THEOREM 5.2 (Brady [23], Chapter 3). There is a bijection

$$f: \operatorname{NC}(W_{A_n}, c) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{NC}^A(n+1).$$

Write  $w \in NC(W_{A_n}, c) \subset S_{n+1}$  as a product of disjoint cycles. Then, f(w) is the disjoint union of blocks formed by these cycles.

EXAMPLE 5.3. Let n = 5 and consider  $v = (2,3)(1,4)(4,5) \in S_6$ . Then, one can check that  $l(v) + l(v^{-1}c) = 3 + 3 = 6 = l(c)$  and hence,  $v \in$  $NC(W_{A_6}, c)$ . This is sent to  $f(v) = \{2,3\} \cup \{1,4,5\} \cup \{6\}$  which corresponds to the noncrossing partition in the figure above.

## 2. The $D_n$ -type

Thanks to Reiner and Athanasiadis [8], there is a analogue description for the noncrossing partitions associated with a graph of type  $D_n$ .

In this section we fix the following numbering for  $D_n$ .



Let  $\Pi^D(n)$  the poset of intersection subspaces of the hyperplanes of the root system of type  $D_n$ , i.e. the integer vectors in  $V = \mathbb{R}^n$  of length  $\sqrt{2}$ . Choose as simple roots  $\alpha_i = e_i - e_{i+1}$  for  $1 \leq i < n$  and  $\alpha_n = e_{n-1} + e_n$ . Hence, the root system  $\Phi$  consists of vectors  $\pm e_i \pm e_j$  for  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$ . Then, the hyperplanes orthogonal to these roots are of the form

$$\{x_i = \pm x_j \mid 1 \le i < j \le n\}.$$

Thus, we can consider the elements of  $\Pi^D(n)$  as partitions w of the set  $[\pm n] = \{1, 2, \ldots, n, -1, -2, \ldots, -n, \}$  into blocks such that

- if B is a block, then also -B is a block,
- there is at most one zero block, i.e. a block containing both i and -i,
- the zero block, if present, does not consist of a single pair  $\{i, -i\}$ .

We call those elements  $D_n$ -partitions.

Now draw the numbers

$$1, \ldots, n-1, -1, \ldots, -(n-1)$$

clockwise around a circle and label its centroid by n and -n. Given a  $D_n$ -partition w and a block B of w, let con(B) denote the convex hull of the set of points labeled with the elements of B. Two distinct blocks B and B' of w are said to cross if con(B) and con(B') do not coincide and one of them contains a point of the other in its relative interior.

The poset  $NC^{D}(n)$  is defined as the  $D_{n}$ -partitions w with the property that no two blocks of w cross.

In order to make the visualisation of the  $D_n$ -partitions well-defined, we additionally label the convex hull of a non-zero block containing n or -n by + or -, respectively.



FIGURE 2. Examples for noncrossing  $D_5$ -partitions.

The Weyl group associated with  $D_n$  looks as follows. Denote by  $S_{2n}$  the symmetric group on  $[\pm n]$ . For  $i \neq -j$  we write ((i, j)) = (i, j)(-i, -j). By identifying the simple reflections  $s_i$  in  $W_{D_n}$  with ((i, i+1)) for i < n and  $s_n$  with ((-(n-1), n)), we get that the Weyl group  $W_{D_n}$  is isomorphic to the subgroup of  $S_{2n}$  generated by the reflections ((i, j)) for  $i \neq -j$ .

For a cycle  $z = (i_1, \ldots, i_k)$  in  $S_{2n}$  denote by  $\overline{z}$  the cycle  $(-i_1, \ldots, -i_k)$ . We call  $z\overline{z}$  a *paired cycle* if z and  $\overline{z}$  are disjoint whereas a cycle  $z = \overline{z} = (i_1, \ldots, i_k, -i_1, \ldots, -i_k)$  is called a *balanced cycle*.

One can show that each element of  $W_{D_n}$  is a product of disjoint paired and balanced cycles.

Fix a Coxeter element  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$ .

THEOREM 5.4 (Athanasiadis/Reiner [8]). There is a bijection

$$f: \operatorname{NC}(W_{D_n}, c) \to \operatorname{NC}^D(n).$$

For  $w \in NC(W_{D_n}, c)$ , f(w) is the partition of  $[\pm n]$ 

- whose nonzero blocks are formed by the paired cycles of w and
- whose zero block is the union of the elements of all balanced cycles of w if such exist.

The inverse  $g: \operatorname{NC}^{D}(n) \to \operatorname{NC}(W_{D_n}, c)$  maps a partition w to the product of disjoint cycles g(w)

- whose paired cycles are formed by the nonzero blocks of w, each ordered with respect to the order  $-1, -2, \ldots, -n, 1, 2, \ldots, n$  and
- whose balanced cycles are (n, -n) and the cycle formed by the entries of the zero block of w other than n and -n ordered as above, if the zero block exists.

## **3.** The $B_n$ -type

Again as in [51, Chapter 2.10] we choose  $V = \mathbb{R}^n$  and as a root system  $\Phi$ the set of all vectors of squared length 1 or 2. Then,  $\Phi$  consists of the vectors  $\pm e_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  and  $\pm e_i \pm e_j$  for  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$ . Thus, the hyperplanes orthogonal to these roots are of the form  $\{x_i = 0\}$  and  $\{x_i = \pm x_j\}$ . Hence,  $\Pi^B(n)$  is defined as  $\Pi^D(n)$  except that the zero block might consist of a single pair  $\{i, -i\}$ .

Then, we draw the numbers  $1, \ldots, n, -1, \ldots, -n$  clockwise around a circle and define  $NC^B(n)$  to be the set of partitions in  $\Pi^B(n)$  which do not cross when visualised in this circle. This description goes back to Reiner [69].



FIGURE 3. Examples for noncrossing  $B_4$ -partition

As the picture suggests,  $NC^B(n)$  is the same as the subset of  $NC^A(2n)$  consisting of those  $A_{2n}$ -partitions which are invariant under rotation by  $\pi$ . More generally, the following holds. PROPOSITION 5.5 (Reiner [69], Proposition 1). Let  $n, s \geq 2$  be integers. The subset of elements of NC<sup>A</sup>(sn) invariant under rotation by  $\frac{2\pi}{s}$  is isomorphic to NC<sup>B</sup>(n).

It is also this relationship to the  $A_{2n}$ -case which gives a bijection between  $NC^B(n)$  and  $NC(W_{B_n}, c)$  for a suitable choice of the numbering of  $B_n$  and c. This is done in [19].

#### 4. The lattice structure and the Kreweras complement

Recall that a lattice is a partially ordered set in which any two elements have a unique supremum and a unique infimum.

The set of noncrossing partitions is a partially ordered set by means of the absolute order on W. Is it also a lattice? This is quite clear for the classical cases A, B and D where one can use the alternative descriptions of NC(W, c) described above. For  $NC^{A}(n)$  Kreweras showed in [61] the lattice property. Here the meet of two partitions is the intersection and the join is the *noncrossing closure*, i.e. we join blocks of the two partitions which would otherwise cross.

For arbitrary Coxeter groups the problem was surprisingly hard to solve. Finally it was done by Brady and Watt in the finite case.

THEOREM 5.6 (Brady/Watt [23], Theorem 7.8). Let W be a finite real reflection group and let c be a Coxeter element. Then, NC(W, c) is a lattice.

An important construction in this context is the following

DEFINITION 5.7. Let W be a Coxeter group and let c be a Coxeter element. For an element  $w \in W$  the element  $K^c(w) := w^{-1}c$  is called the Kreweras complement.

This defines an order-reversing map from the poset NC(W, c) into itself. Moreover, the Kreweras complement is actually a complement.

THEOREM 5.8 (Armstrong [4], Theorem 2.6.14). Let W be a finite Coxeter group and let c be a Coxeter element. Let  $w \in NC(W, c)$ . Then,

$$w \lor K^{c}(w) = c \text{ and } w \land K^{c}(w) = \mathrm{id}.$$

That is,  $K^{c}(w)$  is the lattice complement of w in NC(W, c).

In the lattice  $NC^{A}(n)$  there is an explicit construction of the Kreweras complement which is compatible with the above general definition. In fact, this is the original Kreweras complement due to Kreweras. Let  $w \in NC^{A}(n)$ . Draw primed numbers  $1', \ldots, n'$  clockwise around a circle so that the primed numbers interlace the unprimed numbers  $1, \ldots, n$ . Then, K(w) is the unique maximal partition of  $\{1', \ldots, n'\}$  such that  $w \cup K(w)$  is a noncrossing partition of  $\{1, 1', 2, 2', \ldots, n, n'\}$ . Forgetting the primes, we obtain an element  $K(w) \in NC^{A}(n)$ .

For example the Kreweras complement of  $\{1, 4, 5\} \cup \{2, 3\} \cup \{6\}$  in NC<sup>A</sup>(6) is equal to  $\{1, 3\} \cup \{2\} \cup \{4\} \cup \{5, 6\}$ .

This is confirmed by a quick calculation in  $\mathcal{S}_6$ , namely

$$((1,4,5)(2,3))^{-1}(1,2,3,4,5,6) = (1,3)(5,6).$$



# 5. Counting noncrossing partitions and the cyclic sieving phenomenon

The number of elements in  $\mathrm{NC}^A(n)$  is a very famous number, the Catalan number

$$C_n = \frac{1}{n+1} \binom{2n}{n}.$$

This is generalisable to the number of elements in NC(W, c) for W a finite irreducible Coxeter group. For type  $B_n$  there are  $\operatorname{Cat}(B_n) := \binom{2n}{n}$ noncrossing partitions (see [**69**, Proposition 6]) and for type  $D_n$  there are  $\operatorname{Cat}(D_n) := \binom{2n}{n} - \binom{2n-2}{n-1}$  noncrossing partitions (see [**8**, Theorem 1.2]). But we cannot only count the number of all elements but also the number

But we cannot only count the number of all elements but also the number of certain invariant elements in NC(W, c). On the one hand, this is currently of great interest in combinatorics, and on the other hand, it will turn out to be relevant for the classification of thick subcategories further down in this thesis.

Independently from the whole topic of noncrossing partitions, Reiner, Stanton and White [68] defined the following phenomenon and identified it in many examples.

DEFINITION 5.9. Let X be a finite set, let G be a finite cyclic group acting on X and let  $f(q) \in \mathbb{N}[q]$  be a polynomial. For  $g \in G$  denote by  $X^g := \{x \in X \mid gx = x\}$  the fixed point set. The triple (X, G, f(q)) is said to exhibit the cyclic sieving phenomenon if for all  $g \in G$ 

$$\#X^g = f(z_{o(g)})$$

where o(g) denotes the order of g and  $z_d = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{d}}$  denotes the dth root of unity.

We have such a cyclic sieving phenomenon for noncrossing partitions. In order to define the polynomial in this context we need to go a bit further back in the theory of reflection groups. Out of the classification of finite irreducible complex reflection groups W on  $\mathbb{C}^n$  by Shephard and Todd [78], there arise certain invariants  $d_1 \leq \ldots \leq d_n$  called the *degrees* of W. The exact definition of the degrees is not relevant for this thesis and can be found in [78]. Any real reflection groups can be regarded as a complex reflection group and hence in particular, our finite irreducible Coxeter groups are complex reflection groups and we can associate to them the following degrees. This list is taken from [77].

Group	degrees
$A_n$	$2, 3, 4, \ldots, n+1$
$B_n, C_n$	$2, 4, 6, \ldots, 2n$
$D_n$	$2, 4, 6, \ldots, 2n-2$
$E_6$	2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 12
$E_7$	2, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 18
$E_8$	2, 8, 12, 14, 18, 20, 24, 30
$F_4$	2, 6, 8, 12
$H_3$	2, 6, 10
$H_4$	2, 12, 20, 30
$I_2(m)$	2,m

Now let W be a finite irreducible complex reflection group with degrees  $d_1, \ldots, d_n$ . We state the theorem in this generality but mostly think of W as of a finite irreducible Coxeter group. Define the *W*-q-Catalan number to be

$$\operatorname{Cat}(W,q) := \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[h+d_i]_q}{[d_i]_q}$$

where  $[n]_q := 1 + q + \ldots + q^{n-1}$  and  $h := d_n$ . Note that h is the Coxeter number for the finite Coxeter groups.

Let c be a Coxeter element. This acts on NC(W, c) by conjugation.

THEOREM 5.10 (Bessis/Reiner [17], Theorem 1.1). The triple

 $(NC(W, c), \langle c \rangle, Cat(W, q))$ 

exhibits the cyclic sieving phenomenon.

In order to keep this in mind, we should translate again what this actually means, namely for  $1 \le t \le h$ 

$$#(\mathrm{NC}(W,c))^{c^t} = \mathrm{Cat}(W, z_{o(c^t)})$$

where

$$(NC(W,c))^{c^t} = \{ w \in W \mid c^t w c^{-t} = w \}.$$

Of course for t = h these are all elements in NC(W, c) and its number is given by Cat(W, 1). Moreover, as one expects, Cat( $W_{A_n}$ , 1) =  $C_n$ .

Next, we figure out what conjugation by the Coxeter element means for the classical cases  $NC^A(n)$  and  $NC^D(n)$ . Recall from Theorem 5.2 the isomorphism  $f: NC(W_{A_{n-1}}, c) \to NC^A(n+1)$ . As in the context of this theorem we assume that  $A_n$  has the same numbering and we consider the same Coxeter element  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$  as there.

PROPOSITION 5.11. Let  $w \in NC(W_{A_n}, c)$  and let  $t \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then,  $f(c^t w c^{-t})$  is the partition f(w) rotated by  $t \frac{2\pi}{n+1}$ .

**PROOF.** The Coxeter element is of the form

$$c = s_1 \cdots s_n = (1, 2) \cdots (n, n+1) = (1, 2, 3, \dots, n+1).$$

We can write an element of  $NC(W_{A_n}, c) \subset S_{n+1}$  as a product of disjoint cycles. It is sufficient to observe the conjugation by the Coxeter element of

one of these cycles,

$$(1, 2, \dots, n+1)(p_1, p_2, \dots, p_k)(n+1, n, \dots, 2, 1) = ([p_1+1], \dots, [p_k+1]),$$

where  $[p_j + 1] = (p_j + 1) \mod(n+1)$  if  $p_j + 1 \neq n+1$  and  $[p_j + 1] = n+1$  otherwise, and we see that this is just the clockwise rotation.

REMARK 5.12. T. Araya [3] also observes this phenomenon concerning rotation of 'non-crossing spanning trees' which are in correspondence with exceptional sequences of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A}_n))$ .

In the  $D_n$ -case, simple rotation is not enough. Therefore, we introduce the following action on  $NC^D(n)$ .

DEFINITION 5.13. Let  $w \in \mathrm{NC}^D(n)$ . Denote by  $\rho: \mathrm{NC}^D(n) \to \mathrm{NC}^D(n)$ the rotation of w by  $\frac{\pi}{n-1}$  and denote by  $\sigma: \mathrm{NC}^D(n) \to \mathrm{NC}^D(n)$  the following operation: If  $w \in \mathrm{NC}^D(n)$  contains a non-zero block containing n or -n, the visualisation of this block is labeled by a sign + or -. Then,  $\sigma$  changes this sign. On blocks not containing n or -n or on zero-blocks  $\sigma$  acts like the identity.

Now let  $f: \operatorname{NC}(W_{D_n}, c) \to \operatorname{NC}^D(n)$  be as in Theorem 5.4 where  $D_n$  is numbered as there and where  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$ .

LEMMA 5.14. Let  $w \in NC(W_{D_n}, c)$  and let f(w) be the corresponding element in  $NC^D(n)$ . Then,

$$f(cwc^{-1}) = (\sigma\rho)(f(w)).$$

**PROOF.** The Coxeter element is given by

$$c = s_1 \cdots s_n = (1, 2, \dots, n-1, -1, \dots, -(n-1))(n, -n).$$

Let  $w \in NC(W_{\vec{D}_n}, c)$ . Then, f(w) is a disjoint union of blocks corresponding to a disjoint product w of cycles in  $S_{2n}$ . Thus, it is sufficient to consider the blocks separately.

If n is not contained in the block, conjugation by the Coxeter element of the corresponding cycle yields as in the  $A_n$ -case a rotation by  $\frac{2\pi}{2(n-1)} = \frac{\pi}{n-1}$ .

If n is contained in a non-zero block, this block corresponds to one part  $(i_1, \ldots, i_k)$  of a paired cycle with  $i_k = n$  and one can easily check that

$$c(i_1,\ldots,i_k)c^{-1}$$

is given by the 'rotated cycle' in which additionally n is replaced by -n.

If we have a zero-block, this corresponds to the balanced cycles (n, -n)and the cycle formed by the entries of the zero block other than n and -n. The latter conjugated by the Coxeter element is again given by the 'rotated cycle' and

$$c(n, -n)c^{-1} = (n, -n).$$

Hence, we get the 'rotated zero-block'.

## CHAPTER 6

# Thick subcategories for tame hereditary algebras

In this chapter we classify the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  where A is a hereditary algebra over a field k of finite or of tame representation type.

Recall from Chapters 4 and 2.4 the shape of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

$$\cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[-1]} \cdots \underbrace{\mathcal{Q}[-1]}_{\mathcal{P}[0]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[0]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[0]} \cdots \underbrace{\mathcal{Q}[0]}_{\mathcal{P}[1]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[1]} \cdots \bigcup_{\mathcal{R}[1]} \cdots$$

Moreover, recall from Chapter 2 the two notions of subcategories in this context, namely the *wide subcategories* of mod(A) and the *thick subcategories* of  $\mathcal{D}^b(mod(A))$ . By Theorem 2.29 they correspond to each other and therefore, we are allowed to jump between the two concepts if this is convenient.

Our classification is divided into two parts. First we present the classification of the thick subcategories generated by an exceptional sequence.

DEFINITION 6.1. An A-module X is called *exceptional* if X is indecomposable and  $\text{Ext}^1(X, X) = 0$ . A sequence  $(X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_r)$  of A-modules is called *exceptional* if each  $X_i$  is exceptional and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_A(X_j, X_i) = 0 = \operatorname{Ext}_A^1(X_j, X_i) \text{ for all } i < j.$$

Such a sequence is called *complete* if r equals the number of simple A-modules.

Thick subcategories generated by exceptional sequences are classified via noncrossing partitions. We denote the set of these thick subcategories by  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$ .

But not each thick subcategory is of this form. For example, let A be the Kronecker algebra. It is well-known that its regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  decomposes into a direct sum of uniserial categories of rank one. By Theorem 4.12,  $\mathcal{R}$  is a wide subcategory of mod(A) for each tame hereditary algebra and hence, it induces a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ . But none of the objects in  $\mathcal{R}$  is exceptional and thus, it is certainly not generated by an exceptional sequence.

Hence, in a second step, we classify the thick subcategories of the regular part  $\mathcal{R}$ .

Finally, we study how the two classes fit together and state the classification theorem about all thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

#### 1. Thick subcategories and noncrossing partitions

First of all, a remark on the history of this classification theorem. The first formulation is due to Ingalls and Thomas [53] in the context where A is a path algebra of a Dynkin or an extended Dynkin quiver. A generalisation of this is given by Igusa, Schiffler and Thomas in [52] for path algebras of arbitrary quivers over an algebraically closed field using braid group actions. The statement also holds without the assumption that the field is algebraically closed (see Krause [59]).

THEOREM 6.2 (Ingalls-Thomas, Igusa-Schiffler-Thomas, Krause). Let A be a hereditary k-algebra. Let  $\vec{\Gamma}$  be the associated valued oriented graph, let  $W = W_{\Gamma}$  be the associated Weyl group and let  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  be an admissible numbering of  $\vec{\Gamma}$ . Let c be the Coxeter transformation  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$ . There is an order preserving bijective correspondence between

- the set  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$  of thick subcategories  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  generated by an exceptional sequence in  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$ , and
- the set NC(W, c) of noncrossing partitions.

PROOF. For a detailed proof see [59].

We state some explanations concerning the above theorem.

- REMARK 6.3. (1) Note that originally, the formulation of Ingalls and Thomas was a bijection between the noncrossing partitions and the wide subcategories of  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$  but as mentioned these correspond to the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ . However, this explains why we speak of exceptional sequences in  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$  and also this explains how an exceptional sequence in  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$  generates a thick subcategory in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .
- (2) The correspondence of the theorem is given as follows. We denote it by cox. Let S be a thick subcategory generated by an exceptional sequence  $E = (E_1, \ldots, E_r)$ . Then

$$\cos(\mathcal{S}) := s_{E_1} \cdots s_{E_r}$$

where  $s_{E_i} = s_{\underline{\dim}(E_i)}$ . Recall from Chapter 5 that there is a bijection between reflections  $s_\beta$  and positive real roots  $\beta$ . Since  $E_i$  is exceptional,  $\underline{\dim}(E_i)$  is a positive real root by Theorem 4.6 and hence it makes sense to define cox like this.

(3) Note that if  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  is an admissible numbering, then the sequence of simple modules  $(S_1, \ldots, S_n)$  in this very order is an exceptional sequence. Thus, the whole category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  which is generated by this sequence corresponds to the Coxeter transformation c.

REMARK 6.4. If the algebra is of finite representation type, then one can easily see that each thick subcategory is generated by an exceptional sequence. Hence, for the finite type the classification is done at this point.

Observe that the theorem implies that for most of the Weyl groups which are not finite the poset of noncrossing partitions does not form a lattice with respect to the absolute order since  $\operatorname{Th}_{exc}(A)$  does not and since cox preserves the order of the posets. For instance, consider a tame hereditary algebra whose regular part admits a tube of rank 2 with regular simple modules  $R_1$ and  $R_2$ . These are exceptional modules and hence  $\operatorname{Thick}(R_1), \operatorname{Thick}(R_2) \in$  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$ . But  $\operatorname{Thick}(R_1) \vee \operatorname{Thick}(R_2) = \operatorname{Thick}(R_1, R_2)$  is the whole tube and we cannot find an exceptional sequence in it.

On the other hand, for finite Weyl groups it confirms the lattice property for NC(W, c) since here  $Th_{exc}(A)$  coincides with the set of all thick subcategories and this is a lattice.

An important construction in this context is the Kreweras complement introduced in Chapter 5. The next proposition is concerned with the corresponding operation on the level of thick subcategories.

PROPOSITION 6.5. Let A be a hereditary k-algebra, let  $\cos$ , c, W be as in Theorem 6.2. Let S be a thick subcategory which is generated by an exceptional sequence. Then,

$$K^c(\cos(\mathcal{S})) = \cos(^{\perp}\mathcal{S}).$$

This is exactly what one would expect since both the Kreweras complement and the perpendicular category are lattice complements as soon as the respective poset forms a lattice.

The proof of the above fact can be deduced from the definition of the Kreweras complement and the following important observation.

PROPOSITION 6.6 (Krause [59], Proposition 6.6). Let A be a hereditary k-algebra. Let S be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  which is generated by an exceptional sequence  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  in mod(A). Then, one can complete this to a complete exceptional sequence  $(E_1, \ldots, E_n)$  such that  $^{\perp}S = \text{Thick}(E_{r+1}, \ldots, E_n)$ .

**Braid group actions.** The key to the proof of Theorem 6.2 is the introduction of braid group actions on sequences of reflections and on exceptional sequences. The *braid group on n strands* has the following presentation

$$B_n := \langle \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{n-1} \mid \sigma_i \sigma_{i+1} \sigma_i = \sigma_{i+1} \sigma_i \sigma_{i+1}, \sigma_r \sigma_s = \sigma_s \sigma_r \rangle$$

where  $1 \le i \le n-2$  and  $|r-s| \ge 2$ . On the set of isomorphism classes of complete exceptional sequences of mod(A) this acts via

$$\sigma_i((X_1, \dots, X_n)) = (X_1, \dots, X_{i-1}, L, X_i, X_{i+2}, \dots, X_n)$$

for all  $1 \le i \le n-1$  where L is the unique module making the new sequence exceptional.

On the set of sequences of reflections  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  such that  $c = x_1 \cdots x_n$ ,  $B_n$  acts like this:

$$\sigma_i((x_1,\ldots,x_n)) = (x_1,\ldots,x_{i-1},x_ix_{i+1}x_i^{-1},x_i,x_{i+2},\ldots,x_n)$$

for all i.

THEOREM 6.7 (Crawley-Boevey [33], Ringel [76], Igusa-Schiffler [52]). Let A be a connected hereditary k-algebra with simple modules  $S_1, \ldots, S_n$ forming an exceptional sequence  $(S_1, \ldots, S_n)$ . Let W be the associated Weyl group and fix a Coxeter element  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$ . Then, the braid group  $B_n$  on n strings acts transitively on

• the isomorphism classes of complete exceptional sequences

$$(X_1,\ldots,X_n)$$

in mod(A), and

• the sequences  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  of reflections such that  $c = x_1 \cdots x_n$ . Moreover,  $\sigma(X_1, \ldots, X_n) = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_n)$  implies

$$\sigma(s_{X_1},\ldots,s_{X_n})=(s_{Y_1},\ldots,s_{Y_n})$$

for all  $\sigma \in B_n$ .

This means that we get all possible factorisations of the Coxeter element into reflections by starting with  $c = s_1 \cdots s_n$  and applying the braid group action. In particular, it gives us all noncrossing partitions as prefixes of these factorisations.

Moreover, it shows how to compute the inverse of the bijection cox. Namely, given  $w \in NC(W, c)$ . Write this as a product  $x_1 \cdots x_r$  of reflections. Since  $w \in NC(W, c)$ , we can extend this to a product of *n* reflections  $x_1 \cdots x_r x_{r+1} \cdots x_n$  factorising *c*. By the theorem, there is  $\sigma \in B_n$  such that  $\sigma((s_1, \ldots, s_n)) = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ . Apply the same  $\sigma$  to the exceptional sequence  $(S_1, \ldots, S_n)$  and denote the resulting exceptional sequence by  $(X_1, \ldots, X_n)$ . Setting  $\mathcal{S} := \text{Thick}(X_1, \ldots, X_r)$  we have

$$\cos(\mathcal{S}) = s_{X_1} \cdots s_{X_r} = x_1 \cdots x_r = w.$$

# 2. Thick subcategories of the regular part

Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be the subcategory of regular modules of mod(A). Recall from Chapter 4.3 that this is of the form

$$\mathcal{R} = \prod_{j \in J} \mathcal{H}_j \times \prod_{i=1}^s \mathcal{U}_{n_i}$$

where all the notations are as described there.

By Theorem 4.12 the regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  is a wide subcategory of mod(A)and hence it is an abelian category. Therefore, we may consider wide subcategories of  $\mathcal{R}$  and these are in turn wide subcategories of mod(A).

We call an object in  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  regular if it is isomorphic to some shift of a regular object in  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$ . By Theorem 2.29 and again 4.12, the regular objects of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  form a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ . We denote the set of thick subcategories of this thick subcategory by  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$ . Equivalently, this is the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  consisting only of regular objects. Moreover, it corresponds to the set of wide subcategories of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

The aim is to understand  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$ . In order to do so, we classify the wide subcategories of  $\mathcal{R}$ . We start with the wide subcategories of the uniserial direct factors of  $\mathcal{R}$  separately.

All the following is loosely based on Dichev's classification [34] of wide subcategories of the category of nilpotent representations of  $\tilde{A}_n$ .

DEFINITION 6.8. An indecomposable object X in an abelian category is called a *brick* if its endomorphism ring End(X) is a division ring. Two bricks X and X' are called *orthogonal* if Hom(X, X') = 0 = Hom(X', X).

52

DEFINITION 6.9. Place the numbers  $1, \ldots, n$  clockwise around a circle. An *arc* on the circle is a pair  $a = (i, j), i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Corresponding to an arc (i, j) we draw an arc clockwise around the circle from i to j. For an arc a = (i, j) we denote by s(a) = i its start and by e(a) = j its end point. Note that (i, j) is different from (j, i). If i = j we make the convention that (i, i) corresponds to an arc which circles the circle once.



FIGURE 1. Arcs (i, j), (j, i) and (i, i).

We say that two arcs cross if the corresponding arcs on the circle intersect whereas we make the following convention concerning the coincidence in one point. Two arcs a and b are not regarded as crossing if s(a) = e(b)or vice versa (and if they do not cross anywhere else), but they are crossing if s(a) = s(b) or e(a) = e(b).



FIGURE 2. The arcs (i, j), (r, s) in the figure cross, cross, do not cross, do not cross (from left to right).

Then, the set of noncrossing arcs on a circle with n points is by definition the set NA(n) of families  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  of arcs which pairwise do not cross.

By definition the empty family consisting of no arcs at all is an element of NA(n).

PROPOSITION 6.10. Let  $\mathcal{U}_n$  be a connected uniserial length category with n simple objects  $R_1, \ldots, R_n$ . There is a bijective correspondence between

- (1) the set of wide subcategories of  $\mathcal{U}_n$ ,
- (2) the set of families of pairwise orthogonal bricks in  $\mathcal{U}_n$ , and
- (3) the set NA(n) of noncrossing arcs on a circle with n points.

PROOF. First note that the subcategory  $\{0\}$  corresponds to an empty family of bricks which corresponds to the empty family of noncrossing arcs. Now we can assume that all objects are non-zero or non-empty, respectively.

We begin with the correspondence of the first two sets. Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a wide subcategory of  $\mathcal{U}_n =: \mathcal{U}$ . Let  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  be a complete family of simple objects in  $\mathcal{C}$ . We claim that this gives us a family of pairwise orthogonal bricks. Since  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under kernels and cokernels, we can argue as in Schur's lemma: If  $f: S \to S'$  is a non-zero morphism between two simple objects in  $\mathcal{C}$ , then  $\operatorname{Ker}(f), \operatorname{Coker}(f), \operatorname{Im}(f)$  belong to  $\mathcal{C}$ . If f is not an isomorphism, then either the kernel is a proper non-zero subobject of S or the image is a proper non-zero subobject of S'. But then, S or S' would not be simple, a contradiction. Hence, the simple objects are pairwise orthogonal. The argument above can also be used if S = S', i.e. if S is simple, there are no non-invertible endomorphisms of S and hence,  $\operatorname{End}(S)$  is a division ring.

Vice versa, if  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  is a family of pairwise orthogonal bricks, we assign to it the wide subcategory Thick $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$ , i.e. the smallest wide subcategory containing  $\{E_1, \ldots, E_r\}$ . (We use here the same notation as for thick subcategories to avoid a new name again and since it corresponds anyway.)

In order to show that these two assignments give a bijective correspondence, it remains to show that

- if  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  is a family of pairwise orthogonal bricks, then the bricks  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$  are the simple objects in Thick $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$ , and
- if  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$  are the simple objects of a thick subcategory  $\mathcal{C}$ , then  $\mathcal{C} = \text{Thick}(E_1, \ldots, E_r).$

Let  $E = (E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  be a family of pairwise orthogonal bricks. Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{U}_n$  consisting of objects which have a composition series with composition factors isomorphic to one of  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$ . In [80, Chapter X] we find the proof that  $\mathcal{E}$  is an exact abelian extension-closed subcategory of  $\mathcal{U}$ . (It is shown in the setting that the ambient category is a module category, but there are no properties needed which are not given here.) Therefore, since  $\operatorname{Thick}(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  is the smallest exact abelian extensionclosed subcategory of  $\mathcal{U}$  containing  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$ ,  $\operatorname{Thick}(E_1, \ldots, E_r) \subseteq \mathcal{E}$ . The other inclusion is immediate by induction on the composition length of an object in  $\mathcal{E}$ . Hence,  $\operatorname{Thick}(E_1, \ldots, E_r) = \mathcal{E}$  and clearly,  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$  are the simple objects in  $\mathcal{E}$  and therefore in  $\operatorname{Thick}(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$ .

Next, if  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$  are the simple objects in a thick subcategory C, then clearly, C is the same as the full subcategory of objects in  $\mathcal{U}$  which admit a composition series with composition factors isomorphic to one of the  $E_i$ . As seen above this is equal to  $\operatorname{Thick}(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$ .

Finally, we show the correspondence between the second and the third set. It is given as follows. Let  $R_1, \ldots, R_n$  be the simple objects in  $\mathcal{U}_n$ numbered as indicated in the sequel of Proposition 4.15. Recall that the indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{U}_n$  are uniquely determined by their socle and their length. For convenience denote here by  $R_i^r := R_i^{[r]}$  the indecomposable object with length r and socle  $R_i$  (the lower index should not be confused with the length as in the notation using the top to classify the object). Let c denote the permutation  $c = (1, 2, \ldots, n)$  of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Now let  $E = R_i^r$  be a brick in  $\mathcal{U}_n$ . Then, we assign to E the arc  $(i, c^r(i))$ . This actually gives an arc since by [**36**, Theorem 3.5] the length of E is  $\leq n$ since E is a brick. In this manner we assign to a family of orthogonal bricks  $(E_1, \ldots, E_s)$  a family of arcs  $(a_1, \ldots, a_s)$ . Vice versa, if we have an arc (i, j), there is a number  $1 \leq r \leq n$  with  $j = c^r(i)$ , and we assign to (i, j) the unique brick  $R_i^r$  and proceed analogously with a family of noncrossing arcs. By definition the composition of these two assignments equals the identity. It remains to show that actually two arcs  $(i, c^r(i))$  and  $(j, c^p(j))$  cross if and only if  $\operatorname{Hom}(R_i^r, R_i^p) \neq 0$  or  $\operatorname{Hom}(R_i^p, R_i^r) \neq 0$ .

Suppose that  $(i, c^r(i))$  and  $(j, c^p(j))$  cross. Without loss of generality we may assume the following situation: the start point j of the second arc *lies* between i and  $c^r(i)$  and the end point  $c^p(j)$  lies beyond  $c^r(i)$  going clockwise around the circle. In other words, there is a number  $0 \le q < r$  with  $j = c^q(i)$ . Hence,  $(j, c^r(i)) = (j, c^{r-q}(j))$  with r - q > 0. Moreover,  $p \ge r - q$  since  $c^p(j)$  lies beyond  $c^r(i) = c^{r-q}(j)$ . This gives us an inclusion  $i: R_j^{r-q} \to R_j^p$ and a projection  $p: R_i^r \to R_{c^q(i)}^{r-q} = R_j^{r-q}$ . The existence of the projection is shown by using induction to check that the top of  $R_i^r$  is  $R_{c^{r-1}(i)}$ . Hence, if the arcs cross, we have a morphism  $f = i \circ p: R_i^r \to R_j^p$ . This is not zero since otherwise p would be zero since i is a monomorphism. But this is certainly not the case.

Now let  $f: R_i^r \to R_j^p$  be a non-zero morphism. Then  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  is a non-zero subobject of  $R_j^p$  which is a brick as well and with socle  $R_j$  and length q with  $1 \leq q \leq p$ . Also it is a quotient of  $R_i^r$ , thus there is a number  $0 \leq t < r$  with  $\operatorname{Im}(f) = R_{c^t(i)}^{r-t}$ . Hence,  $R_j^q = \operatorname{Im}(f) = R_{c^t(i)}^{r-t}$  which implies  $c^t(i) = j$  and q = r - t. Therefore,  $j = c^t(i)$  lies between i and  $c^r(i)$  (not coinciding with  $c^r(i)$ ). Moreover,  $p \geq q = r - t \Rightarrow p + t \geq r$  and hence  $c^p(j) = c^{p+t}(i)$  lies beyond  $c^r(i)$ . Altogether,  $(i, c^r(i))$  and  $(j, c^p(j))$  cross.

REMARK 6.11. We changed Dichev's definition of noncrossing arcs on the circle a bit. This will enable us to deal also with extensions on the level of the arcs in the next section.

REMARK 6.12. Behind the idea of the noncrossing arcs on the circle there is covering theory. We could also consider arcs between integers on the number line. Identifying each simple object S with  $\tau^n(S)$  gives us the circle.

THEOREM 6.13. Let A be a tame hereditary algebra with regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  decomposing as  $\prod_{j\in J} \mathcal{H}_j \times \prod_{i=1}^s \mathcal{U}_{n_i}$ . Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$  of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  consisting only of regular objects, and
- the set  $\{(p, x_1, \dots, x_s) \mid p \in 2^J, x_i \in NA(n_i)\}$ .

PROOF. As mentioned above the set  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$  is in correspondence with the set of wide subcategories of  $\mathcal{R}$ . Then, the definition of the correspondence is obvious in consideration of Proposition 6.10. Additionally, we have to recognise that each of the direct factors of  $\mathcal{R}$  is exact abelian extensionclosed and that there are no non-zero morphisms between different direct factors. The latter is true since objects from different factors do not have composition factors in common.

Moreover, observe that uniserial categories with one simple object do not admit proper thick subcategories and therefore, either the whole factor  $\mathcal{H}_j$  is part of the thick subcategory or none of it is. This explains the appearance of the power set  $2^{J}$ .

# 3. Thick subcategories of $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$

Finally, we bring the previous results together and state the main classification theorem.

In the previous sections, we have seen the classification of thick subcategories which are generated by exceptional sequences on the one hand and the classification of thick subcategories which only consist of regular objects on the other hand.

The next proposition explains how these two fit together. It is due to Dichev [34] in the case that the algebra is a tame hereditary algebra over an algebraically closed field. We adapt the proof to the not algebraically closed case without greater difficulties.

PROPOSITION 6.14. Let A be a tame hereditary algebra over a field k. Let C be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\text{mod}(A))$ . Then, at least one of the following holds.

- The thick subcategory C is generated by an exceptional sequence in mod(A);
- (2) each object in C is regular.

PROOF. Since in this proof we want to work with concepts like projective objects and extensions, instead of a thick subcategory  $\mathcal{C}$  of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  we will now and then consider its corresponding wide subcategory  $\{H^0(C) \mid C \in \mathcal{C}\}$  and denote it by the same letter.

Let  $(\Gamma, d)$  be the valued graph of the algebra A. This is an extended Dynkin diagram since the algebra is tame. Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

We assume that the second statement does not hold and claim that then C is generated by an exceptional sequence.

If  $\mathcal{C}$  does not only consist of regulars, there is an indecomposable preprojective or preinjective module X which is simple in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Without loss of generality we may assume that X is preprojective, i.e.  $X \cong \tau^{-l}(P_m)$  where lis a positive integer,  $m \in \Gamma$  and  $P_m$  is the indecomposable projective object associated with m.

Let  $\mathcal{D} := \tau^{l}(\mathcal{C})$ . We show that  $\mathcal{D}$  is generated by an exceptional sequence which implies that  $\mathcal{C}$  is generated by the  $\tau^{-l}$ -shift of this sequence which is exceptional as well since  $\tau$  is an auto-equivalence on  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\text{mod}(A))$ .

Let  $S_{\mathcal{P}}$  denote the set of preprojective objects which are simple in  $\mathcal{D}$ ,  $S_{\mathcal{Q}}$ those objects which are preinjective and simple in  $\mathcal{D}$  and  $S_{\mathcal{R}}$  those objects which are regular and simple in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Note that  $\mathcal{D} = \text{Thick}(S_{\mathcal{Q}} \cup S_{\mathcal{R}} \cup S_{\mathcal{P}})$ . The modules in  $S_{\mathcal{Q}} \cup S_{\mathcal{R}} \cup S_{\mathcal{P}}$  are pairwise orthogonal since they are simple in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Then,  $P_m$  is an element in  $S_{\mathcal{P}}$ .

Within  $S_{\mathcal{P}}$  and  $S_{\mathcal{Q}}$  we can order the modules in the following manner to an exceptional sequence. Let  $A, B \in S_{\mathcal{P}}$  with  $A = \tau^{-i}(P_1)$  and  $B = \tau^{-j}(P_2)$ where  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  are indecomposable projective. There are no non-zero morphisms between A and B in either direction because they are simple. If  $j \geq i$ , then we put B in front of A in our sequence and with this we make sure that  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(A, B) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(P_{1}, \tau^{i-j}(P_{2})) = 0$ . The same works within  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ .

Now we try to do the same in  $S_{\mathcal{R}}$ . Let R be a non-zero object in  $S_{\mathcal{R}}$ . If such an object does not exist,  $S_{\mathcal{Q}} \cup S_{\mathcal{P}}$  gives us immediately an exceptional sequence which generates  $\mathcal{D}$ . Otherwise as mentioned in Chapter 4.1 we have

$$\dim_{\mathrm{End}(S_m)} \mathrm{Hom}(P_m, R) = (\underline{\dim}(R))_m.$$

On the other hand,  $\operatorname{Hom}(P_m, R) = 0$  since  $P_m$  and R are simple objects in  $\mathcal{D}$ . Hence,  $\underline{\dim}(R)$  is not sincere. Moreover, the regular length of R is strictly smaller than the rank n of the tube in which R lies. This is because all objects in that tube of regular length  $\geq n$  are sincere since the objects of regular length n already are sincere because they are homogeneous. This implies that  $\mathcal{S}_R$  is finite since there are only finitely many tubes of rank strictly greater than one. Also we get that all  $R \in \mathcal{S}_R$  are exceptional and hence by Theorem 4.6  $\underline{\dim}(R)$  is a positive real root for all  $R \in \mathcal{S}_R$ .

Summing up, for all  $R \in S_{\mathcal{R}}$  we have  $(\underline{\dim}(R))_m = 0$  for a fixed vertex  $m \in \Gamma$ .

Let  $(\Gamma', d')$  be the valued graph which we get from  $(\Gamma, d)$  if we remove the vertex m from  $\Gamma$  and adjust the valuation d. Since  $(\Gamma, d)$  is extended Dynkin, the result is either one Dynkin diagram (the one corresponding to the extended Dynkin diagram  $(\Gamma, d)$ ) or it splits up into two Dynkin diagrams. To see this, check the lists of diagrams in Chapter 4.

Thus, we can consider each  $R \in S_{\mathcal{R}}$  as an indecomposable representation of  $\Gamma'$  since  $\underline{\dim}(R)$  is a positive real root for  $\Gamma'$ . In this setting we can order the objects in  $S_{\mathcal{R}}$  to an exceptional sequence as above since in the Dynkin case all representations are preprojective. The exceptionality carries over to  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$  since if there was a non-trivial extension of two objects in  $\operatorname{mod}(A)$ , this would also be a non-trivial extension in the category of representations of  $\Gamma'$ .

Hence, within  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}}$  we can order the objects to an exceptional sequence.

Moreover, by Proposition 4.16 we have that  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}}, \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{Q}})$ ,  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{P}}, \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}})$ and  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}}, \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{Q}})$  are zero.

Altogether, we have shown that we can order the simple objects in  $\mathcal{D}$  to an exceptional sequence.

The above proposition does not yet complete the classification since there are thick subcategories which are both generated by an exceptional sequence and in which all objects are regular. For example, suppose there is a uniserial subcategory of mod(A) with three regular simple objects  $R_1, R_2, R_3$ . Then  $(R_2, R_1)$  forms an exceptional sequence which generates a thick subcategory only consisting of regular objects.

Therefore, we need to refine the definition of noncrossing arcs on a circle.

DEFINITION 6.15. We call an object  $x \in NA(n)$  exceptional if we cannot arrange a subfamily of arcs of x to a sequence  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  such that  $s(a_{i+1}) = e(a_i)$  for  $1 \le i < r$  and  $s(a_1) = e(a_r)$ . We denote the set of these elements by

$$NA^{exc}(n) := \{x \in NA(n) \mid x \text{ exceptional}\}.$$



FIGURE 3. A possible  $x \in NA(n) \setminus NA^{exc}(n)$ .

In the sequel we use the notations and concepts introduced in Section 2 of this chapter, in particular in the proof of Proposition 6.10.

LEMMA 6.16. Let  $\mathcal{U}_n$  be a connected uniserial category with n simple objects. Let  $x = (a_1, \ldots, a_r) \in \mathrm{NA}(n)$  and let  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  be the corresponding sequence of pairwise orthogonal bricks in  $\mathcal{U}_n$ . Then,  $x \in \mathrm{NA}^{\mathrm{exc}}(n)$  if and only if we can rearrange  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  to an exceptional sequence.

**PROOF.** Again we denote by  $R_1, \ldots, R_n$  the simple objects in  $\mathcal{U}_n$ .

Start with the following observation. Let  $(i, c^r(i))$  and  $(j, c^p(j))$  be two arcs such that  $c^r(i) = j$ . Then, we have for the corresponding bricks

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(R_{j}^{p}, R_{i}^{r}) \cong D\operatorname{Hom}(R_{i}^{r}, \tau(R_{j}^{p})) = D\operatorname{Hom}(R_{i}^{r}, R_{c^{-1}(j)}^{p})$$

and this is non-zero since  $(i, c^r(i))$  and

$$(c^{-1}(j), c^{p}(c^{-1}(j))) = (c^{r-1}(i), c^{r+p-1}(i))$$

cross.

58

Now let  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$  and  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  be as in the statement.

Assume first that  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  is not exceptional, i.e. we can arrange parts of it to a sequence as in the definition of exceptionality. Without loss of generality this arrangement is again denoted by  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  and  $(E_1, \ldots, E_r)$ is the corresponding sequence of bricks. Let us try to order this sequence to an exceptional sequence. We are free to start with  $E_1$ . By the preliminary observation we know that  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(E_2, E_1) \neq 0$  and hence we have to put  $E_2$ in front of  $E_1$ . Then,  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(E_3, E_2) \neq 0$  forces us to put  $E_3$  in front of  $E_2$ and therefore also in front of  $E_1$ . This goes on and we are forced to the following order  $(E_r, E_{r-1}, \ldots, E_2, E_1)$  which is not exceptional since also  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(E_1, E_r) \neq 0$ .

Next, assume that  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  is exceptional. Then, we find an index  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that (i, c(i)) is not surrounded by any arc of  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$ . Here not being surrounded means formally that there is no arc of the form  $(j, c^p(j))$  with  $i = c^q(j)$  for some  $0 \le q < p$ . If such an *i* did not exist, it would contradict the assumption that  $(a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  is exceptional.

The fact that none of the arcs surrounds (i, c(i)) corresponds to the fact that none of the bricks contains  $R_i$  as a composition factor. Without loss of generality we may assume i = n. The full subcategory of  $\mathcal{U}_n$  in which all objects do not have  $R_n$  as a composition factor is equivalent to

 $\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{A}_{n-1})$  with  $\vec{A}_{n-1}$  linearly oriented. See for instance [63, Proposition 5.2]. But in the Dynkin case we can order the bricks to an exceptional sequence since they are anyway pairwise orthogonal. Moreover, the bricks do not have self-extensions since otherwise the corresponding arc would not be exceptional.

Altogether this gives the following classification theorem.

THEOREM 6.17. Let A be a tame hereditary k-algebra with regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  decomposing as  $\coprod_{j\in J} \mathcal{H}_j \times \coprod_{i=1}^s \mathcal{U}_{n_i}$ . The poset of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  is given by the union of posets

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A) \cup \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$$

where one has bijective correspondences

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A) & \longleftrightarrow & \operatorname{NC}(W,c), \\ & & \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A) & \longleftrightarrow & \{(p,x_1,\ldots,x_s) \mid p \in 2^J, x_i \in \operatorname{NA}(n_i)\}, \\ & & \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A) \cap \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A) & \longleftrightarrow & \{(x_1,\ldots,x_s) \mid x_i \in \operatorname{NA}^{\operatorname{exc}}(n_i)\}. \end{array}$$

PROOF. That the union is in bijection with the poset of thick subcategories, follows from Proposition 6.14.

The correspondences for  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$  and  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$  are stated in Theorem 6.2 and Theorem 6.13. The classification of the intersection follows immediately from Lemma 6.16.

Unfortunately, it is not possible to formulate this adequately as a sum of lattices. This fails already for the reason that NC(W, c) is not a lattice in most cases.

# CHAPTER 7

# Finite algebraic triangulated categories

One of the main goals of this thesis is to classify thick subcategories of algebraic triangulated categories of finite type. This chapter provides the necessary information about these categories.

Throughout this chapter we assume that k is an algebraically closed field.

Recall that a triangulated category is called algebraic if it is triangulated equivalent to the stable category  $\underline{\mathcal{F}}$  of a Frobenius category  $\mathcal{F}$ . By Theorem 2.10 such categories are triangulated.

The main example for us is the stable module category  $\underline{mod}(A)$  of a selfinjective algebra A. In fact, the whole classification of algebraic triangulated categories of finite type is a generalisation of the classification of self-injective algebras of finite representation type due to Riedtmann [70] and Asashiba [5]. Although the theory for self-injective algebras is covered by this general theory, we will present the important results for self-injective algebras in the next chapter.

A further important example is the stable category  $\underline{CM}(R)$  of maximal Cohen-Macaulay modules over a commutative complete local Gorenstein isolated singularity R.

DEFINITION 7.1. A triangulated category  $\mathcal{T}$  is called *locally finite* (after [85]) if for each indecomposable X of  $\mathcal{T}$  there are at most finitely many isomorphism classes of indecomposables Y such that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X,Y) \neq 0$ . If there are only finitely many indecomposable objects at all the category is called *finite*.

The structure of a locally finite triangulated category is classified via the shape of its Auslander-Reiten quiver. In order to describe this shape, we recall some definitions and notations concerning translation quivers and automorphism groups of quivers.

Let  $\vec{\Delta} = (\vec{\Delta}_0, \vec{\Delta}_1, s, t)$  be a quiver. For a vertex  $x \in \vec{\Delta}_0$  we denote by  $x^+$  the set of direct successors of x and by  $x^-$  the set of direct predecessors of x.

In Chapter 2 we already got to know the repetition  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  of a quiver  $\Delta$ .

DEFINITION 7.2. A group of automorphisms G of a quiver  $\overline{\Delta}$  is said to be *admissible* [70] if no orbit of G intersects a set of the form  $\{x\} \cup x^+$  or  $\{x\} \cup x^-$  in more than one point. It is said to be *weakly admissible* [35] if, for each  $g \in G \setminus \{1\}$  and for each  $x \in \overline{\Delta}_0$  we have  $x^+ \cap (gx)^+ = \emptyset$ . Note that admissible implies weakly admissible.

THEOREM 7.3 (Xiao/Zhu [85]). Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a Krull-Schmidt locally finite connected triangulated category. Then, the Auslander-Reiten quiver  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}}$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta/\Phi$  where  $\Delta$  is Dynkin of type A, D or E and  $\Phi$  is a weakly admissible group of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ . The underlying graph  $\Delta$  is unique up to isomorphism, and the group  $\Phi$  is unique up to conjugacy.  $\Box$ 

EXAMPLE 7.4. Let  $G = \langle x \mid x^p = 1 \rangle$  be the cyclic group of prime order p. Let k be a field with char(k) = p. Then, the group algebra kG (for the definition of kG see Chapter 8) is of the form  $k[X]/(X-1)^p$ . The indecomposable kG-modules are given by  $k[X]/(X-1)^i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq p$  where this is projective and injective for i = p. The Auslander-Reiten sequences look as follows.

$$k[X]/(X-1)^i \to k[X]/(X-1)^{i+1} \oplus k[X]/(X-1)^{i-1} \to k[X]/(X-1)^i$$

for  $1 < i \leq p-1$ . Hence, the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(kG)$  is of the form  $\mathbb{Z}A_{p-1}/\langle \tau \rangle$ .

The result of Xiao und Zhu generalises Riedtmann's Theorem [70] which says that the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver of a representation-finite algebra is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta/\Phi$  where  $\Delta$  is Dynkin and  $\Phi$  is an admissible group of automorphisms. Riedtmann also gives a complete list of possible admissible groups of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ . Xiao and Zhu as well as Amiot [1] extend this list to a list of possible weakly admissible groups of automorphisms as follows.

THEOREM 7.5 (Xiao/Zhu [85]). Let  $\Delta$  be a Dynkin graph and let  $\Phi$  be a non trivial weakly admissible group of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ . This is a list of its possible generators.

•  $\Delta = A_n$  with n odd: possible generators are  $\tau^r$  and  $\phi \tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$ where  $\phi$  is the reflection at the 'central line' of  $\mathbb{Z}A_n$  which is given by the vertices  $\{(i, \frac{n+1}{2}) \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Here we take as a basis of  $\mathbb{Z}A_n$ the linearly oriented  $\vec{A_n}$ .

 $1 \longrightarrow 2 \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow n-1 \longrightarrow n$ 

- $\Delta = A_n$  with *n* even: then possible generators are  $\phi \tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$ where  $\phi(p,q) = (p+q-\frac{n}{2}-1, n+1-q)$ . Here  $\phi^2 = \tau$ .
- $\Delta = D_n$  with  $n \ge 5$ : possible generators are  $\tau^r$  and  $\phi \tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$ where  $\phi$  exchanges (i, n-1) and  $(i, n) \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}$  and fixes the other vertices of  $\mathbb{Z}D_n$ . Here we take as a basis of  $\mathbb{Z}D_n$  the linearly oriented  $\vec{D}_n$ .

$$1 \longrightarrow 2 \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow n-3 \longrightarrow n-2$$

- $\Delta = D_4$ : possible generators are  $\tau^r$  and  $\phi \tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$  and where  $\phi$ is either defined as for  $n \ge 5$  or as follows. Again with the linearly oriented  $\vec{D}_4$ ,  $\phi((i,3)) = (i,4), \phi((i,4)) = (i-1,1), \phi((i-1,1)) =$ (i,3) and  $\phi((i,2)) = (i,2) \ \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}$ .
- $\Delta = E_6$ : possible generators are  $\tau^r$  and  $\phi \tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$  and where  $\phi$  is the reflection at the central line of  $\mathbb{Z}E_6$  which is given by  $\{(i,3), (i,4) \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Here we assume the following orientation

and numbering.

• 
$$\Delta = E_7, E_8$$
: possible generators are  $\tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$ .

REMARK 7.6. The only weakly admissible group of automorphisms which is not admissible occurs for  $A_n$  with n even and is generated by  $\phi$ .

REMARK 7.7. If  $\mathcal{T}$  is locally finite, but not finite, then the group  $\Phi$  of automorphisms is trivial.

Now we know the shape of the Auslander-Reiten quiver of our categories. But the classification goes even farther as we are able to classify them up to triangulated equivalence. This is particularly convenient for our purposes of classifying thick subcategories.

THEOREM 7.8 (Amiot [1]). If  $\mathcal{T}$  is a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard, then there exists a Dynkin diagram  $\Delta$ of type A, D or E and an auto-equivalence  $\Phi$  of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  such that  $\mathcal{T}$ is triangle equivalent to the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\Phi$ .

REMARK 7.9. Since  $\mathcal{T}$  is standard and since by Proposition 2.28 the category of indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  is equivalent to the mesh category  $k(\mathbb{Z}\Delta)$ ,  $\Delta$  and  $\Phi$  are those induced by  $\Delta$  and the group of automorphisms coming from the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{T}$ . We denote the automorphism of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  induced by the group of automorphisms  $\Phi$  of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  by the same character  $\Phi$ .

Note that the construction of the orbit category requires an automorphism on  $\mathcal{T}$ . A standard construction allows one to replace a category with auto-equivalence by a category with automorphism.

Finally, one may ask whether each Dynkin type  $\Delta$  and each weakly admissible group of automorphisms  $\Phi$  give rise to a locally-finite triangulated category with Auslander-Reiten quiver  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta/\Phi$ . Xiao and Zhu [85] point out that this is actually true. Just take the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\Phi$ . To show this one checks the assumptions in Keller's Theorem 3.3 on triangulated orbit categories.

However, it is not possible to realise each possible Auslander-Reiten quiver  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta/\Phi$  via the stable module category of a representation-finite self-injective algebra. Thus, the generalisation to an arbitrary algebraic triangulated category really leads to a greater class of categories.

In order to name our categories precisely, we introduce the type of a finite connected triangulated category. This is adopted from Asashiba's approach [5] for self-injective algebras.

DEFINITION 7.10. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite connected triangulated category with Auslander-Reiten quiver  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} \cong \mathbb{Z}\Delta/\Phi$ . As we have seen,  $\Phi$  is always generated by an element  $\phi\tau^r$  with  $r \ge 1$  where  $\phi$  is an automorphism of order t = 1, 2, 3 or of infinite order (which only appears for  $A_n$  with n even). Then we define the *type* of  $\mathcal{T}$  to be  $typ(\mathcal{T}) = (\Delta, r, t)$  where  $t \in \{1, 2, 3, \infty\}$ .

Note that the type does not depend on the orientation of  $\Delta$ .

The set of types of finite connected triangulated categories is equal to the disjoint union of the following sets.

- $\{(A_n, r, 1) \mid n, r \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(A_{2n+1}, r, 2) \mid n, r \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(A_{2n}, r, \infty) \mid n, r \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(D_n, r, 1) \mid n, r \in \mathbb{N}, n \ge 4\};$
- $\{(D_n, r, 2) \mid n, r \in \mathbb{N}, n \ge 4\};$
- $\{(D_4, r, 3) \mid r \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(E_n, r, 1) \mid r \in \mathbb{N}, n = 6, 7, 8\};$
- $\{(E_6, r, 2) \mid r \in \mathbb{N}\}.$

# CHAPTER 8

# Self-injective algebras

Every algebra is projective as a module over itself. If the algebra is also injective, it is called *self-injective*.

The stable module category of a self-injective algebra is our most important example of an algebraic triangulated category. Hence, in this chapter, we collect some knowledge about self-injective algebras.

Most importantly, the stable module category  $\underline{mod}(A)$  of a self-injective algebra is a triangulated category. We have already discussed this in Chapter 2.2. Recall that the shift  $\Sigma$  in the triangulated category  $\underline{mod}(A)$  is given by  $X \mapsto \operatorname{Coker}(X \hookrightarrow E(X))$ . In literature, this equivalence is often called  $\Omega^{-1}$  with inverse  $\Omega(X)$  the kernel of the projective cover of X, also known as *Heller's syzygy functor*.

Next to the definition above there are other criteria to check whether an algebra is self-injective. An algebra is self-injective if and only if its projective and injective modules coincide. Also there is the following connection.

DEFINITION 8.1. A finite-dimensional algebra A over a field k is called *Frobenius* if A is equipped with a nondegenerate bilinear form  $(-, -): A \times A \rightarrow k$  with (ab, c) = (a, bc) for all  $a, b, c \in A$ .

A Frobenius algebra is called *symmetric* if (-, -) is symmetric.

PROPOSITION 8.2. A Frobenius algebra is self-injective.

Moreover, being symmetric has a consequence which is important for the appearance of thick subcategories.

PROPOSITION 8.3 ([38],I.7.5). If the algebra A is symmetric, then  $\tau \cong \Omega^2$ .

COROLLARY 8.4. Let A be a symmetric algebra and let C be a thick subcategory of  $\underline{\text{mod}}(A)$ . Let  $\Gamma_0$  be a connected component of the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver of A. If an indecomposable X corresponding to a vertex in  $\Gamma_0$  is in C, this holds for all indecomposables corresponding to  $\Gamma_0$ .

In particular, if  $\underline{mod}(A)$  is connected, it does not contain non-zero proper thick subcategories.

PROOF. If  $X \in \mathcal{C}$ , then also  $\tau(X) = \Omega^2(X) \in \mathcal{C}$  since  $\mathcal{C}$  is thick. Hence, the middle term of the Auslander-Reiten sequence ending in X belongs to  $\mathcal{C}$ . Thus, starting with X, we get everything corresponding to the connected component  $\Gamma_0$ .

Examples for self-injective algebras are preprojective algebras of representation-finite hereditary algebras (see [54]), finite-dimensional Hopf algebras (see [62]), Hecke algebras (see [39]), and group algebras of finite groups. Let us recall some details concerning this last class of examples.

#### 1. Group algebras

DEFINITION 8.5. Let G be a finite group and let k be a field. The group algebra kG consists of linear combinations of the form  $\sum_{g \in G} a_g g$  with  $a_g \in k \ \forall g \in G$ . Addition in kG is given by

$$\sum_{g \in G} a_g g + \sum_{g \in G} a_g g = \sum_{g \in G} (a_g + b_b)g,$$

multiplication by a scalar  $a \in k$  is defined as

$$a\sum_{g\in G}a_gg=\sum_{g\in G}aa_gg$$

and finally, multiplication in kG is given by

$$\sum_{g \in G} a_g g \sum_{g \in G} a_g g = \sum_{g \in G, h \in G} (a_g b_h) g h.$$

PROPOSITION 8.6. Let G be a finite group. The group algebra kG is self-injective.

PROOF. One can show that the following bilinear form turns kG into a symmetric Frobenius algebra. Namely, for  $a, b \in G$  define (a, b) := the coefficients of  $1 \in G$  in ab if ab is expressed in the group basis. For instance see [**38**, I.3.2].

The following statement shows that the characteristic of the field has a great influence on the category of modules over the group algebra.

THEOREM 8.7 (Maschke). Let G be a finite group and let k be a field. Then, the group algebra kG is semisimple if and only if the characteristic of k does not divide the order of G.  $\Box$ 

Hence, if  $\operatorname{char}(k) \nmid |G|$ , the module category of kG is not particularly interesting. Concerning thick subcategories of  $\operatorname{mod}(kG)$ , that would mean that they are classified by collections of the simple kG-modules. Thus, if we deal with *p*-groups for example, we will always assume that  $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$ .

In this thesis, we are mostly interested in finite algebraic triangulated categories and we have already seen how they look in Theorem 7.3 and Theorem 7.8. Hence, we should think about what holds for group algebras.

First of all, the finiteness condition. For group algebras there is a characterisation of those of finite representation type.

THEOREM 8.8 (Higman). Let G be a finite group and let k be a field of characteristic p dividing the order of G. The group algebra kG is representation-finite if and only if the Sylow p-subgroups of G are cyclic.

**PROOF.** For a proof see for example [7, Theorem 5.6].

Moreover, we want to know of which type in the sense of Definition 7.10 the categories  $\underline{mod}(kG)$  are for a representation finite group algebra kG. The answer is given in the following theorem.

THEOREM 8.9 ([12], Corollary 6.3.5, Theorem 6.5.5). Let k be an algebraically closed field. Let B be a block of kG with defect group D. Then, B has finite representation type if and only if D is cyclic.

If this is the case, i.e. D is cyclic of order  $p^n$ , then the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver of B is of the form  $\mathbb{Z}A_{p^n-1}/\langle \tau^e \rangle$  where e is the inertial index of kG.

For the definitions of block, defect group and inertial index see [12]. The details are not important for our purpose. What is in particular important is that representation-finite group algebras for p-groups are of type A. This insight enables us to compare (and distinguish) our classification of thick subcategories to that of Benson, Carlson and Rickard [14] for the stable module category of the group algebra of a p-group. We will do this in Chapter 11.

## 2. Finite representation type

There is an elaborate classification of representation-finite self-injective algebras. As said, by now the theory is covered by the general theory discussed in Chapter 7. Nevertheless, it is worthwhile to present it here in order to see which types actually occur for self-injective algebras. Moreover, historically this is the guideline for the general theory.

Everything starts with Riedtmann's Theorem on the shape of the Auslander-Reiten quiver.

THEOREM 8.10 (Riedtmann [70]). Let A be a finite-dimensional representation-finite algebra over an algebraically closed field k. Then, a connected component of the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver of A is of the form  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta/\Phi$  where  $\Delta$  is Dynkin of type A, D or E and  $\Phi$  is admissible.

We have already discussed admissible automorphism groups in Chapter 7.

Note that the theorem does not assume A to be self-injective. But if A is self-injective, the theorem yields the most possible information about the module category. Namely, in this case, we get the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver from the original quiver by only deleting projective vertices. Thus, one only has to study where in the quiver the projectives might be. This is done by Riedtmann (and others) in her further work on self-injective algebras for the different Dynkin types; see [71], [73], [72], [26]. In this thesis, this is not needed since we are interested in the stable module category and although we do not specify the position of the projectives, we do know the triangulated structure by Theorem 7.8.

As indicated in Chapter 7, not each possible admissible automorphism group occurs for self-injective algebras. The classification of Asashiba [5] points out which ones do occur.

Let  $\Lambda$  be a representation-finite self-injective standard algebra with stable Auslander-Reiten quiver  ${}_{s}\Gamma_{\Lambda} \cong \mathbb{Z}\Delta/\langle \phi \tau^{r} \rangle$ . Here  $\tau$  is the translation on  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  and  $\phi$  is an automorphism of order 1, 2 or 3 defined in 7.5 such that  $\langle \phi \tau^r \rangle$  is an admissible group of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ . Define the type typ( $\Lambda$ ) =  $(T(\Lambda), f(\Lambda), t(\Lambda))$  of  $\Lambda$  where  $T(\Lambda) = \Delta$  is the tree class,  $f(\Lambda) = r/m_{\Delta}$  is the *frequency*,  $t(\Lambda)$  is the *order* of  $\phi$  and  $m_{\Delta} = h_{\Delta} - 1$  where  $h_{\Delta}$  is the *Coxeter number* associated to  $\Delta$ , i.e. the order of the Coxeter element.

REMARK 8.11. Note that the definition of *type* in Chapter 7 is not the generalisation of this one since the second entry is different. For instance, if we have an algebra  $\Lambda$  with  $typ(\Lambda) = (A_5, 2, 2)$ , then the type of the corresponding triangulated category is given by  $typ(\underline{mod}(\Lambda)) = (A_5, 10, 2)$ .

The type determines  $\Lambda$  up to stable equivalence (i.e. a triangle equivalence between the stable module categories).

THEOREM 8.12 (Asashiba [5]). Let  $\Lambda, \Lambda'$  representation-finite and selfinjective algebras.

- (1) If  $\Lambda$  is standard and  $\Lambda'$  is non-standard, then  $\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda'$  are not stably equivalent.
- (2) If both  $\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda'$  are standard, then  $\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda'$  are stably equivalent if and only if  $typ(\Lambda) = typ(\Lambda')$ .
- (3) If both  $\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda'$  are non-standard, then  $\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda'$  are stably equivalent if and only if  $typ(\Lambda) = typ(\Lambda')$ .

Moreover, Asashiba gives a complete list of these types for standard algebras.

THEOREM 8.13 (Asashiba [5]). The set of types of standard self-injective algebras of finite representation type is equal to the disjoint union of the following sets

- $\{(A_n, s/n, 1) \mid n, s \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(A_{2p+1}, s, 2) \mid p, s \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(D_n, s, 1) \mid n, s \in \mathbb{N}, n \ge 4\};$
- $\{(D_{3m}, s/3, 1) \mid m, s \in \mathbb{N}, m \ge 2, 3 \nmid s\};$
- $\{(D_n, s, 2) \mid n, s \in \mathbb{N}, n \ge 4\};$
- $\{(D_4, s, 3) \mid s \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(E_n, s, 1) \mid n = 6, 7, 8, s \in \mathbb{N}\};$
- $\{(E_6, s, 2) \mid s \in \mathbb{N}\}.$

Completing the classification, in the appendix of [6] Asashiba gives a representative for each of the above types. These representatives are given by quivers and relations.

One could also give them as *orbit algebras* of the *repetitive algebras* of the respective Dynkin type.

## 3. Repetitive algebras and covering theory

Repetitive algebras are an important concept in the study of self-injective algebras. For one thing they are self-injective and constructing repetitive algebras provides a method to build self-injective algebras out of other algebras. In order to construct these algebras, we need to introduce the practice of identifying algebras with categories and the other way round. This will also enable us to define orbit algebras by just using the concept of orbit categories we already know. Let k be a field. Following [21] and [44], we call a k-category R locally bounded if

- distinct objects of R are not isomorphic,
- for each object x of R, R(x, x) is a local k-algebra, and
- for each object x of R, we have

$$\sum_{y \in \operatorname{obj}(R)} (\dim_k R(x, y) + \dim_k R(y, x)) < \infty.$$

If additionally, R has only finitely many objects, then it is called *bounded*. Now to a bounded k-category R we associate a finite-dimensional k-algebra with underlying vector space  $\bigoplus_{x,y \in obj(R)} R(x,y)$ . We denote the associated algebra by the same letter R.

For a locally bounded category R we define Mod(R) (or mod(R)) to be the category of (finitely generated) contravariant functors from R to Mod(k). This is of course defined in this way so that it coincides with the category of modules for the associated algebra R.

A well-known example of this concept is the path category of a finite acyclic quiver. The associated algebra is just the path algebra of the quiver.

Let G be an *admissible* group of k-linear automorphisms of the category R, i.e. the action of G on the objects of R is free and there are only finitely many orbits. Then we define the orbit category R/G as in Chapter 3 and we may as well associate an algebra to this, the *orbit algebra*. It is finite-dimensional since G is admissible.

Moreover, it is important to mention that a group G of automorphisms on R defines a group of automorphism on Mod(R). To be specific, this works as follows. Let  $g: R \to R$  be in G and let  $M \in Mod(R)$ , i.e. a functor  $M: R^{op} \to mod(k)$ . Then, g(M) is defined to be the functor  $M(g^{-1}(-)): R^{op} \to mod(k)$ .

The whole construction comes along with a projection

$$F: R \to R/G.$$

By definition this is a *covering functor* in the sense of Gabriel [44]. Hence, we may associate functors on the level of the corresponding module categories, namely the *pull-up functor*  $F_{\bullet} \colon \operatorname{Mod}(R/G) \to \operatorname{Mod}(R)$  defined by  $M \mapsto M \circ F$  and the *push-down functor* 

$$F_{\lambda} \colon \operatorname{Mod}(R) \to \operatorname{Mod}(R/G)$$

as the left adjoint functor to  $F_{\bullet}$ . In [21, Section 3.2] one finds an explicit definition of  $F_{\lambda}$ . For example for modules  $M \in Mod(R)$  one has

$$(F_{\lambda}M)(a) = \bigoplus_{F(x)=a} M(x) \text{ for } a \in R/G.$$

Using this one can show the following about the composition of the two functors.
PROPOSITION 8.14 (Gabriel [43], Lemma 3.2). For  $M \in Mod(R)$  there is an isomorphism

$$\bigoplus_{g \in G} g(M) \cong F_{\bullet}F_{\lambda}(M).$$

The push-down functor can help to relate the category Mod(R/G) to Mod(R). For example for morphisms one gets what one expects.

PROPOSITION 8.15 (Gabriel [43], Theorem 3.6 c). Suppose that R is locally bounded and that G acts freely on R. Then,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{R/G}(F_{\lambda}M, F_{\lambda}N) = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \operatorname{Hom}_{R}(M, g(N))$$
  
and (R).

for all  $M, N \in ind(R)$ .

Originally, Gabriel assumes in this statement that G acts freely on ind(R), but with [65] it is sufficient to assume G acting freely on R.

It would be convenient if one could describe the category  $\operatorname{mod}(R/G)$ in terms of  $\operatorname{mod}(R)$ . Together with the proposition above this would be possible if the push-down functor restricted to  $\operatorname{mod}(R)$  was dense. This is not always true and we need to assume a further condition on R. For any R-module M we denote by  $\operatorname{supp}(M)$  the full subcategory of R consisting of all objects  $a \in R$  such that  $M(a) \neq 0$ .

Moreover, for an object  $a \in R$  we denote by  $R_a$  the full subcategory of R formed by

$$\bigcup_{M \in \operatorname{ind}(R), a \in \operatorname{supp}(M)} \operatorname{supp}(M)$$

Then, R is called *locally support-finite* if  $R_a$  is finite for each object a of R.

PROPOSITION 8.16 (Dowbor-Lenzing-Skowronski [37]). Let R be locally support-finite and let G be a group of automorphisms on R acting freely on the objects of R. Then, the push-down functor induces a bijection between the G-orbits of isomorphism classes of objects in ind(R) and the isomorphism classes of objects in ind(R/G). In particular,  $F_{\lambda}: mod(R) \to mod(R/G)$  is dense.

Now we turn to specific examples of the covering theory above. The definition of a repetitive algebra goes back to Hughes and Waschbüsch [50]. Let A be a finite-dimensional k-algebra and let  $1_A = e_1 + \ldots + e_n$  be a decomposition of the identity of A into a sum of pairwise orthogonal primitive idempotents. Moreover, we assume that A is basic, i.e.  $Ae_i \ncong Ae_j$  for all  $i \neq j$ . Firstly, we associate to A the *repetitive category*  $\hat{A}$  whose objects are  $e_{m,i}$  with  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , and whose morphism spaces are

$$\hat{A}(e_{m,i}, e_{r,j}) = \begin{cases} e_j A e_i & \text{if } r = m, \\ D(e_i A e_j) & \text{if } r = m+1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The algebra  $\hat{A}$  associated with the repetitive category is called the *repetitive* algebra of A.

THEOREM 8.17 (Happel [46], Lemma 2.2). Let A be a finite-dimensional algebra and let  $\hat{A}$  be the associated repetitive algebra. Then,  $\hat{A}$  is self-injective and accordingly,  $\operatorname{mod}(\hat{A})$  is a Frobenius category.

If G is an admissible automorphism group, this implies that the orbit algebra  $\hat{A}/G$  is self-injective, too.

At this point we should also define an important automorphism of  $\hat{A}$ , namely  $\nu_{\hat{A}} : \hat{A} \to \hat{A}$  mapping  $e_{m,i}$  to  $e_{m+1,i}$ . This induces an automorphism on mod $(\hat{A})$  (and on <u>mod $(\hat{A})$ </u>) which coincides with the Nakayama automorphism  $\nu_{\hat{A}} = D \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{A}}(-, \hat{A})$ . Note that for a self-injective algebra  $\Lambda$ , on <u>mod $(\Lambda)$ </u> we have

$$\nu_{\Lambda} \cong \tau_{\Lambda} \Omega_{\Lambda}^{-2}.$$

This is by the definitions of all the appearing functors. Observe also that  $\tau$  and  $\Omega$  are triangle equivalences on  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda)$  which makes  $\nu_{\Lambda}$  a triangle equivalence, too.

With the help of  $\nu_{\hat{A}}$  we may define the following important concept.

DEFINITION 8.18. Let A be a basic connected algebra, A its repetitive algebra and  $\nu_{\hat{A}}$  the Nakayama automorphism. Then  $T(A) = \hat{A}/\langle \nu_{\hat{A}} \rangle$  is called the *trivial extension algebra* of A. One can show that T(A) is the same as  $A \ltimes D(A)$  which is the more usual definition of the trivial extension algebra.

Similarly, we define the *r*-fold trivial extension algebra  $T(A)^r = A/\langle \nu_{\hat{A}}^r \rangle$  as in [81, Section 6].

EXAMPLE 8.19. Let  $A = k(\vec{A_3})$  with  $\vec{A_3}: 1 \xrightarrow{\alpha} 2 \xrightarrow{\beta} 3$ . The identity of A decomposes into  $e_1 + e_2 + e_3$ . Then, the repetitive category is determined by the quiver



with respect to the relations  $\alpha^* \alpha = 0$ ,  $\beta \beta^* = 0$  and  $\alpha \alpha^* = \beta^* \beta$ . The repetitive algebra  $\hat{A}$  is the path algebra of the above infinite quiver with respect to these relations. The following figure is an extract from the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\hat{A}$ .



Deleting the projective/injective representations, we see that the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver is  $\mathbb{Z}A_3$ . Consider the orbit algebra  $T(A) = \hat{A}/\nu_{\hat{A}}$ . This is given by the quiver

$$1 \leftrightarrows 2 \leftrightarrows 3$$

with respect to the inherited relations from  $\hat{A}$ . Checking what  $\nu_{\hat{A}}$  does on mod $(\hat{A})$ , we get that the stable Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\hat{A}/\nu_{\hat{A}}$  is  $\mathbb{Z}A_3/\langle \tau^3 \phi \rangle$  where  $\phi$  is the 'reflection' of  $\mathbb{Z}A_3$  defined in Theorem 7.5. Thus,  $\operatorname{typ}(\operatorname{mod}(T(A))) = (A_3, 3, 2)$  in the sense of Definition 7.10.

As the example suggests, for algebras like the above one,  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$  is closely related to the bounded derived category of  $\mathrm{mod}(A)$ .

THEOREM 8.20 (Happel [46], Theorem 4.9). If A is a finite-dimensional algebra of finite global dimension, then  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$  and  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  are equivalent as triangulated categories.

### CHAPTER 9

# Thick subcategories of finite algebraic triangulated categories

The purpose of this chapter is to classify the thick subcategories of a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard, i.e. exactly the kind of category discussed in Chapter 7. As there we assume in this chapter that the field k is algebraically closed unless it is stated otherwise.

#### 1. The classification

We have seen in Chapter 7 that each such triangulated category is triangulated equivalent to an orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle\phi\tau^r\rangle$  where  $\vec{\Delta}$  is a Dynkin quiver and  $\langle\phi\tau^r\rangle$  is an admissible group of automorphisms. Thus, we want to classify thick subcategories of these orbit categories. By Theorem 3.4 we know that the thick subcategories of the orbit category are in bijective correspondence with the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ which are invariant under  $\langle\phi\tau^r\rangle$ . By Theorem 6.2 and since  $\Delta$  is Dynkin, we get that the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  are in correspondence with NC( $W_{\Delta}, c$ ) where  $W_{\Delta} = W$  is the associated Weyl group and  $c \in W_{\Delta}$ is the Coxeter transformation with respect to an admissible numbering of  $\vec{\Delta}$ . Hence, we need to explain what the automorphism  $\phi\tau^r$  means for NC(W, c).

As long as we are only concerned with  $\tau$  this is fairly evident. We formulate the statement in a greater generality than necessary in this chapter since we will need this at least for tame hereditary algebras later in this thesis.

Recall that we denote by cox the bijection from the set  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$  of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  which are generated by an exceptional sequence to  $\operatorname{NC}(W, c)$ .

PROPOSITION 9.1. Let A be a hereditary algebra over an arbitrary field k (not necessarily algebraically closed). Let c be the Coxeter transformation in the associated Weyl group. Let  $S \in \text{Th}_{exc}(A)$ . Then,

$$\cos(\tau(\mathcal{S})) = c\cos(\mathcal{S})c^{-1}.$$

PROOF. Let  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$  be an exceptional sequence in mod(A) generating S. Thus,  $\cos(S) = s_{E_1} \cdots s_{E_r}$ . Since it is more convenient here we will work with the wide subcategory which corresponds to S by Theorem 2.29 and call it also S. The wide subcategory S is also generated by the above exceptional sequence. Moreover, we are allowed to choose  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$  in such a way that they are simple in the wide subcategory S. In fact, this is then a complete list of simple objects in the wide subcategory.

We can reorder this sequence in such way that the possible indecomposable projective modules lie at the end of the sequence:

$$(E_1, \ldots, E_{s-1}, E_s = P_{i_s}, \ldots, E_r = P_{i_r}).$$

Just preserve the order within the projectives and the non-projectives, respectively. After that, we only have to take care that  $\operatorname{Hom}(P, E) = 0$  and  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(P, E) = 0$  for P one of the projective modules and E one of the nonprojective modules. The second equation is clear and the first one holds by Schur's lemma.

Consider the sequence

$$(\tau(E_1),\ldots,\tau(E_{s-1}),I_{i_s},\ldots,I_{i_r})$$

in mod(A).

Clearly, this generated  $\tau(\mathcal{S})$  since Thick $(\tau(E_1), \ldots, \tau(E_{s-1}), I_{i_s}, \ldots, I_{i_r})$  equals

$$\tau(\operatorname{Thick}(E_1,\ldots,E_{s-1},\Sigma E_s,\ldots,\Sigma E_r))=\tau(\mathcal{S})$$

We show that it is an exceptional sequence in mod(A). By definition of the sequence it actually lies in mod(A).

Next, we have to check the exceptionality of the sequence. Using the fact that  $\Sigma$ ,  $\nu \tau = \Sigma^{-1}\nu$  are equivalences on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A)) = \mathcal{D}^b(A)$ , we get for i < j

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\tau(E_{j}), \tau(E_{i})) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(\tau(E_{j}), \tau(E_{i})) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(E_{j}, E_{i}) = 0$$
  
$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\tau(E_{j}), \tau(E_{i})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(\tau(E_{j}), \tau(\Sigma E_{i})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(E_{j}, \Sigma E_{i})$$
  
$$\cong \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E_{i}, E_{i}) = 0.$$

There are no non-zero morphisms from one of the injective modules  $I_i$  to one of the modules  $\tau(E_i)$  since  $\tau(E_i)$  is not injective. Moreover,

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(I_{i}, \tau(E_{j})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(I_{i}, \Sigma\tau(E_{j})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(\Sigma^{-1}I_{i}, \tau(E_{j}))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(A)}(\tau^{-1}(\Sigma^{-1}I_{i}), E_{j}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(P_{i}, E_{j}) = 0.$$

And lastly, for k < l

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{A}(I_{i_{l}}, I_{i_{k}}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(P_{i_{l}}, P_{i_{k}}) = 0,$$

and clearly, there are no non-trivial extensions between two injectives.

As mentioned in Chapter 4.2 we know that  $c \underline{\dim}(M) = \underline{\dim}(\tau(M))$  for  $M \in \operatorname{mod}(A)$  indecomposable not projective and  $c \underline{\dim}(P_i) = -\underline{\dim}(I_i)$ . Hence,

$$s_{\tau(E_i)} = c s_{E_i} c^{-1}$$
 and  $s_{I_i} = c s_{P_i} c^{-1}$ .

Altogether, we have

$$\cos(\tau(\mathcal{S})) = s_{\tau(E_1)} \cdots s_{\tau(E_{s-1})} s_{I_{i_s}} \cdots s_{I_{i_r}} = c \cos(\mathcal{S}) c^{-1}.$$

The above proposition controls the finite algebraic triangulated categories  $\mathcal{T} \cong \mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle \phi \tau^r \rangle$  with  $\text{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (\Delta, r, 1)$  but it does not help yet if the order of  $\phi$  is strictly greater than 1. Fortunately, in most cases one may express  $\phi$  in terms of  $\tau$  and the shift functor  $\Sigma$ . This helps since each thick subcategory is invariant under the shift functor and therefore, the shift has no influence on the question of whether the thick subcategory is invariant under the automorphism group. The following Proposition describes  $\Sigma$  in terms of  $\tau$  and the respective automorphism  $\phi$ . We conclude this from [43] and [18].

PROPOSITION 9.2. Let  $\Delta$  be a Dynkin graph, let  $h_{\Delta} = m_{\Delta} + 1$  be the Coxeter number and let  $\Sigma \colon \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  be the shift functor.

- (1) Let  $\Delta$  be of the form  $A_n (n \geq 3 \text{ odd})$ ,  $D_n(n \text{ odd})$  or  $E_6$ , then  $\Sigma$  is isomorphic to  $\phi \tau^{-\frac{h_{\Delta}}{2}}$ . Here  $\phi$  is the automorphism of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  of order 2 induced by the automorphism  $\phi$  of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  defined in Theorem 7.5.
- (2) Let  $\Delta$  be of the form  $A_1, D_n(n \text{ even}), E_7$  or  $E_8$ , then  $\Sigma \cong \tau^{-\frac{h_{\Delta}}{2}}$ .
- (3) Let  $\Delta$  be of the form  $A_n(n \text{ even})$ , then  $\Sigma \cong \phi \tau^{-\frac{m_{\Delta}}{2}}$  where  $\phi$  is the automorphism of infinite order discussed in Theorem 7.5.

In particular, in all cases  $\Sigma^2 \cong \tau^{-h_{\Delta}}$ .



FIGURE 1. Illustration of the shift  $\Sigma$  of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(\vec{A}_3))$  as the composition of  $\tau^{-\frac{4}{2}}$  and  $\phi$  where  $\phi$  is the reflection at the dashed line.

Before we apply this to the classification, we insert one proposition which simplifies later calculations.

- PROPOSITION 9.3. (1) Let  $s := \gcd(h_{\Delta}, p)$  with  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, a thick subcategory S of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  is  $\langle \tau^p \rangle$ -invariant if and only if it is  $\langle \tau^s \rangle$ -invariant.
  - (2) Let  $s := r \mod h_\Delta$  with  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  and let

 $\phi \colon \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ 

be an automorphism. A thick subcategory S of  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\text{mod}(k\bar{\Delta}))$  is  $\langle \phi \tau^{r} \rangle$ -invariant if and only if it is  $\langle \phi \tau^{s} \rangle$ -invariant.

PROOF. Let  $gcd(h_{\Delta}, p) = s$ . Then, there are  $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $s = mh_{\Delta} + np$ . Let  $S \neq 0$  be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(mod(k\vec{\Delta}))$  which is  $\langle \tau^p \rangle$ -invariant. Let  $X \neq 0$  be indecomposable in S. Then, by Proposition 9.2

$$X = \tau^0(X) = \tau^{-mh_\Delta - np + s}(X) \cong \tau^{-np}(\Sigma^{2m})\tau^s(X).$$

Then,  $\Sigma^{2m}\tau^s(X) \cong \tau^{np}(X) \in \mathcal{S}$  since  $\mathcal{S}$  is  $\langle \tau^p \rangle$ -invariant. This implies  $\tau^s(X) \in \mathcal{S}$  since  $\mathcal{S}$  is thick.

Conversely, a  $\langle \tau^s \rangle$ -invariant subcategory is clearly  $\langle \tau^p \rangle$ -invariant. The second part works similarly applying  $\tau^{-h_{\Delta}} = \Sigma^2$ .

REMARK 9.4. In particular, there are no proper thick subcategories in the case p and  $h_{\Delta}$  are coprime since a  $\langle \tau^1 \rangle$ -invariant thick subcategory is either 0 or the whole ambient category.

#### 76 9. THICK SUBCATEGORIES OF ALGEBRAIC TRIANGULATED CATEGORIES

Finally, we obtain the following classification.

THEOREM 9.5. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(\Delta, r, t)$  excluding the cases  $(D_n, r, 2)$  for n even and  $(D_4, r, 3)$ . Let  $c \in W_{\Delta}$  be the Coxeter transformation with respect to an admissible numbering of some fixed orientation  $\vec{\Delta}$  of  $\Delta$ . Put

$$p = \begin{cases} r & \text{if } \operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (\Delta, r, 1), \\ \frac{h_{\Delta}}{2} + r & \text{if } \operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (A_{2n+1}, r, 2), (D_n, r, 2) \text{ with } n \text{ odd } or (E_6, r, 2), \\ \frac{m_{\Delta}}{2} + r & \text{if } \operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (A_{2n}, r, \infty), \end{cases}$$

and  $s = \gcd(h_{\Delta}, p)$ . Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ , and
- the set  $(NC(W_{\Delta}, c))^{c^s}$  of noncrossing partitions w satisfying

$$w = c^s w c^{-s}.$$

PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be as above. Then,  $\mathcal{T}$  is triangulated equivalent to  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle \phi \tau^r \rangle$  where  $\phi$  and  $\tau$  are induced by the respective weakly admissible groups of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  and  $\vec{\Delta}$  is the oriented diagram for some fixed orientation of  $\Delta$ .

By Theorem 3.4 the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$  are in bijective correspondence with the thick  $\langle \phi \tau^r \rangle$ -invariant subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ .

Using Proposition 9.2, a thick subcategory  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  is  $\langle \phi \tau^r \rangle$ invariant if and only if it is  $\langle \tau^p \rangle$ -invariant. This is because  $\Sigma(\mathcal{S}) = \mathcal{S}$ .

By Proposition 9.3, Theorem 6.2 and Proposition 9.1 the thick  $\langle \tau^p \rangle$ invariant subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  are in correspondence with the elements of NC( $W_{\Delta}, c$ ) which are invariant under *s*-fold conjugation by *c*.  $\Box$ 

REMARK 9.6. The cases  $(D_n, r, 2)$  for *n* even and  $(D_4, r, 3)$  are excluded in this general theorem since in these cases it is not possible to express the automorphism  $\phi$  of order 2 or 3 in terms of  $\tau$  and  $\Sigma$ . We consider these cases separately in Proposition 9.12 and Proposition 9.13.

### **2.** The $A_n$ -case

If  $\Delta = A_n$  we can formulate the classification theorem in terms of the alternative description NC<sup>A</sup>(n + 1) of noncrossing partitions introduced in Chapter 5.1.

PROPOSITION 9.7. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(A_n, r, t)$ . Again let  $s = \gcd(h_{A_n}, p)$  where p depends on the type as discussed in Theorem 9.5. Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ , and
- the set of elements of NC<sup>A</sup>(n + 1) invariant under a clockwise rotation by  $s\frac{2\pi}{n+1}$ .

PROOF. By Proposition 5.11 conjugation by the Coxeter transformation corresponds to rotation. Then, use Theorem 9.5.  $\Box$ 

EXAMPLE 9.8. Let  $\Lambda$  the Nakayama algebra with  ${}_{s}\Gamma_{\Lambda} = \mathbb{Z}A_{5}/\langle \tau^{4} \rangle$ . Then,  $h_{A_{5}} = 6$  and  $s = \gcd(4, 6) = 2$ .

Hence, we are interested in the noncrossing partitions of  $\{1, \ldots, 6\}$  which are invariant under rotation by  $\frac{2}{3}\pi$ . They are listed here together with their corresponding thick subcategories of  $\underline{\text{mod}}(\Lambda)$  indicated by their indecomposables arranged in the Auslander-Reiten quiver  ${}_{s}\Gamma_{\Lambda} = \mathbb{Z}A_{5}/\langle \tau^{-4} \rangle$ .



3. The  $D_n$ -case

Analogously, we can formulate the classification for  $\Delta = D_n$ . Recall the maps  $\rho, \sigma \colon \operatorname{NC}^D(n) \to \operatorname{NC}^D(n)$  from Definition 5.13.

PROPOSITION 9.9. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(D_n, r, t)$  excepting  $(D_n, r, 2)$  for n even and  $(D_4, r, 3)$ . Let  $s = \gcd(h_{D_n}, r)$  or  $s = \gcd(h_{D_n}, r + \frac{h_{\Delta}}{2})$  depending on t (see Theorem 9.5). Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ , and
- the set of elements of  $NC^D(n)$  invariant under  $(\sigma \rho)^s$ .

Note that  $\sigma^s = \text{id } \text{if } s \text{ is even and } \sigma^s = \sigma \text{ if } s \text{ is odd, and that } \rho \text{ and } \sigma \text{ commute.}$ 

PROOF. Apply Theorem 9.5 and Lemma 5.14.

EXAMPLE 9.10. Let  $\Lambda$  be a self-injective representation-finite algebra with typ( $\Lambda$ ) = ( $D_5$ , 2, 2), i.e. its stable Auslander-Reiten quiver is of the form  $\mathbb{Z}D_5/\langle \phi \tau^{14} \rangle$  or typ( $\underline{\text{mod}}(\Lambda)$ ) = ( $D_5$ , 14, 2). We have  $s = \gcd(8, 14 + \frac{8}{2}) = 2$ and hence, applying Proposition 9.9, we look for the  $\rho^2$ -invariant elements of NC<sup>D</sup>(5). Here  $\rho^2$  is a rotation by  $\frac{\pi}{2}$ . The invariance works for instance for the first two of the following partitions, but not for the third.



The corresponding thick subcategories in the first two cases are the following thick subcategories.



Since we cannot express  $\phi$  in terms of  $\Sigma$  and  $\tau$  if n is even, we have to study this case separately. The following lemma and the following proposition work for arbitrary n but we only have to use it for even n.

LEMMA 9.11. Let S be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_n))$ . Let  $\phi$  be the automorphism of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_n))$  induced by the automorphism  $\phi$  of order 2 of  $\mathbb{Z}D_n$  defined in Theorem 7.5. Then,

$$\cos(\phi(\mathcal{S})) = \sigma(\cos(\mathcal{S})).$$

PROOF. Recall that  $\phi: \mathbb{Z}D_n \to \mathbb{Z}D_n$  exchanges (i, n-1) and  $(i, n) \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and fixes the other vertices. According to Riedtmann [74] we call the vertices (i, n - 1) and (i, n) for  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  high vertices and the others low vertices. Accordingly, we will call the indecomposable objects of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_n))$  high or low. The map  $\phi$  induces an automorphism on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_n))$  and hence on  $\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_n)$ . Fix the following orientation and numbering of  $D_n$ .



Determining the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $mod(kD_n)$  with respect to this orientation one sees that  $\phi$  maps the indecomposable high representation



FIGURE 2. Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $mod(kD_5)$ . High representations are coloured grey.

 $E_{n-t}^{n-1}$  of  $\vec{D}_n$  represented by the dimension vector  $e_{n-1} + e_{n-2} + \ldots + e_{n-t}$  to the high representation  $E_{n-t}^n$  representated by  $e_n + e_{n-2} + \ldots + e_{n-t}$  and vice versa. The low representations are fixed.

We have

$$s_{E_{n-t}^n} = s_n s_{n-2} \cdots s_{n-t} \cdots s_{n-2}^{-1} s_n^{-1} = ((-(n-t), n))$$

and

$$s_{E_{n-t}^{n-1}} = s_{n-1}s_{n-2}\cdots s_{n-t}\cdots s_{n-2}^{-1}s_{n-1}^{-1} = ((n-t,n)).$$

Now let S be a thick subcategory and let w be the corresponding  $D_n$ -partition. Again we consider w block by block.

A pair of non-zero blocks  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_k\} \cup \{-i_1, \ldots, -i_k\}$  corresponds to a paired cycle  $(i_1, \ldots, i_k)(-i_1, \ldots, -i_k)$ . This is a product of reflections

$$((i_1, i_2))((i_2, i_3)) \cdots ((i_{k-1}, i_k)) = s_{E_1} \cdots s_{E_{k-1}}$$

corresponding to an exceptional sequence  $E_1, \ldots, E_{k-1}$  in  $mod(k\vec{D}_n)$ .

If n and -n are not contained in the paired cycle, then none of the representations  $E_1, \ldots, E_{k-1}$  are high representations and hence applying  $\phi$  does not change w. If n is contained, we have the product of reflections

$$(i_1,\ldots,n)(-i_1,\ldots,-n) = ((i_1,i_2))\cdots((i_{k-1},n))$$

corresponding to an exceptional sequence  $E_{i_1}, \ldots, E_{i_{k-1}} = E_{i_{k-1}}^{n-1}$ . A consideration of the morphisms in  $k(\mathbb{Z}D_n)$  as in [74] shows that the sequence  $\phi(E_{i_1}) = E_{i_1}, \ldots, \phi(E_{i_{k-1}}^{n-1}) = E_{i_{k-1}}^n$  is exceptional. Hence,

$$s_{\phi(E_1)} \cdots s_{\phi(E_{i_{k-1}})} = ((i_1, i_2)) \cdots ((-i_{k-1}, n)) = (i_1, \dots, -n)(-i_1, \dots, n).$$

#### 80 9. THICK SUBCATEGORIES OF ALGEBRAIC TRIANGULATED CATEGORIES

Finally, consider a zero-block represented by

$$(i_1, \dots, i_k, -i_1, \dots, -i_k)(n, -n) = ((i_1, i_2)) \cdots ((i_{k-1}, i_k))((i_k, n))((i_k, -n))$$
$$= s_{E_{i_1}} \cdots s_{E_{i_k}^{n-1}} s_{E_{i_k}^n}.$$

Applying  $\phi$  to the exceptional sequence, yields the same term since  $((i_k, n))$  and  $((i_k, -n))$  commute.

PROPOSITION 9.12. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(D_n, r, 2)$ . Let  $s = r \mod h_{D_n}$ . There is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ , and
- the set of elements of  $NC^{D}(n)$  invariant under  $\sigma^{s+1}\rho^{s}$ .

PROOF. Use the second part of Proposition 9.3 for the reduction to  $s = r \mod h_{D_n}$ . Then, apply Lemma 5.14 and Lemma 9.11.

Finally, the case of a category of type  $(D_4, r, 3)$  is still missing. Easy observations allow us to classify the thick subcategories in this case by hand.

PROPOSITION 9.13. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected algebraic and standard of type  $(D_4, r, 3)$ .

Put  $s = r \mod 3$ . So we may assume  $s \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ .

If s = 0, the only proper thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$  are in correspondence with the following thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_4))$ .



In the cases s = 1 and s = 2 there are no proper thick subcategories.

PROOF. Let  $\phi$  be the automorphism of order 3 described in Theorem 7.5. Since  $\Sigma \cong \tau^3$ , we have that a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{D}_4))$  is  $\langle \phi \tau^r \rangle$ -invariant if and only if it is  $\langle \phi \tau^s \rangle$ -invariant.

In case s = 0, adding further indecomposables to the described proper thick subcategories would yield the whole category because of thickness.

The same argument shows that in case s = 1 and s = 2 there are no proper thick subcategories.

#### 4. The number of thick subcategories

Thinking of Chapter 5.5, there is a polynomial determining the number of thick subcategories. Namely, the classifying set  $(NC(W_{\Delta}, c))^{c^s}$  is the fixed point set appearing in the cyclic sieving phenomenon for noncrossing partitions.

THEOREM 9.14. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(\Delta, r, t)$  excluding the cases  $(D_n, r, 2)$ 

for n even and  $(D_4, r, 3)$ . Let  $c \in W_{\Delta}$  be the Coxeter transformation with respect to an admissible numbering of  $\vec{\Delta}$ . Put

$$p = \begin{cases} r & \text{if } \operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (\Delta, r, 1), \\ \frac{h_{\Delta}}{2} + r & \text{if } \operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (A_{2n+1}, r, 2), (D_n, r, 2) \text{ with } n \text{ odd } or (E_6, r, 2), \\ \frac{m_{\Delta}}{2} + r & \text{if } \operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (A_{2n}, r, \infty), \end{cases}$$

and  $s = \text{gcd}(h_{\Delta}, p)$ . Then, the number of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$  equals

$$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{\Delta}, z_{o(c^s)}) = \operatorname{Cat}(W_{\Delta}, e^{2\pi i s/h_{\Delta}}).$$

PROOF. Use Theorem 9.5 and Theorem 5.10. Moreover, the order of  $c^s$  equals  $\frac{h_{\Delta}}{s}$  since s divides  $h_{\Delta}$ .

EXAMPLE 9.15. We return to the previous example of a self-injective algebra  $\Lambda$  with typ $(\underline{\text{mod}}(\Lambda)) = (D_5, 14, 2)$ . We have  $s = \gcd(8, 18) = 2$ . The order of  $c^2$  equals 4, and hence the number of thick subcategories of  $\operatorname{mod}(\Lambda)$  is equal to

$$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{D_5}, e^{\frac{\pi i}{2}}) = 6.$$

Let us check this number. The thick subcategories correspond by Proposition 9.9 to the elements of  $NC^{D}(5)$  which are invariant under rotation by  $\frac{\pi}{2}$  and these are the following six elements of  $NC^{D}(5)$ .



Again there are two cases which are not covered by the theorem. If  $\operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (D_4, r, 3)$ , then we can count the thick subcategories by hand according to Theorem 9.13. If  $\operatorname{typ}(\mathcal{T}) = (D_n, r, 2)$  for an even n, then we can use the combinatorial description  $\operatorname{NC}^D(n)$  to count. This is possible in general for types  $(D_n, r, t)$  with  $t \leq 2$  and  $(A_n, r, t)$ , and for the sake of completeness we present the observations for all these types. Also this approach contains a description or even an algorithm to construct the relevant elements in  $\operatorname{NC}^A(n)$  or  $\operatorname{NC}^D(n)$ .

PROPOSITION 9.16. Let h = xs with  $x, s \in \mathbb{N}$  and x > 1. Then, there is a surjective map

 $F: \{elements of NC^{A}(h) \text{ invariant under rotation by } (s\frac{2\pi}{h})\} \to NC^{A}(s).$ 

Moreover, for each  $w \in NC^{A}(s)$  there are exactly s + 1 elements in the preimage of w under F. Hence, the number of elements of  $NC^{A}(h)$  invariant under rotation by  $s\frac{2\pi}{h}$  equals  $(s+1)C_s = \binom{2s}{s}$ .

PROOF. The map F is given as follows. Let  $w = w_1 \cup \ldots \cup w_r$  be an invariant noncrossing partition of  $\{1, \ldots, h\}$ . Then,

$$F(w) = F(w_1) \cup \ldots \cup F(w_r)$$

with

$$F(w_i) = F(\{p_1, \dots, p_m\}) = \{[p_1], \dots, [p_m]\}$$

where  $[p_j] = p_j \mod s$  if  $s \nmid p_j$  and  $[p_j] = s$  otherwise.

To a partition in  $NC^{A}(s)$  we construct all partitions in its preimage. This construction requires the Kreweras complement K(w) for  $w \in NC^{A}(n)$  defined in Chapter 5.4.

Now let  $w \in NC^A(s)$ . We list all s+1 partitions in the preimage of w. In particular, this provides a method to construct all  $(s\frac{2\pi}{h})$ -invariant noncrossing partitions of  $\{1, \ldots, h\}$  from the noncrossing partitions of  $\{1, \ldots, s\}$ .

Let  $w = w_1 \cup \ldots \cup w_r$  be a noncrossing partition of  $\{1, \ldots, s\}$ . A block  $w_i$  of w corresponds in the preimage

- either to a big block of cardinality  $x|w_i|$
- or to x disjoint blocks of cardinality  $|w_i|$ .

Otherwise the partition in the preimage would be crossing or not invariant.

To each block  $w_i$  of w we define a partition in the preimage which contains a big block of cardinality  $x|w_i|$ . All other blocks of this partition are uniquely determined by this. Otherwise the partition would be crossing. This construction yields r partitions in the preimage.

Next we define to each block of K(w) a partition in the preimage of w. Let v be a partition in the preimage of K(w) under F containing a big block. There is a partition  $u \in NC^A(h)$  with v = K(u). Thus,

$$F(u) = F(K(v)) = K(F(v)) = K(K(w)) = w,$$

and u does not contain a big block since otherwise  $K(u) \cup u$  would be crossing. Therefore, u is different from the partitions defined in the first step. Moreover, the partitions constructed from different blocks of K(w) are different since the assignment K is bijective. Simion and Ullman show in [79] that K(w) has s - r + 1 blocks and hence, we obtain s - r + 1 further partitions in the preimage.

Altogether, we have defined r + s - r + 1 = s + 1 partitions in the preimage.

It remains to show that there are no further. Let  $v \in NC^A(h)$  be a partition in  $F^{-1}(w)$ . If v contains a big block, we have counted v in the first step. If not, v contains exactly xr blocks, hence K(v) contains h - (xr) + 1 blocks. Consider K(v). If K(v) contains a big block, we have counted v in the second step. If not, K(v) contains x(s + 1 - r) blocks. Thus, h - xr + 1 = x(s + 1 - r) and this implies x = 1, a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

REMARK 9.17. The above proposition counts the number of thick subcategories for a finite algebraic triangulated category of type  $(A_n, r, t)$ . Just put  $h = h_{A_n}$  and  $s = \gcd(h, p)$  according to Theorem 9.5.

EXAMPLE 9.18. Let s = 2 and  $h = 3 \cdot 2 = 6$ . The noncrossing partitions of  $\{1, 2\}$  are the following black coloured partitions.



The elements of  $NC^{A}(h)$  invariant under rotation by  $s\frac{2\pi}{h}$  are given by the following partitions. First we construct the preimage of the first partition.



And this is the preimage of the second partition. The grey coloured parti-



tions represent the partitions of the primed numbers as used in the proof of Proposition 9.16.

PROPOSITION 9.19. Let s be an integer with  $0 \le s \le h_{D_n} = 2n - 2$ . Then,

$$\#(\mathrm{NC}^{D}(n))^{(\sigma\rho)^{s}} = \begin{cases} \binom{2p}{p} \text{ with } p = \gcd(n-1,s) & \text{if } s \notin \{0, n-1, 2n-2\},\\ \operatorname{Cat}(D_{n}) & \text{if } s = 0, 2n-2, \text{ or if}\\ s = n-1 \text{ with } n \text{ even},\\ \operatorname{Cat}(D_{n-1}) & \text{if } s = n-1 \text{ with } n \text{ odd}. \end{cases}$$

Here  $\operatorname{Cat}(D_n) = \binom{2n}{n} - \binom{2n-2}{n-1}$ .

PROOF. Denote by  $NC^{D}_{\pm}(n)$  the elements of  $NC^{D}(n)$  with a non-zero block containing n or -n.

Assume  $s \notin \{0, n-1, 2n-2\}$ . The elements of  $\operatorname{NC}^D_{\pm}(n)$  are not  $(\sigma\rho)^{s}$ invariant: Let  $w \in \operatorname{NC}^D_{\pm}(n)$  and let B be a block of w with  $n \in B$ . Then  $C := (\sigma\rho)^s(B)$  is a block containing n or -n which is neither B itself nor  $-B = \sigma\rho^{n-1}(B)$ . If the partition was  $(\sigma\rho)^s$ -invariant, C would be a block
of w, but this is not possible since C and B or -B are neither equal nor
disjoint.

Hence, we have a correspondence between

- $(\mathrm{NC}^D(n))^{(\sigma\rho)^s}$ , and
- the elements of  $NC^D(n) \setminus NC^D_{\pm}(n)$  invariant under rotation by  $s_{\frac{\pi}{n-1}}$ .

Let  $p = \gcd(n-1, s)$ . Since each element of  $\mathrm{NC}^{D}(n) \setminus \mathrm{NC}^{D}_{\pm}(n)$  is invariant under rotation by  $(n-1)\frac{\pi}{n-1}$ , we can add a correspondence with

• the elements of  $NC^{D}(n) \setminus NC^{D}_{+}(n)$  invariant under rotation by  $p\frac{\pi}{n-1}$ .

These elements, in turn, are canonically in correspondence with

• the elements of NC<sup>A</sup>(2n-2) invariant under rotation by  $p\frac{\pi}{n-1}$ .

For this purpose, just forget the centroid. Note that a zero-block containing only a single pair i and -i — which is not allowed for  $NC^{D}(n)$  — does not appear since  $p \neq n-1$  by assumption.

Since p is a non-trivial divisor of 2n - 2, by Proposition 5.5 the above elements correspond to

•  $NC^B(p)$ 

and the number of elements in that is equal to  $\binom{2p}{p}$ .

Next, assume s = 2n - 2 or s = 0. Then, the number equals the number of elements in NC<sup>D</sup>(n) invariant under rotation by  $2\pi$ . These are all, and as mentioned in Chapter 5 their number equals the type D Catalan number  $\operatorname{Cat}(D_n) = {\binom{2n}{n}} - {\binom{2n-2}{n-1}}.$ 

If s = n - 1 where *n* is even, we have to count the elements of  $NC^{D}(n)$  invariant under  $\sigma \rho^{n-1}$ . This is again all of  $NC^{D}(n)$  by definition.

Finally, let s = n - 1 and let n be odd. We look for the  $(\sigma \rho)^{n-1} = \rho^{n-1}$ invariant elements of  $\mathrm{NC}^D(n)$ . These are the elements  $\mathrm{NC}^D(n) \setminus \mathrm{NC}^D_{\pm}(n)$ . As above we compare this with the elements of  $\mathrm{NC}^A(2n-2)$  which are invariant under rotation by  $(n-1)\frac{\pi}{n-1} = \pi$ . But this time, this set, which consists of  $\binom{2(n-1)}{n-1}$  elements, is too big. We have to ignore the elements which would correspond to a single pair  $\{i, -i\}$  in  $\mathrm{NC}^D(n)$ . With the help of Proposition 9.16 we can count these elements. Recall the surjective map

 $F: \{\text{elements of NC}^A(2n-2) \text{ inv. under rotation by } \pi\} \to \text{NC}^A(n-1).$ 

Let w be a partition of  $NC^A(2n-2)$  which we want to ignore, i.e. w contains exactly one block of the form  $\{i, i+(n-1)\}$  where  $1 \le i \le n-1$ . Then, F(w)contains a singleton  $\{i\}$ , and  $F(w) \setminus \{i\}$  can be understood as an arbitrary element of  $NC^A(n-2)$ . Hence, the preimage of F(w) consists of  $C_{n-2} = \frac{1}{n-1}\binom{2(n-2)}{n-2}$  elements. There are n-1 possibilities to place the 'forbidden' block in w and thus, we subtract  $(n-1)\frac{1}{n-1}\binom{2(n-2)}{n-2} = \binom{2(n-2)}{n-2}$ .

REMARK 9.20. The above proposition counts the number of thick subcategories of a finite algebraic triangulated category of type  $(D_n, r, 1)$  or  $(D_n, r, 2)$  if n is odd. Just put  $s = \gcd(h_{D_n}, r)$  or  $s = \gcd(h_{D_n}, r + \frac{h_{D_n}}{2})$ , respectively.

PROPOSITION 9.21. Let s be an integer with  $0 \le s \le h_{D_n} = 2n - 2$ . Then,

$$#(\mathrm{NC}^{D}(n))^{\sigma^{s+1}\rho^{s}} = \begin{cases} \binom{2p}{p} \text{ with } p = \gcd(n-1,s) & \text{if } s \notin \{0,n-1,2n-2\},\\ \operatorname{Cat}(D_{n-1}) & \text{if } s = 0,2n-2, \text{ or if}\\ s = n-1 \text{ with } n \text{ even},\\ \operatorname{Cat}(D_{n}) & \text{if } s = n-1 \text{ with } n \text{ odd}. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. The arguments are completely analogous to the arguments in Proposition 9.19 taking into account the change from  $\sigma^s$  to  $\sigma^{s+1}$ .

#### 5. OVERVIEW

REMARK 9.22. This counts in particular the thick subcategories of a finite algebraic triangulated category of type  $(D_n, r, 2)$  for even n. Put  $s = r \mod h_{D_n}$ . This is the case which was not yet covered by Theorem 9.14.

### 5. Overview

Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(\Delta, r, t)$ . The following table gives an overview of the classification of the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$  and of the number of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Moreover, one can see where to find the respective information within this thesis.

Note that each row contains at least one entry concerning classification and one entry concerning counting. Hence, the classification is complete.

In all cases denote by  $c \in W_{\Delta}$  the respective Coxeter transformation with respect to an admissible numbering of some fixed orientation of  $\Delta$ .

type	classifying poset	alternative description	number as	number
0 pc	classifying poset	alternative description	W-q-Catalan number	directly
$(A_n, r, 1)$		elements of $NC^A(n+1)$	*	$C_s$ if $s = n + 1$ ;
	$(\mathrm{NC}(W_{A_{\pi}},c))^{c^{s}}$ .	invariant under rotation	$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{A_n}, e^{\frac{2\pi i s}{n+1}})$	$\binom{2s}{2}$ else:
	( - ( · · · · · ) ) )	by $s \frac{2\pi}{m+1}$ ,	- · · · (· · · · · · · )	(s)
	$s = \gcd(n+1, r),$	$s = \gcd(n+1, r),$		
	see Theorem 9.5	see Proposition 9.7	Theorem 9.14	Proposition 9.16
$(A_n, r, 2)$		elements of $NC^A(n+1)$		$C_s$ if $s = n + 1;$
$n\geq 3~{\rm odd}$	$(\operatorname{NC}(W_{A_n},c))^{c^s},$	invariant under rotation	$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{A_n}, e^{\frac{2\pi i s}{n+1}})$	$\binom{2s}{s}$ else;
		by $s \frac{2\pi}{n+1}$ ,		
	$s = \gcd(n+1, \frac{n+1}{2} + r),$	$s = \gcd(n+1, \frac{n+1}{2} + r),$	<b>T1</b> 0.11	<b>D</b>
	see Theorem 9.5	see Proposition 9.7	Theorem 9.14	Proposition 9.16
$(A_n, r, \infty)$		elements of NC <sup><math>(n+1)</math></sup>	$2\pi is$	$C_s$ if $s = n + 1;$
n even	$(\mathrm{NC}(W_{A_n},c))^c$ ,	invariant under rotation	$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{A_n}, e^{n+1})$	$\binom{23}{s}$ else;
	$\frac{1}{n}$	by $s_{\overline{n+1}}^{\underline{n+1}}$ ,		
	$s = \gcd(n+1, \frac{1}{2}+r),$	$s = \gcd(n+1, \frac{1}{2}+r),$	Theorem 0.14	Proposition 0.16
$(D_{-}, r, 1)$	see Theorem 5.5	elements of $NC^{D}(n)$	111corem 5.14	$Cat(D_{r})$
$(D_n, r, 1)$	$(NC(W_{\rm D}-c))^{c^s}$	invariant under $(\sigma_a)^s$	$Cat(W_{\rm D} = e^{\frac{\pi i s}{n-1}})$	$\operatorname{if} e = 2n = 2$
	$s = \gcd(2n - 2, r).$	$s = \operatorname{gcd}(2n - 2, r)$	$\operatorname{Cat}(WD_n, e^{n-1})$	or $s = n - 1$ odd:
	· , , , ,	· goa(=:· =;·);		$\operatorname{Cat}(D_{n-1})$
				if $s = n - 1$ even;
				$\binom{2p}{p}$ else where
				$p = \gcd(n-1,s);$
	see Theorem 9.5	see Proposition 9.9	Theorem 9.14	Proposition 9.19
$(D_n, r, 2)$	q	elements of $NC^{D}(n)$	$\pi is$	$\operatorname{Cat}(D_n)$
n  odd	$(\operatorname{NC}(W_{D_n}, c))^{c^-},$	invariant under $(\sigma \rho)^s$	$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{D_n}, e^{\overline{n-1}})$	if s = 2n - 2;
	$s = \gcd(2n-2, \frac{2n-2}{2}+r),$	$s = \gcd(2n-2, \frac{2n-2}{2}+r),$		$\operatorname{Cat}(D_{n-1})$
				$\begin{array}{l} \text{II } s = n - 1; \\ \binom{2p}{2} \text{ olso where} \end{array}$
				$\binom{p}{p}$ ense where $n = \operatorname{acd}(n = 1, s)$ :
	see Theorem 9.5	see Proposition 9.9	Theorem 9.14	p = gcu(n = 1, 3), Proposition 9.19
$(D_n, r, 2)$		elements of $NC^{D}(n)$		$\operatorname{Cat}(D_{n-1})$
n even		invariant under $\sigma^{s+1}\rho^s$ ,		if $s = 0$
		$s = r \operatorname{mod}(2n - 2),$		or $s = n - 1;$
				$\binom{2p}{p}$ else where
		D ::: 0.19		$p = \gcd(n-1,s);$
(D, -2)		see Proposition 9.12		Proposition 9.21
$(D_4, r, 3)$		$s = r \mod 5$ , s = 0; six distinguished		8
		proper thick subcategories.		0
		s = 1, 2: no proper ones,		2
		see Proposition 9.13		
$(E_n, r, 1)$	P			
n = 6, 7, 8	$(\operatorname{NC}(W_{E_n},c))^{c^{\circ}},$		$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{E_n}, e^{2\pi i s/h_{E_n}})$	
	$s = \gcd(h_{E_n}, r),$		<b>T</b> I 0.14	
	see Theorem 9.5		Theorem 9.14 $\pi^{is}$	
$(E_6, r, 2)$			$\operatorname{Cat}(W_{E_6}, e^{\overline{-6-}})$	
	$(\operatorname{NC}(W_{E_6}, c))^{\circ},$ $e = \operatorname{acd}(12, m + 6)$			
	$s = gcu(12, \tau + 0),$ see Theorem 9.5		Theorem $9.14$	
	500 THOTOH 3.0		110010111 J.14	

#### 6. The cyclic sieving phenomenon for thick subcategories

We have seen above that the W-q-Catalan number appearing in the cyclic sieving phenomenon for noncrossing partitions helps us counting thick subcategories.

But we can also view it the other way round. The set of thick subcategories yields a correspondent of this combinatorial phenomenon in the algebraic or category theoretical world. To make this clear, we formulate it explicitly.

Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be a Dynkin quiver and denote by  $T(\mathcal{D}^b(k\vec{\Delta}))$  the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ . The Auslander-Reiten translation  $\tau$  acts canonically on this set. Note that then  $\langle \tau \rangle$  is a finite group since  $\tau^{h_{\Delta}} = \Sigma^{-2}$ and this is the identity on  $T(\mathcal{D}^b(k\vec{\Delta}))$ . Then, the triple

$$(T(\mathcal{D}^b(k\vec{\Delta})), \langle \tau \rangle, \operatorname{Cat}(W_{\Delta}, q)))$$

exhibits the cyclic sieving phenomenon.

Here the fixed point set

$$(T(\mathcal{D}^b(k\vec{\Delta})))^{\tau^*}$$

for  $1 \leq s \leq h_{\Delta}$  corresponds to the set of thick subcategories of the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle \tau^s \rangle$ . As mentioned in Chapter 7, after an observation of Xiao und Zhu [85] the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\langle \tau^s \rangle$  is actually a triangulated category for each s.

#### 7. The lattice structure

Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite triangulated category which is connected, algebraic and standard of type  $(\Delta, r, t)$ . The set  $T(\mathcal{T})$  of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ forms a lattice as it does for any triangulated category. In fact, we can view it as a *sublattice* of the lattice of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  by identifying a thick subcategory  $\mathcal{S}$  in  $\mathcal{T}$  with its preimage  $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  where  $\pi$  is the projection  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/\Phi \cong \mathcal{T}$ . Analogously,  $T(\mathcal{T})$ corresponds to a sublattice of NC(W, c). Denote by

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{cox}}: T(\mathcal{T}) \to \operatorname{NC}(W, c)$$

the associated map. This is given by  $\mathcal{S} \mapsto \cos(\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S}))$ . It is orderpreserving since  $\pi$  and  $\cos$  are. Also it is compatible with taking lattice complements.

**PROPOSITION 9.23.** Let S be a thick subcategory of T. Then,

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{cox}}({}^{\perp}\mathcal{S}) = K^c(\widetilde{\operatorname{cox}}(\mathcal{S})).$$

PROOF. First we need to show that  $\pi^{-1}(S^{\perp}) = (\pi^{-1}(S)^{\perp})$ . Observe that we usually identify the objects in the orbit category with the objects in the original category but for clarity we will speak for instance of  $\pi(X)$  indicating that the object is considered in the orbit category. Pick an element  $Z \in$  $\pi^{-1}(S^{\perp})$ . Then, for each  $R \in \pi^{-1}(S)$  we have

$$0 = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(\pi(R), \pi(Z)) \cong \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\vec{\Delta})}(R, \Phi^{n}Z).$$

In particular, this implies  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(k\vec{\Delta})}(R,Z) = 0$  for each  $R \in \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  and hence,  $Z \in (\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S}))^{\perp}$ .

Now pick  $Z \in (\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S}))^{\perp}$ . Consider an arbitrary object of  $\mathcal{S}$ . This is of the form  $\pi(R)$  for some  $R \in \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  since  $\pi$  is dense. Then,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(\pi(R), \pi(Z)) \cong \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\vec{\Delta})}(\Phi^{n}(R), Z).$$

Observe that  $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  is naturally  $\langle \Phi \rangle$ -invariant and therefore,  $\Phi^n(R) \in \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence, we have that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(k\vec{\Delta})}(\Phi^n(R), Z)$  equals zero for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and so does the above direct sum. Thus,  $\pi(Z) \in \mathcal{S}^{\perp}$  and so  $Z \in \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S}^{\perp})$ .

The assertion for the left perpendicular category is analogous.

An application of Proposition 6.5 now proves the statement.

EXAMPLE 9.24. As in Section 2 of this chapter we consider a triangulated category  $\mathcal{T}$  of type  $(A_5, 4, 1)$ . The following diagram shows exemplary how we may determine  ${}^{\perp}\mathcal{S}$  from a thick subcategory  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  via the Kreweras complement K in  $NC^A(6)$ .



#### CHAPTER 10

# Thick subcategories for orbit algebras of repetitive algebras

#### 1. The classification

In Chapter 8.3 we introduced repetitive algebras and their orbit algebras. This is an important class of self-injective algebras. Self-injective algebras of finite representation type are of this form. Namely they are isomorphic to an orbit algebra  $\hat{A}/G$  where A is a representation-finite hereditary algebra and G is an admissible group of automorphisms. The stable module categories of these algebras are classified by Amiot's Theorem 7.8 as orbit categories of derived categories of representation-finite hereditary algebras and therefore, we could give a complete classification of the thick subcategories by the last chapter.

If A is an arbitrary hereditary finite-dimensional algebra and G is an admissible group of automorphism on  $\hat{A}$ , there is no such classification of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$  similar to Amiot's. Let

$$H\colon \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A)) \to \underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$$

be the triangulated equivalence of Theorem 8.20 and let H' be its quasiinverse. In the sequel we refer to H as the Happel functor. Recall that  $g \in G$  induces an automorphism on  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$  which we denote by the same letter. Then, via the Happel functor  $g \in G$  induces an automorphism g' on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  according to the following diagram.

$$\underbrace{\operatorname{mod}}_{g}(\hat{A}) \xleftarrow{H} \mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$$

$$\downarrow^{g}_{g} \xrightarrow{\downarrow} \stackrel{i}{g'}_{\psi}$$

$$\underbrace{\operatorname{mod}}_{H'}(\hat{A}) \xrightarrow{H'} \mathcal{D}^{b}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$$

If we assume that the induced automorphism group G' is generated by one automorphism on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ , we can consider the orbit category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/G'$ . Now in general it is not clear whether  $\operatorname{mod}(\hat{A}/G)$  is triangulated equivalent to  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/G'$  where G' is the induced automorphism group. If one does not assume certain properties for  $\hat{A}$  (like that it is locally bounded and locally support-finite), the categories might not even be equivalent as additive categories.

Nevertheless, we can classify the thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$  in the following setting. We assume that the push-down functor  $F_{\lambda} \colon \underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}) \to \underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$  associated to the projection  $F \colon \hat{A} \to \hat{A}/G$  is dense. Moreover, we assume that the induced automorphism group G' on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  fulfils the assumptions in Keller's Theorem 3.3. Note that this means in particular that

we need to assume that G' and therefore also G is a cyclic group generated by one automorphism of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$ .

THEOREM 10.1. Let A be a hereditary finite-dimensional k-algebra, let  $\hat{A}$  be its repetitive algebra and let G be a cyclic admissible group of automorphism on  $\hat{A}$ . Assume that  $F_{\lambda}$  and G' fulfil the assumptions described above. Then, there is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$ ,
- the set of G-invariant thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$ , and
- the set of G'-invariant thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ .

PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a thick subcategory of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$ . In [21, Section 3.2] it is shown that  $F_{\lambda}$  is an exact functor which sends projectives to projectives. Hence, taking into account the construction of triangles for the two Frobenius categories, one can show that it is a triangle functor. Hence,  $F_{\lambda}^{-1}(\mathcal{C})$  is a thick subcategory of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$  and it is clear that it is *G*-invariant.

Now let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a thick and G-invariant subcategory of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$ . We need to show that  $F_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C})$  is thick in  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$ . We proceed very similarly to the proof of Theorem 3.4 and actually use parts of the proof.

Consider a triangle in  $\underline{\text{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$ . The push-down functor is dense and hence, we can write the objects of the triangle as images of objects in  $\underline{\text{mod}}(\hat{A})$ . Thus, the triangle has the form

$$F_{\lambda}(X) \to F_{\lambda}(Y) \to F_{\lambda}(Z) \to \Sigma F_{\lambda}(X).$$

Assume  $F_{\lambda}(X), F_{\lambda}(Y) \in F_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C})$ . This implies  $X, Y \in \mathcal{C}$ . Applying the pullup functor  $F_{\bullet}$  to the above triangle yields by Proposition 8.14 to a sequence in  $\underline{Mod}(\hat{A})$  of the form

$$\bigoplus_{g\in G}g(X)\to \bigoplus_{g\in G}g(Y)\to \bigoplus_{g\in G}g(Z)\to \Sigma\bigoplus_{g\in G}g(X).$$

The pull-up functor is exact since the push-down functor is (see for instance [20]). Moreover, it is easily seen in this setting that  $F_{\bullet}$  sends projectives to projectives. Therefore, this is a triangle again. In [60] Krause and Le extend the Happel functor to a functor

$$H' \colon \operatorname{\underline{Mod}}(\hat{A}) \to \mathcal{K}(\operatorname{Inj}(A))$$

which also preserves triangles. Apply this to the last triangle and get, since H' commutes with direct sums, a triangle of the form

$$\bigoplus_{g \in G} H'(g(X)) \to \bigoplus_{g \in G} H'(g(Y)) \to \bigoplus_{g \in G} H'(g(Z)) \to \Sigma \bigoplus_{g \in G} H'(g(X)).$$

Since H'g = g'H' for each  $g \in G$  this leads to a triangle

$$\bigoplus_{g'\in G'} g'(H'(X)) \to \bigoplus_{g'\in G'} g'(H'(Y)) \to \bigoplus_{g'\in G'} g'(H'(Z)) \to \Sigma \bigoplus_{g'\in G'} g'(H'(X))$$

in  $\mathcal{D}(\operatorname{Mod}(A))$ . Since G' fulfils the assumptions of Keller's Theorem, this is actually in  $\mathcal{D}(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  as in the proof of Theorem 3.3. Now consider  $H'(\mathcal{C})$  where H' is the quasi-equivalence of the original Happel functor here. This is a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  and it is G'-invariant. We have  $H'(X), H'(Y) \in H'(\mathcal{C})$ . Hence, we are exactly in the same situation as in the proof of Theorem 3.4. As there we can show that H'(Z) lies in  $H'(\mathcal{C})$ . Thus,  $Z \in \mathcal{C}$  and  $F_{\lambda}(Z) \in F_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C})$ . This shows that  $F_{\lambda}(\mathcal{C})$  is closed under triangles. Moreover, one can easily show that it also fulfils the other properties of a thick subcategory.

Finally, the correspondence with the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  comes for free using the Happel functor.

Note that the theorem yields an applicable method to classify thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A}/G)$  in the described setting since we know the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  well by Chapter 6. If A is of tame or finite representation type, we know them completely by Theorem 6.17. Thus, one only needs to check which of them are invariant under the action of the automorphism group.

In the sequel we execute this classification in two important cases.

## 2. Thick subcategories for trivial extension algebras of tame hereditary algebras

In Chapter 8 we introduced the r-fold trivial extension algebra  $T(A)^r = \hat{A}/\langle \nu_{\hat{A}}^r \rangle$ . We will use the classification of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  of Chapter 6 here and therefore, we refer to this chapter concerning notations et cetera. However, we introduce one new notation here. Recall the set NA(n) of noncrossing arcs. We denote by  $(\text{NA}(n))^s$  the set of noncrossing arcs which are invariant under rotation by  $s\frac{2\pi}{n}$ .

THEOREM 10.2. Let A be a tame hereditary k-algebra with regular part  $\mathcal{R}$  decomposing as  $\coprod_{j\in J} \mathcal{H}_j \times \coprod_{i=1}^s \mathcal{U}_{n_i}$ . The poset of thick subcategories of  $\operatorname{mod}(T(A)^r)$  corresponds bijectively to the union of posets

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}} \cup \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}}$$

where one has bijective correspondences

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}} &\longleftrightarrow & (\operatorname{NC}(W,c))^{c^{r}} \\ &= \{ w \in \operatorname{NC}(W,c) \mid c^{r}wc^{-r} = w \}, \\ \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}} &\longleftrightarrow & \{ (p,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) \mid p \in 2^{J}, x_{i} \in (\operatorname{NA}(n_{i}))^{r} \}, \\ \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}} \cap \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)^{\operatorname{inv}} &\longleftrightarrow & \{ (x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) \mid x_{i} \in (\operatorname{NA}^{\operatorname{exc}}(n_{i}))^{r} \}. \end{aligned}$$

PROOF. As mentioned in Chapter 8.3,  $\nu_{\hat{A}}$  induces the Nakayama automorphism on  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\hat{A})$  and this is isomorphic to  $\tau\Omega^{-2}$ . Since the Happel functor is a triangle functor which in particular preserves Auslander-Reiten triangles, the induced automorphism of  $\nu_{\hat{A}}$  on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  is isomorphic to  $\tau\Sigma^2$ . Since A is tame,  $\hat{A}$  is locally support-finite and hence, by Proposition 8.16 the push-down functor is dense. Moreover, it is easy to check that  $\tau^r\Sigma^{2r}$ fulfils the assumptions of Keller's Theorem. Thus, we can apply Theorem 10.1 and get that the thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(T(A)^r)$  correspond bijectively to the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(A))$  which are invariant under  $\langle \tau^r \Sigma^{2r} \rangle$  and since each thick subcategory is invariant under  $\Sigma$ , these are the thick subcategories which are invariant under  $\langle \tau^r \rangle$ .

The thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  in turn correspond to  $\text{Th}_{\text{exc}}(A) \cup$ Th<sub>reg</sub>(A) as stated in Theorem 6.17. A thick subcategory  $\mathcal{C} \in \text{Th}_{\text{exc}}(A)$  corresponds to  $\cos(\mathcal{C}) \in \text{NC}(W, c)$  and it is invariant under  $\langle \tau^r \rangle$  if and only if  $\cos(\mathcal{C}) = \cos(\tau^r(\mathcal{C}))$ . By Proposition 9.1 this holds if and only if

$$\cos(\mathcal{C}) = c^r \cos(\mathcal{C}) c^{-r}.$$

A thick subcategory  $\mathcal{C} \in \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(A)$  corresponds to  $\{(p, x_1, \ldots, x_s) \mid p \in 2^J, x_i \in \operatorname{NA}(n_i)\}$ . By definition of  $\operatorname{NA}(n_i)$  the  $\tau$ -action on  $\mathcal{C}$  corresponds to a rotation of the  $x_i \in \operatorname{NA}(n_i)$  by  $\frac{2\pi}{n_i}$ . Moreover, each homogeneous tube is invariant under  $\langle \tau^r \rangle$ .

EXAMPLE 10.3. Let A = kQ where Q is the following quiver with underlying graph  $\tilde{D}_4$ .

$$1 \xrightarrow{2} \xrightarrow{3} \xrightarrow{4} \xrightarrow{5}$$

Let r = 2. The author has written a gap program to compute noncrossing partitions invariant under r-fold conjugation with the Coxeter element (using braid group actions). The result is that there actually are proper thick subcategories in  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(A)$ . A  $\langle \tau^2 \rangle$ -invariant thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$ is illustrated in the following figure.



As the figure suggests already, the Auslander-Reiten quiver of kQ admits three exceptional tubes of rank 2 plus the usual infinite family of rank 1 tubes. Clearly, all thick subcategories of  $\text{Th}_{\text{reg}}(A)$  are invariant under  $\langle \tau^2 \rangle$ and  $(\text{NA}(2))^2 = \text{NA}(2)$ .

# **3.** Thick subcategories for $k\langle X, Y \rangle/(X^2, Y^2, XY - qYX)$

Let k be an algebraically closed field and let  $q \in k^*$ . We classify the thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$  where  $\Lambda_q$  is the algebra

$$k\langle X, Y \rangle / (X^2, Y^2, XY - qYX).$$

The algebra is isomorphic to the path algebra of the following quiver. with



respect to relations  $x^2 = y^2 = xy - qyx = 0$ . This is isomorphic to the orbit algebra  $\hat{B}/\langle F_q \rangle$  where  $B = k(1 \Rightarrow 2)$  is the Kronecker algebra, consequently  $\hat{B}$  is the path algebra of the following infinite quiver with respect to relations



 $x_{i+1}x_i = y_{i+1}y_i = x_{i+1}y_i - y_{i+1}x_i = 0$ , and  $F_q$  sends vertices i to i+1, arrows  $y_i$  to  $y_{i+1}$  and  $x_i$  to  $qx_{i+1}$ .

The objects in  $\underline{\text{mod}}(\hat{B})$  are locally representations of the Kronecker quiver, i.e. representations of the following form in some degree. Such a



representation is sent by  $F_q: \operatorname{\underline{mod}}(\hat{B}) \to \operatorname{\underline{mod}}(\hat{B})$  (the induced automorphism of  $F_q: \hat{B} \to \hat{B}$ ) to a representation of the following form.



The representations of the Kronecker quiver in turn are classified as follows.

- The indecomposable preprojective representations are uniquely determined by the dimension vectors (n, n + 1) for  $n \ge 0$ . The Auslander-Reiten translation  $\tau$  of a representation with dimension vector (n, n+1) is determined by the dimension vector (n-2, n-1)(for  $n \ge 2$ ).
- The indecomposable preinjective representations are uniquely determined by the dimension vectors (n + 1, n) for  $n \ge 0$ . The Auslander-Reiten translation  $\tau$  of a representation with dimension vector (n+1, n) is determined by the dimension vector (n+3, n+2).

• There is a  $P_1(k)$ -family of tubes of rank one where the indecomposable representations of regular length n have dimension vectors (n, n). Denote an indecomposable regular representation with dimension vector (n, n) parametrised by  $[\lambda : 1] \in P_1(k)$  by  $R(\lambda, n)$ .

Recall that indecomposable objects of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(B))$  are just given by shifts  $\Sigma^m(M)$  of the modules M described above.

We use the explicit construction of the Happel functor in [11] to determine the induced automorphism  $F_q$  on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(B))$  and get the following on indecomposable objects.

- $\Sigma^m(k^n \rightrightarrows k^{n+1}) \mapsto \Sigma^{m-1}(k^{n+1} \rightrightarrows k^{n+2})$  for  $n \ge 1$ ,
- $\Sigma^m(0 \Rightarrow k) \mapsto \Sigma^{m-1}(k \Rightarrow k^2),$   $\Sigma^m(k^{n+1} \Rightarrow k^n) \mapsto \Sigma^{m-1}(k^n \Rightarrow k^{n-1}) \text{ for } n \ge 2,$
- $\Sigma^m(k^2 \rightrightarrows k) \mapsto \Sigma^{m-1}(k \rightrightarrows 0),$
- $\Sigma^m(k \Rightarrow 0) \mapsto \Sigma^{m-1}(0 \Rightarrow k),$
- $\Sigma^m(R(\lambda, n)) \mapsto \Sigma^{m-1}(R(q^{-1}\lambda, n))$

for  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Observe that  $F_a^2(X) = \Sigma^{-2} \tau^{-1}(X)$  for  $X \in \mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(B))$  not regular.

By Theorem 10.1 the thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$  correspond to the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(B))$  which are invariant under  $\langle F_q \rangle$ . Again we may apply this since  $F_q$  obviously fulfils the assumptions of Keller's Theorem and since the push-down functor is dense since B is of tame representation type.

According to Theorem 6.17 the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(B))$  correspond to  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(B) \cup \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(B)$  where  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(B)$  corresponds to  $\operatorname{NC}(W, s_1 s_2)$ and  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(B)$  corresponds to  $2^{P_1(k)}$ . Moreover,  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(B) \cap \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(B) = \{0\}$ .

One can easily see (use for instance braid group actions on  $NC(W, s_1s_2)$ ) that a proper thick subcategory  $\mathcal{S} \in \mathrm{Th}_{\mathrm{exc}}(B)$  is of the form  $\mathcal{S} = \mathrm{add}(\Sigma^n X \mid$  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) for an indecomposable not regular object  $X \in \mathcal{D}^{b}(\text{mod}(B))$ . Then, if  $\mathcal{S}$  is  $\langle F_q \rangle$ -invariant, it contains X as well as  $F_q^2(X) = \Sigma^{-2} \tau^{-1}(X)$ . Thus, it also contains  $\tau^{-1}(X)$ . This would imply that  $\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(B))$ .

Finally, denote by

$$\varphi_q \colon P_1(k) \to P_1(k), [\lambda, 1] \mapsto [q^{-1}\lambda, 1].$$

A thick subcategory  $\mathcal{S} \in \operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(B)$  corresponds to  $V \in 2^{P_1(k)}$ . Hence, the  $\langle F_q \rangle$ -invariant thick subcategories of  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(B)$  correspond to  $2^{P_1(k)/\varphi_q}$ .

Altogether, we can record the following.

**PROPOSITION 10.4.** The set of thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$  is given by

$$\{\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda_q), \{0\}\} \cup \mathrm{Th}_{\mathrm{reg}}(B)$$

where  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{reg}}(B)$  corresponds bijectively to  $2^{P_1(k)/\varphi_q}$ . Hence, proper thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$  are collections of rank one tubes parametrised by orbits of  $P_1(k)$  under  $\varphi_q$ . 

- Remark 10.5. (1) If q = 1, then  $\Lambda_q$  is isomorphic to the group algebra of the Klein four group and  $P_1(k)/\varphi_q = P_1(k)$ .
  - (2) If q is a root of unity, then the orbits in  $P_1(k)/\varphi_q$  are finite.



FIGURE 1. A proper thick subcategory of  $\underline{\text{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$  marked in the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\underline{\text{mod}}(\Lambda_q)$ 

(3) If  $k = \mathbb{C}$  and |q| = 1, then we can regard  $P_1(k)$  as the Riemann sphere and  $\varphi_q$  describes a rotation of the sphere.

### CHAPTER 11

# Other classification methods - history and comparison

The problem of classifying thick subcategories was approached before in various mathematical fields. The methods used there are in principle different from the combinatorial methods of this thesis. These different methods from commutative algebra and algebraic topology apply mainly to triangulated categories which are different from the triangulated categories considered here. But there are also intersections. In this chapter, we briefly present the most famous classification theorems, and compare them to our classifications.

The first result is due to Hopkins [47] and Neeman [66] and classifies the thick subcategories of the *derived category of bounded complexes of finitely* generated projective modules  $\mathcal{D}^{\text{per}}(R)$  over a commutative noetherian ring R which is also known as the *category of perfect complexes*.

THEOREM 11.1 (Hopkins, Neeman). Let R be a commutative noetherian ring. There is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^{\mathrm{per}}(R)$ , and
- the set of subsets of  $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$  which are closed under specialisation.

Here  $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$  denotes the *spectrum* of the ring R, i.e. the set of all prime ideals of R.

A subset  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$  is called *specialisation closed* if

$$\mathfrak{p} \in \mathcal{V} \text{ and } \mathfrak{p} \subseteq \mathfrak{q} \Rightarrow \mathfrak{q} \in \mathcal{V}.$$

In [66] Neeman generalises this to the the unbounded derived category  $\mathcal{D}(R)$  of all *R*-modules where *R* is commutative and noetherian. Namely, in this case there is a bijective correspondence between the set of localising subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}(R)$  and the set of all subsets of Spec(R). A subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}(R)$  is called *localising* if it is a full triangulated subcategory and if it is closed under the formation of arbitrary direct sums.

Due to the fact that R is supposed to be a commutative ring, this approach in general does not apply to our classification in Chapter 6 of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(A))$  where A is a hereditary algebra.

But we can compare the classification of Chapter 9 with the classification of the thick subcategories of  $\underline{\text{mod}}(kG)$  for a *p*-group *G* due to Benson, Carlson and Rickard [14]. Therefore, we consider this classification in a bit more detail. For the background of this theory we refer to [13, Chapter 5].

From now on let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p and let G be a finite p-group. In order to use the commutative algebra methods

here we consider the group cohomology ring

$$H^*(G,k) := \operatorname{Ext}_{kG}^*(k,k).$$

The multiplication is induced by the Yoneda composition of two homogeneous elements. One can show that  $H^*(G, k)$  is a graded commutative ring. If p = 2, this is commutative, and if p is an odd prime, we modify the ring by considering only even degrees.

Denote by

$$\operatorname{Proj}(H^*(G,k))$$

the set of all homogeneous non-maximal prime ideals of  $H^*(G, k)$ .

Note that in certain situations the group cohomology ring is well-known. For example from [12, Corollary 3.5.7] we get that for  $G = (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^r$  and char(k) = p it is just the polynomial ring

$$k[x_1,\ldots,x_r]$$

on r variables if p = 2, and it is the the tensor product of a polynomial ring and an exterior algebra if p is odd.

Now let M be a finitely generated kG-module. Consider the map

$$H^*(G,k) = \operatorname{Ext}_{kG}^*(k,k) \xrightarrow{-\otimes_k M} \operatorname{Ext}_{kG}^*(M,M).$$

The kernel of this map is a homogeneous ideal  $I_M$  in  $H^*(G, k)$  and we denote by  $V_G(M)$  the set

$$V(I_M) = \{ \mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Proj}(H^*(G, k)) \mid I_M \subseteq \mathfrak{p} \}.$$

THEOREM 11.2 (Benson-Carlson-Rickard). Let G be a p-group. There is a bijective correspondence between

- the set of thick subcategories of  $\underline{\mathrm{mod}}(kG)$ , and
- the set of subsets of  $\operatorname{Proj}(H^*(G,k))$  which are closed under specialisation.

Here a specialisation closed subset  $\mathcal{V}$  corresponds to the thick subcategory consisting of modules  $M \in \underline{\mathrm{mod}}(kG)$  with  $V_G(M) \subseteq \mathcal{V}$ .

Before we continue we should mention that there is also a generalisation of this. In [15] Benson, Iyengar and Krause give a classification of the localising subcategories of Mod(kG).

In Chapter 9 we classified thick subcategories of finite algebraic triangulated categories. The category  $\underline{mod}(kG)$  is a category of this kind if kG is representation-finite. Let G be a p-group as in the Benson-Carlson-Rickard classification which is additionally representation-finite. By Theorem 8.9 the type of  $\underline{mod}(kG)$  equals  $(A_{p^n-1}, e, 1)$ . By [12, Section 6.5] the inertial index e arising here divides p - 1. Since p is prime, this implies  $gcd(h_{A_{p^n-1}}, e) = gcd(p^n, e) = 1$ . Thus, our approach implies that such a category does not admit non-zero proper thick subcategories.

EXAMPLE 11.3. Let G be a cyclic group of order p. Then,

$$\operatorname{Proj}(H^*(G,k)) = \operatorname{Proj}(k[x])$$

and this only consists of one point, the generic point. The generic point corresponds to the whole category  $\underline{\text{mod}}(kG)$  while the empty set corresponds to the thick subcategory  $\{0\}$ .

This consideration shows that already in the finite case the classification of this thesis complements the existing methods. Namely, for arbitrary finite groups the Benson-Carlson-Rickard classification does not capture all thick subcategories but only those which are tensor ideal.

Finally, we apply both approaches to a tame example.

EXAMPLE 11.4. Let

 $G = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ 

be the Klein four group. Here specialisation closed subsets of

 $\operatorname{Proj}(H^*(G,k)) = \operatorname{Proj}(k[x_1, x_2])$ 

correspond to arbitrary subsets of  $P_1(k)$  plus all of  $\operatorname{Proj}(k[x_1, x_2])$ . This fits together with our combinatorial classification of the thick subcategories of  $\operatorname{mod}(\Lambda_q)$  for q = 1 in Proposition 10.4.

#### CHAPTER 12

# Hom-Vanishing

In the study of triangulated categories it is helpful to know whether there are non-zero morphisms between two given objects of the category. Thick subcategories are invariants of the category which can decide this question. We will use the previous classifications of thick subcategories to formulate an equivalent condition to the fact that the morphism space between two objects vanishes. Precisely, we formulate this concerning the vanishing of the following modified space of morphisms.

DEFINITION 12.1. Given a pair of objects X, Y in a triangulated category  $\mathcal{T}$ . The graded Hom-space is given as

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}^{*}(X,Y) = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X,\Sigma^{n}Y).$$

Recall that we assigned in Chapter 2.2 to a thick subcategory S of a triangulated category T the perpendicular categories  ${}^{\perp}S$  and  $S^{\perp}$ . It is important that these are thick subcategories again.

PROPOSITION 12.2. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a triangulated category. Let X, Y be two objects in  $\mathcal{T}$ . Then,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}^*(X,Y) = 0 \iff \operatorname{Thick}(X) \subseteq {}^{\perp}\operatorname{Thick}(Y).$$

PROOF. We show

$$X \in {}^{\perp}\operatorname{Thick}(Y) \iff \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}^*(X,Y) = 0.$$

This implies the assertion since  $\operatorname{Thick}(X)$  is the smallest thick subcategory containing X and is thus contained in each thick subcategory which contains X, in particular then in  $^{\perp}$  Thick(Y).

If  $X \in {}^{\perp}(\text{Thick}(Y))$ , then  $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X, \Sigma^n Y) = 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and hence,  $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}^*(X, Y) = 0.$ 

Now assume that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}^*(X,Y) = 0$ . Since  $\operatorname{Hom}(X,-)$  is a homological functor,

 $\operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}^*(X, -)) = \{ Z \in \mathcal{T} \mid \operatorname{Hom}^*(X, Z) = 0 \}$ 

is closed under suspensions, sums, summands and triangles and hence, it is a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{T}$ . By assumption  $Y \in \text{Ker}(\text{Hom}^*_{\mathcal{T}}(X, -))$  and therefore,  $\text{Thick}(Y) \subseteq \text{Ker}(\text{Hom}^*_{\mathcal{T}}(X, -))$ . This implies  $X \in {}^{\perp}\text{Thick}(Y)$ .

PROPOSITION 12.3. Let A be a hereditary k-algebra, let cox, c, W be as in Theorem 6.2. Let X, Y be two objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(mod(A))$  such that Thick(X), Thick(Y) are generated by an exceptional sequence. Then,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(A)}^*(X,Y) = 0 \iff \operatorname{cox}(\operatorname{Thick}(X)) \le K^c(\operatorname{cox}(\operatorname{Thick}(Y))).$$

PROOF. Use the above Proposition 12.2, the fact that cox is orderpreserving and Proposition 6.5.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Now to the other class of triangulated categories we are concerned with in this thesis, the orbit categories. Up to the end of this chapter we assume that A is a hereditary k-algebra and  $\Phi: \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A)) \to \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))$  is an automorphism such that the assumptions in Keller's Theorem 3.3 hold, i.e.  $\mathcal{T} := \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(A))/\Phi$  is triangulated. To avoid inconveniently long formulations we introduce the notation  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(\mathcal{T})$  for the set of thick subcategories  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  such that  $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S})$  is generated by an exceptional sequence. Here  $\pi$ denotes again the projection from the derived category to the orbit category. Note that if  $\mathcal{T}$  is a finite algebraic triangulated category, then  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(\mathcal{T})$  coincides with the set of all thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{T}$ . As for those in Chapter 9.7 we denote by

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{cox}}$$
:  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(\mathcal{T}) \to \operatorname{NC}(W, c)$ 

the map sending a thick subcategory  $\mathcal{S}$  to  $\cos(\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{S}))$ .

PROPOSITION 12.4. Let  $S \in Th_{exc}(\mathcal{T})$ . Then,

 $\widetilde{\cos}(^{\perp}\mathcal{S}) = K^c(\widetilde{\cos}(\mathcal{S})).$ 

PROOF. The proof of Proposition 9.23 is not restricted to the case where A is representation-finite.

PROPOSITION 12.5. Let X and Y be objects in  $\mathcal{T}$  such that  $\operatorname{Thick}(X)$ and  $\operatorname{Thick}(Y)$  are in  $\operatorname{Th}_{\operatorname{exc}}(\mathcal{T})$ . Then,

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\tau}^{*}(X,Y) = 0 \iff \widetilde{\operatorname{cox}}(\operatorname{Thick}(X)) \leq K^{c}(\widetilde{\operatorname{cox}}(\operatorname{Thick}(Y))).$ 

PROOF. Use Propositions 12.4 and 12.2 and the fact that  $\widetilde{\cos}$  is order-preserving.

### CHAPTER 13

# Cluster categories, thick subcategories and noncrossing partitions

There are several connections between classification problems in cluster theory, the classification of thick subcategories and noncrossing objects. This chapter intends to present these connections and distinguish the approach of this thesis from other concepts which look similar but are different.

In fact, cluster theory was the motivation to study noncrossing partitions from the representation theory point of view in the first place.

For the basics about cluster categories we keep with [28].

In this chapter we assume that k is an algebraically closed field.

DEFINITION 13.1. Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be a quiver without oriented cycles. The *cluster* category  $C_{\vec{\Delta}}$  associated to  $\vec{\Delta}$  is by definition the orbit category

$$\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Lambda}} = \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))/(\tau^{-1} \circ \Sigma).$$

This is a triangulated category by Theorem 3.3.

### 1. Cluster tilting objects and noncrossing partitions

The introduction of the cluster category was motivated by the study of the *cluster algebra* introduced by Fomin and Zelevinsky in [40]. For the definition of the cluster algebra and associated notions we refer to [28]. In a certain way one can associate to a cluster algebra a quiver and the cluster algebras of finite type are again classified by quivers of Dynkin type. For this finite type by [41, Theorem 4.5] the *clusters* of the cluster algebra are in bijective correspondence with the cluster tilting objects in the cluster category of the associated Dynkin type. In order to define tilting in this cluster context, we introduce the Ext-space in C in the following way:

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Delta}}}(X,Y) := \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\vec{\Delta})}((\tau^{-1} \circ \Sigma)^{j}(X),Y)$$

where  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\vec{\Delta})}(X,Y) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\vec{\Delta})}(X,\Sigma(Y)).$ 

DEFINITION 13.2. An object T in C is called a *cluster tilting object* if  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{C}}(T,T) = 0$  and if it is maximal with this property, i.e. if there is an object U with  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{C}}(T,U) = 0 = \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{C}}(U,T)$ , then U is a direct summand of T. A cluster tilting object is called *basic* if all its direct summands are pairwise not isomorphic.

THEOREM 13.3 (Ingalls/Thomas [53]). Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be a quiver without oriented cycles. There is a bijective correspondence between

• the set of basic cluster tilting objects in  $\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Delta}},$  and

• the set of wide subcategories of  $mod(k\bar{\Delta})$  which are generated by an exceptional sequence.

PROOF. The correspondence is a composition of the correspondences of Proposition 2.26, Theorem 2.11, Corollary 2.17 in [53].

REMARK 13.4. The bijection is not natural since it is a composition of correspondences as mentioned above. There does not seem to be a way to construct it directly.

Note that by Chapter 6 we hence have a bijective correspondence between

- the set of basic cluster tilting objects in  $\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Lambda}}$ , and
- the set of thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\bar{\Delta}))$  generated by an exceptional sequence, and
- NC( $W_{\Delta}, c$ ).

## 2. Thick subcategories of the cluster category

Since  $C_{\vec{\Delta}}$  is a triangulated category by itself, we can also ask for its thick subcategories. It is an orbit category of the bounded derived category of a hereditary algebra and thus we can use Theorem 3.4 to determine the thick subcategories.

LEMMA 13.5. Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be a quiver without oriented cycles. Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a connected component of the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  and let  $\mathcal{S}$  be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  with  $\tau(\mathcal{S}) = \mathcal{S}$ . If there is an indecomposable object which lies as well in  $\mathcal{X}$  as in  $\mathcal{S}$ , then  $\operatorname{add}(\mathcal{X}) \subseteq \mathcal{S}$ .

PROOF. Let  $X \in \mathcal{X} \cap \mathcal{S}$  be indecomposable. Since  $\mathcal{S}$  is  $\tau$ -invariant, all  $\tau$ -translates of X are contained in  $\mathcal{S}$ . Since  $\mathcal{S}$  is thick, all middle terms of the corresponding Auslander-Reiten sequences lie in  $\mathcal{S}$ . Then, the  $\tau$ -translates of these middle terms are again contained in  $\mathcal{S}$ . Continuing like this, we get that all of  $\mathcal{X}$  lies in  $\mathcal{S}$  since  $\mathcal{X}$  is connected.

- THEOREM 13.6. (1) Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be a Dynkin quiver. Then the cluster category  $\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\lambda}}$  admits no non-zero proper thick subcategories.
- (2) Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be an extended Dynkin quiver. Let  $\mathcal{R} = \coprod_{t \in T} \mathcal{R}_t$  be the decomposition of the regular part of  $\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})$  as in Theorem 4.13. The only proper thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{C}_{\vec{\Delta}}$  are of the form

$$\pi(\operatorname{Thick}(\coprod_{s\in S}\mathcal{R}_s))\cong\coprod_{s\in S}\mathcal{R}_s$$

where  $S \in 2^T$  (not empty) and  $\pi$  denotes the projection.

PROOF. By Theorem 3.4 the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{C}$  correspond to the thick subcategories of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  which are invariant under  $\langle \tau^{-1}\Sigma \rangle$ . This is equivalent to being invariant under  $\langle \tau \rangle$ .

Now let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be Dynkin. Let  $\mathcal{S}$  be a thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  of this form. By Proposition 2.26 the Auslander-Reiten quiver of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  is of the form  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  and hence it is connected. From Lemma 13.5 we get that if there is a non-zero object in  $\mathcal{S}$ , then automatically,  $\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ .

104

Let  $\vec{\Delta}$  be extended Dynkin. Let S be a non-zero thick and  $\langle \tau \rangle$ -invariant subcategory of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\text{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ . If S only consists of regular objects, then as discussed in Chapter 6, it is of the form

Thick
$$(\prod_{s\in S} \mathcal{S}_s) = \prod_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \Sigma^n (\prod_{s\in S} \mathcal{S}_s)$$

where  $S_s$  is a wide non-zero subcategory of  $\mathcal{R}_s$  and  $S \in 2^T$ . This is  $\langle \tau \rangle$ -invariant if and only if  $S_s$  is  $\langle \tau \rangle$ -invariant for each  $s \in S$ . Since  $\mathcal{R}_s$  is connected, by Lemma 13.5  $S_s = \mathcal{R}_s$  for each  $s \in S$ . Hence,

$$S = \operatorname{Thick}(\prod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s) = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Sigma^n(\prod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s).$$

Now we have an isomorphism

2

$$\Sigma^n \coprod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s = (\Sigma \tau^{-1})^n \coprod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s \cong \coprod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s$$

in the orbit category C for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Thus, a thick subcategory S only consisting of regular objects corresponds to

$$\pi(\mathcal{S}) \cong \coprod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s.$$

Now assume that S contains a non-zero object X which is not regular. Denote by  $\mathcal{P}[0]$  and  $\mathcal{Q}[0]$  the preprojective and preinjective components of  $\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})$ . As seen in Chapter 4 and in Proposition 2.26, the connected components of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$  including non-regulars are given by  $\mathcal{Q}[n-1] \cup \mathcal{P}[n]$  and are of the form  $\mathbb{Z}\Delta$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Say  $X \in \mathcal{P}[0]$ . By Lemma 13.5 this implies  $\mathcal{Q}[-1] \cup \mathcal{P}[0] \subseteq S$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{Q}[n], \mathcal{P}[n] \subseteq S$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  since S is thick. For each  $t \in T$  any morphism from  $\mathcal{P}[0]$  to  $\mathcal{Q}[0]$  factors through a module in  $\mathcal{R}_t[0]$  (see [**80**, Theorem 3.4]). In particular, this holds for the embedding of X into its injective hull  $E(X) \in \mathcal{Q}[0]$ . Thus, for each  $t \in T$  there is a a module  $R \in \mathcal{R}_t[0]$  and a monomorphism  $X \to R$ . The cokernel of this lies in  $\mathcal{Q}[0]$  since it is not possible that it lies in  $\mathcal{R}[0]$  because  $\mathcal{R}[0]$  is a wide subcategory of  $\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})$ . Hence,  $R \in S$  and since S is invariant under  $\langle \tau \rangle$ ,  $\mathcal{R}_t[n] \subseteq S$  for all  $t \in T$  and all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Altogether,  $S = \mathcal{D}^b(\operatorname{mod}(k\vec{\Delta}))$ .

REMARK 13.7. More generally, one could also consider the m-cluster category

$$\mathcal{C}^m_{\vec{\lambda}} := \mathcal{D}^b(\mathrm{mod}(k\vec{\Delta})) / (\tau^{-1}\Sigma^m)$$

for  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  as introduced by Keller in [56].

If  $\overline{\Delta}$  is Dynkin we have the same result as above. In the extended Dynkin case the proper thick subcategories appear as

$$\coprod_{0 \le n < m} \Sigma^n \coprod_{s \in S} \mathcal{R}_s$$
## Bibliography

- Claire Amiot. On the structure of triangulated categories with finitely many indecomposables. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 135(3):435–474, 2007.
- [2] Lidia Angeleri Hügel. An Introduction To Auslander-Reiten Theory. Lecture Notes, Advanced School on Representation Theory and Related Topics, ICTP Trieste, 2006.
- [3] Tokuji Araya. Exceptional sequences over path algebras of type  $A_n$  and non-crossing spanning trees. arXiv:math.RT/0904.2831v1, 2009.
- [4] Drew Armstrong. Generalized noncrossing partitions and combinatorics of Coxeter groups. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 202(949):x+159, 2009.
- Hideto Asashiba. The derived equivalence classification of representation-finite selfinjective algebras. J. Algebra, 214(1):182–221, 1999.
- [6] Hideto Asashiba. On a lift of an individual stable equivalence to a standard derived equivalence for representation-finite self-injective algebras. Algebr. Represent. Theory, 6(4):427–447, 2003.
- [7] Ibrahim Assem, Daniel Simson, and Andrzej Skowroński. Elements of the representation theory of associative algebras. Vol. 1, volume 65 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006. Techniques of representation theory.
- [8] Christos A. Athanasiadis and Victor Reiner. Noncrossing partitions for the group  $D_n$ . SIAM J. Discrete Math., 18(2):397–417 (electronic), 2004.
- [9] Maurice Auslander and Idun Reiten. Representation theory of Artin algebras. III. Almost split sequences. Comm. Algebra, 3:239–294, 1975.
- [10] Maurice Auslander, Idun Reiten, and Sverre O. Smalø. Representation theory of Artin algebras, volume 36 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997. Corrected reprint of the 1995 original.
- M. Barot and O. Mendoza. An explicit construction for the Happel functor. Colloq. Math., 104(1):141–149, 2006.
- [12] D. J. Benson. Representations and cohomology. I, volume 30 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1998. Basic representation theory of finite groups and associative algebras.
- [13] D. J. Benson. Representations and cohomology. II, volume 31 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1998. Cohomology of groups and modules.
- [14] D. J. Benson, Jon F. Carlson, and Jeremy Rickard. Thick subcategories of the stable module category. Fund. Math., 153(1):59–80, 1997.
- [15] D. J. Benson, Srikanth Iyengar, and Henning Krause. Stratifying modular representations of finite groups. to appear in Ann. of Math. 174 (2011), arXiv:math.RT/0810.1339v2, 2011.
- [16] David Bessis. The dual braid monoid. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 36(5):647–683, 2003.
- [17] David Bessis and Victor Reiner. Cyclic sieving of noncrossing partitions for complex reflection groups. arXiv:math.CO/0701792v2, 2009.
- [18] Jerzy Białkowski and Andrzej Skowroński. Calabi-Yau stable module categories of finite type. Collog. Math., 109(2):257–269, 2007.
- [19] Philippe Biane, Frederick Goodman, and Alexandru Nica. Non-crossing cumulants of type B. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 355(6):2263–2303 (electronic), 2003.
- [20] Alexei Bondal and Dmitri Orlov. Reconstruction of a variety from the derived category and groups of autoequivalences. *Compositio Math.*, 125(3):327–344, 2001.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [21] K. Bongartz and P. Gabriel. Covering spaces in representation-theory. Invent. Math., 65(3):331–378, 1981/82.
- [22] N. Bourbaki. Éléments de mathématique. Fasc. XXXIV. Groupes et algèbres de Lie. Chapitre IV: Groupes de Coxeter et systèmes de Tits. Chapitre V: Groupes engendrés par des réflexions. Chapitre VI: systèmes de racines. Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 1337. Hermann, Paris, 1968.
- [23] Thomas Brady. A partial order on the symmetric group and new  $K(\pi, 1)$ 's for the braid groups. Adv. Math., 161(1):20–40, 2001.
- [24] Thomas Brady and Colum Watt.  $K(\pi, 1)$ 's for Artin groups of finite type. In Proceedings of the Conference on Geometric and Combinatorial Group Theory, Part I (Haifa, 2000), volume 94, pages 225–250, 2002.
- [25] Thomas Brady and Colum Watt. Non-crossing partition lattices in finite real reflection groups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 360(4):1983–2005, 2008.
- [26] Otto Bretscher, Christian Läser, and Christine Riedtmann. Self-injective and simply connected algebras. *Manuscripta Math.*, 36(3):253–307, 1981/82.
- [27] Kristian Brüning. Thick subcategories of the derived category of a hereditary algebra. Homology, Homotopy Appl., 9(2):165–176, 2007.
- [28] Aslak Bakke Buan, Robert Marsh, Markus Reineke, Idun Reiten, and Gordana Todorov. Tilting theory and cluster combinatorics. Adv. Math., 204(2):572–618, 2006.
- [29] Henri Cartan and Samuel Eilenberg. Homological algebra. Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1999. With an appendix by David A. Buchsbaum, Reprint of the 1956 original.
- [30] Xiao-Wu Chen and Henning Krause. Introduction to coherent sheaves on weighted projective lines. arXiv:math.RT/0911.4473v3, 2010.
- [31] Claude Cibils and Eduardo N. Marcos. Skew category, Galois covering and smash product of a k-category. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 134(1):39–50 (electronic), 2006.
- [32] William Crawley-Boevey. Lectures on Representations of Quivers. Lecture Notes, Oxford, 1992.
- [33] William Crawley-Boevey. Exceptional sequences of representations of quivers [ MR1206935 (94c:16017)]. In *Representations of algebras (Ottawa, ON, 1992)*, volume 14 of *CMS Conf. Proc.*, pages 117–124. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1993.
- [34] N. Dichev. Thick subcategories for quiver representations. Diss., University of Paderborn, 2009.
- [35] Ernst Dieterich. The Auslander-Reiten quiver of an isolated singularity. In Singularities, representation of algebras, and vector bundles (Lambrecht, 1985), volume 1273 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 244–264. Springer, Berlin, 1987.
- [36] Vlastimil Dlab and Claus Michael Ringel. Representations of graphs and algebras. Department of Mathematics, Carleton University, Ottawa, Ont., 1974. Carleton Mathematical Lecture Notes, No. 8.
- [37] Piotr Dowbor, Helmut Lenzing, and Andrzej Skowroński. Galois coverings by algebras of locally support-finite categories. In *Representation theory*, *I* (Ottawa, Ont., 1984), volume 1177 of *Lecture Notes in Math.*, pages 91–93. Springer, Berlin, 1986.
- [38] Karin Erdmann. Blocks of tame representation type and related algebras, volume 1428 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [39] Karin Erdmann and Daniel K. Nakano. Representation type of Hecke algebras of type A. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 354(1):275–285 (electronic), 2002.
- [40] Sergey Fomin and Andrei Zelevinsky. Cluster algebras. I. Foundations. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 15(2):497–529 (electronic), 2002.
- [41] Sergey Fomin and Andrei Zelevinsky. Cluster algebras. II. Finite type classification. Invent. Math., 154(1):63–121, 2003.
- [42] Peter Gabriel. Indecomposable representations. II. In Symposia Mathematica, Vol. XI (Convegno di Algebra Commutativa, INDAM, Rome, 1971), pages 81–104. Academic Press, London, 1973.
- [43] Peter Gabriel. Auslander-Reiten sequences and representation-finite algebras. In Representation theory, I (Proc. Workshop, Carleton Univ., Ottawa, Ont., 1979), volume 831 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 1–71. Springer, Berlin, 1980.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [44] Peter Gabriel. The universal cover of a representation-finite algebra. In *Representa*tions of algebras (Puebla, 1980), volume 903 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 68–105. Springer, Berlin, 1981.
- [45] Dieter Happel. On the derived category of a finite-dimensional algebra. Comment. Math. Helv., 62(3):339–389, 1987.
- [46] Dieter Happel. Triangulated categories in the representation theory of finitedimensional algebras, volume 119 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1988.
- [47] Michael J. Hopkins. Global methods in homotopy theory. In Homotopy theory (Durham, 1985), volume 117 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 73–96. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1987.
- [48] Michael J. Hopkins and Jeffrey H. Smith. Nilpotence and stable homotopy theory. II. Ann. of Math. (2), 148(1):1–49, 1998.
- [49] Mark Hovey. Classifying subcategories of modules. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 353(8):3181–3191 (electronic), 2001.
- [50] David Hughes and Josef Waschbüsch. Trivial extensions of tilted algebras. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 46(2):347–364, 1983.
- [51] James E. Humphreys. Reflection groups and Coxeter groups, volume 29 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [52] Kiyoshi Igusa and Ralf Schiffler. Exceptional sequences and clusters. J. Algebra, 323(8):2183–2202, 2010.
- [53] Colin Ingalls and Hugh Thomas. Noncrossing partitions and representations of quivers. Compos. Math., 145(6):1533–1562, 2009.
- [54] Osamu Iyama and Steffen Oppermann. Stable categories of higher preprojective algebras. arXiv:math.RT/0912.3412, 2011.
- [55] V. G. Kac. Infinite root systems, representations of graphs and invariant theory. II. J. Algebra, 78(1):141–162, 1982.
- [56] Bernhard Keller. On triangulated orbit categories. Doc. Math., 10:551–581, 2005.
- [57] Bernhard Keller. On differential graded categories. In International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. II, pages 151–190. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2006.
- [58] Henning Krause. Derived categories, resolutions, and brown representability. arXiv:math.KT/0511047, 2006.
- [59] Henning Krause. Report on locally finite triangulated categories. arXiv:math.RT/1101.3233, 2011.
- [60] Henning Krause and Jue Le. The Auslander-Reiten formula for complexes of modules. Adv. Math., 207(1):133–148, 2006.
- [61] G. Kreweras. Sur les partitions non croisées d'un cycle. Discrete Math., 1(4):333–350, 1972.
- [62] Richard Gustavus Larson and Moss Eisenberg Sweedler. An associative orthogonal bilinear form for Hopf algebras. Amer. J. Math., 91:75–94, 1969.
- [63] Helmut Lenzing. A K-theoretic study of canonical algebras. In Representation theory of algebras (Cocoyoc, 1994), volume 18 of CMS Conf. Proc., pages 433–454. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1996.
- [64] Shiping Liu. Auslander-Reiten theory in a Krull-Schmidt category. preprint.
- [65] R. Martínez-Villa and J. A. de la Peña. Automorphisms of representation finite algebras. *Invent. Math.*, 72(3):359–362, 1983.
- [66] Amnon Neeman. The chromatic tower for D(R). Topology, 31(3):519–532, 1992. With an appendix by Marcel Bökstedt.
- [67] Daniel Quillen. Higher algebraic K-theory. I. In Algebraic K-theory, I: Higher Ktheories (Proc. Conf., Battelle Memorial Inst., Seattle, Wash., 1972), pages 85–147. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 341. Springer, Berlin, 1973.
- [68] V. Reiner, D. Stanton, and D. White. The cyclic sieving phenomenon. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 108(1):17–50, 2004.
- [69] Victor Reiner. Non-crossing partitions for classical reflection groups. Discrete Math., 177(1-3):195–222, 1997.
- [70] Christine Riedtmann. Algebren, Darstellungsköcher, Überlagerungen und zurück. Comment. Math. Helv., 55(2):199–224, 1980.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [71] Christine Riedtmann. Representation-finite self-injective algebras of class A<sub>n</sub>. In Representation theory, II (Proc. Second Internat. Conf., Carleton Univ., Ottawa, Ont., 1979), volume 832 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 449–520. Springer, Berlin, 1980.
  [72] Christine Riedtmann. Configurations of ZD<sub>n</sub>. J. Algebra, 82(2):309–327, 1983.
- [73] Christine Riedtmann. Representation-finite self-injective algebras of class  $D_n$ . Com-
- positio Math., 49(2):231–282, 1983.
- [74] Christine Riedtmann. On stable blocks of Auslander-algebras. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 283(2):485–505, 1984.
- [75] Claus Michael Ringel. Infinite-dimensional representations of finite-dimensional hereditary algebras. In Symposia Mathematica, Vol. XXIII (Conf. Abelian Groups and their Relationship to the Theory of Modules, INDAM, Rome, 1977), pages 321– 412. Academic Press, London, 1979.
- [76] Claus Michael Ringel. The braid group action on the set of exceptional sequences of a hereditary Artin algebra. In Abelian group theory and related topics (Oberwolfach, 1993), volume 171 of Contemp. Math., pages 339–352. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994.
- [77] Bruce Sagan. The cyclic sieving phenomenon: a survey. arXiv:math.CO/1008.0790v3, 2011.
- [78] G. C. Shephard and J. A. Todd. Finite unitary reflection groups. Canadian J. Math., 6:274–304, 1954.
- [79] Rodica Simion and Daniel Ullman. On the structure of the lattice of noncrossing partitions. *Discrete Math.*, 98(3):193–206, 1991.
- [80] Daniel Simson and Andrzej Skowroński. Elements of the representation theory of associative algebras. Vol. 2, volume 71 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007. Tubes and concealed algebras of Euclidean type.
- [81] Andrzej Skowroński and Kunio Yamagata. Selfinjective algebras of quasitilted type. In Trends in representation theory of algebras and related topics, EMS Ser. Congr. Rep., pages 639–708. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2008.
- [82] Greg Stevenson. Subcategories of singularity categories via tensor actions. arXiv:math.AG/1105.4698, 2011.
- [83] Greg Stevenson. Support theory via actions of tensor triangulated categories. arXiv:math.CT/1105.4692, 2011.
- [84] Jean-Louis Verdier. Des catégories dérivées des catégories abéliennes. Astérisque, (239):xii+253 pp. (1997), 1996. With a preface by Luc Illusie, Edited and with a note by Georges Maltsiniotis.
- [85] Jie Xiao and Bin Zhu. Locally finite triangulated categories. J. Algebra, 290(2):473–490, 2005.